
 

 

Contact: 
Direct Dial: 
E-mail: 
Date: 

Leo Taylor 
01934 634621 
leo.taylor@n-somerset.gov.uk 
4 October 2023 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dear Sir or Madam 
 
The Health Overview and Scrutiny Panel – Thursday, 12 October 2023, 2.00 pm – 
New Council Chamber - Town Hall 
 
A meeting of the Health Overview and Scrutiny Panel will take place as indicated above.   
 
The agenda is set out overleaf. 
 
Yours faithfully 
 
 
 
Assistant Director Legal & Governance and Monitoring Officer 
 
 
 
To: Members of the Health Overview and Scrutiny Panel 

 
Councillors: 
 
Helen Thornton (Chairperson), Marc Aplin, Jemma Coles, Stuart Davies, Wendy 
Griggs, Hugh Malyan, Ian Parker, Timothy Snaden, Joe Tristram and Georgie 
Bigg. 
 
Co-opted Member: Georgie Bigg 
 
This document and associated papers can be made available in a different 
format on request. 

 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



 

 

Agenda 
  
1.   Public Discussion (Standing Order SSO9)   

 
To receive and hear any person who wishes to address the Panel on matters which 
affect the District and fall within the remit of the Panel. The Chairman will select the 
order of the matters to be heard. Members of the Panel may ask questions of the 
member of the public and a dialogue between the parties can be undertaken.  
 
Requests to speak must be submitted in writing to the Head of Legal and Democratic 
Services, or the officer mentioned at the top of this agenda letter, by noon on the day 
before.  
  

2.   Apologies for absence and notification of substitutes   
  

3.   Declaration of Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (Standing Order 37)   
 
A Member must declare any disclosable pecuniary interest where it relates to any 
matter being considered at the meeting. A declaration of a disclosable pecuniary 
interest should indicate the interest and the agenda item to which it relates. A Member 
is not permitted to participate in this agenda item by law and should immediately leave 
the meeting before the start of any debate.  
 
If the Member leaves the Chamber in respect of a declaration, he or she should 
ensure that the Chairman is aware of this before he or she leaves to enable their exit 
from the meeting to be recorded in the minutes in accordance with Standing Order 37.  
  

4.   Minutes  (Pages 5 - 8) 
 
Minutes of the Panel meeting held on 13 July 2023 – to approve as a correct 
record. 
  

5.   Dental Access for Adults and Children in North Somerset  (Pages 9 - 20) 
 
Report of the Integrated Care Board 
  

6.   Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire Winter Plan  (Pages 21 - 
36) 
 
Report of the Integrated Care Board 
  

7.   Better Care Fund Plan 2023-25  (Pages 37 - 120) 
 
Report of the Assistant Director Commissioning, Partnerships and Housing 
Solutions, NSC 
  

8.   Health Protection update  (Pages 121 - 124) 
 
Report of the Director of Public Health NSC 
  

9.   Healthwatch Annual Report 2022-23  (Pages 125 - 160) 
  

10.   Graham Road Surgery and Horizon Health Centre Care Quality Commission 
Inspections  (Pages 161 - 164) 
 
Report of the Integrated Care Board and Pier Health Group 

Page 2



 

 

  
11.   The Panel's Work Plan  (Pages 165 - 168) 

 
 
 
 Exempt Items 

 
Should the Health Overview and Scrutiny Panel wish to consider a matter as an 
Exempt Item, the following resolution should be passed -  
 
“(1) That the press, public, and officers not required by the Members, the Chief 
Executive or the Director, to remain during the exempt session, be excluded from 
the meeting during consideration of the following item of business on the ground 
that its consideration will involve the disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
Section 100I of the Local Government Act 1972.” 
 
Also, if appropriate, the following resolution should be passed –  
  
“(2) That members of the Council who are not members of the Health Overview 
and Scrutiny Panel be invited to remain.” 
 
Mobile phones and other mobile devices 
 
All persons attending the meeting are requested to ensure that these devices are 
switched to silent mode. The chairman may approve an exception to this request 
in special circumstances. 
 
Filming and recording of meetings 
 
The proceedings of this meeting may be recorded for broadcasting purposes. 
 
Anyone wishing to film part or all of the proceedings may do so unless the press 
and public are excluded for that part of the meeting or there is good reason not to 
do so, as directed by the Chairman.  Any filming must be done as unobtrusively as 
possible from a single fixed position without the use of any additional lighting, 
focusing only on those actively participating in the meeting and having regard to 
the wishes of any members of the public present who may not wish to be filmed. 
As a matter of courtesy, anyone wishing to film proceedings is asked to advise the 
Chairman or the Assistant Director Legal & Governance and Monitoring Officer’s 
representative before the start of the meeting so that all those present may be 
made aware that it is happening. 
 
Members of the public may also use Facebook and Twitter or other forms of social 
media to report on proceedings at this meeting. 
 
Emergency Evacuation Procedure 
 
On hearing the alarm – (a continuous two tone siren) 
 
Leave the room by the nearest exit door.  Ensure that windows are closed. 
 
Last person out to close the door. 

Page 3



 

 

 
Do not stop to collect personal belongings. 
 
Do not use the lifts. 
 
Follow the green and white exit signs and make your way to the assembly point. 
 
Do not re-enter the building until authorised to do so by the Fire Authority. 
 
Go to Assembly Point C – Outside the offices formerly occupied by Stephen 
& Co 

 

Page 4



 

1 
 

Leo Taylor,  01934 634621 HEA minutes 130723 
 

Minutes 
of the Meeting of 

The Health Overview and Scrutiny Panel 
Thursday, 13 July 2023 
New Council Chamber - Town Hall 
 
Meeting Commenced: 2.00 pm Meeting Concluded: 4.10 pm 
 
Councillors: 
 
Helen Thornton (Chairperson) 
Wendy Griggs 
Ian Parker 
Timothy Snaden 
Joe Tristram 
 
Co-opted Member: Georgie Bigg 
 
Absent: Councillors Marc Aplin, Jemma Coles and Stuart Davies. 
 
Health Colleagues in attendance: Paula Clarke, Executive Director of Strategy and 
Transformation University Hospitals Bristol and Weston NHS Trust (UHBW); Judith 
Hernandez, Hospital Director UHBW, Ros Cox, Associate Director, BNSSG Integrated 
Care Board (ICB); Becky Balloch, Head of Communications & Engagement (ICB) 
 
Officers in attendance:   Hayley Verrico (Adult Services);  
Samuel Hayward (Public Health); Leo Taylor and Harriet Isherwood (Corporate Services).  
 
  
HEA 
24 

Election of the Vice-Chairperson for the 2023/24 Municipal Year 
 
Resolved: that Councillor Ian Parker be elected as Vice-Chairperson. 
  

HEA 
25 

Declaration of Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (Standing Order 37) 
 
None. 
  

HEA 
26 

Minutes (Pages 5 - 8) 
 
Resolved: that the minutes of the Panel meeting held on 16 February 2023 be  
approved as a correct record.  
  

HEA 
27 

Co-option of the Chair of Healthwatch North Somerset 
 
Resolved: that Georgie Bigg be co-opted to the Panel as the Healthwatch 
representative. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



2 
 

Leo Taylor,  01934 634621 HEA minutes 130723 
 

  
HEA 
28 

Role, Remit and Work Plan of the Health Overview and Scrutiny Panel 
 
The Scrutiny officer provided a brief overview of the health scrutiny process in the 
context of recent changes to the health and social care system and outlined the 
Panel’s work planning process. The Chair then opened discussion about potential 
areas of focus.    
  
With a view to informing these discussions and potentially aligning work plans, the 
Healthwatch representative gave a brief summary of the organisation’s priorities, 
which included dentistry, GP surgeries, communications and best practice.  
  
In discussion about potential areas of Panel work plan focus, topics proposed by 
Members included the following: -    

• improving the accessibility of dentistry; 
• enabling more effective hospital discharge; 
• potential for re-establishing Weston General Hospital’s 24/7 Emergency 

Department; 
• implementation of the Health Trust’s Workforce Plan; 
• liaison with Locality Partnerships (regular reports to Panel); and  
• adoption of the previous HOSP key priorities 

  
Members noted that a first iteration of the Panel’s Work Plan would be worked up 
by the Chair and Scrutiny officer, taking into account the above discussion, and 
this would be brought to the Panel for consideration at its next formal meeting. 
  
Concluded:  
(1)    that the Scrutiny officer liaise with the Director of Public Health to arrange a 
briefing on evolving health and social care commissioning and delivery structures; 
  
(2)    that the Scrutiny officer liaise with BNSSG ICB to arrange a briefing on plans 
for dentistry services in the district ICB; and 
  
(3)    that the Chair of Healthwatch share the Healthwatch Work Plan slides with 
the panel. 
  

HEA 
29 

Integrated Care Strategy 
 
The Associate Director of the Integrated Care Board gave a presentation 
summarising the work done to date by the Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) - 
made up of the VCSE sector, representatives from the six localities and partners 
from all Integrated Care System organisations - in the development of a 
comprehensive strategic approach to improving the overall health and wellbeing of 
the residents of BNSSG.  The overarching aims of this Integrated Care Strategy 
included tackling inequalities, enhancing service productivity and value for money, 
and addressing wider social and economic determinants of health and wellbeing.  
  
In the ensuing discussion Members focussed on the importance of reliable metrics 
by which the strategies progress and success could be measured.  For instance, 
there was comment that previous initiatives to address inequalities in Weston-
super-Mare’s South Ward had delivered little apparent improvement and 
emphasised the need for baseline metrics against which progress could be 

Page 6



3 
 

Leo Taylor,  01934 634621 HEA minutes 130723 
 

monitored going forward. The Healthwatch representative shared this view but 
emphasised the importance of including “qualitative” measures to demonstrate 
improvement in people’s experience of health services and the value of involving 
communities and other stakeholders in the design of the strategy and services.  
  
In response, the representative of the ICB gave assurance that the ICS were 
gathering both qualitative and quantitative measures to track strategy progress 
and that they were looking at circulating data packs as part of evidencing this 
work.  Executive Director of Strategy and Transformation UHBW referred to the 
unprecedented commitment across partners to the prevention agenda and 
exemplary work being undertaken around engaging communities and 
stakeholders in the process of co-designing strategies and services.   
  
There was further discussion around the challenges around addressing wider 
wellbeing indicators, including progress on implementing the Real Living Wage 
(and the need for the Council to lead by example).  There was also reference to 
North Somerset’s smoking cessation programmes with concern raised around an 
apparent lack of campaign and social media presence. The Public Health 
Consultant briefly updated Members work undertaken to promote the scheme 
agreed to provide further details with Members outside of the meeting.  
  
The Panel also discussed the representation of Children and Young People within 
the development of the ICS and suggested that the Young Director of Children’s 
Services be invited to attend future meetings. 
  
Concluded:  
  
(1)    that the Panel receives regular updates on the progress of the ICS; 
  
(2)    that ICS data packs be requested for circulation to Members; and  
  
(3)    that it be requested that the ICB also circulate reports from all Health and 
Care improvement groups. 
  

HEA 
30 

Update on Weston General Hospital UHBW 
 
The representatives from UHBW gave a presentation outlining the main focus 
areas for improvement in North Somerset’s hospital provision, which covered 
training and recruitment, performance and culture improvement goals, and the 
development of community links. The Director of Adult Social Services noted a 
major improvement over the past two years in relation to the minimisation of 
recruitment challenges and the avoidance of avoidable hospital admissions, for 
which she credited the whole-partnership approach with the UHBW officers.  
  
Members sought and received clarification on the following:-  

• day care and the hospital’s “front door” initiatives;   
• recruitment and retention issues, and Members were informed that these 

were ongoing but were improving thanks to a workforce; and  
• back-door provisions (eg discharge), which Members noted were to be the 

focus of a later phase of the Healthy Weston work programme. 
  
In closing discussions, the Chair commented on the brevity of UHBW’s report.  

Page 7



4 
 

Leo Taylor,  01934 634621 HEA minutes 130723 
 

Although it was acknowledged that the Trusts presentation had been detailed and 
extensive, she requested that future written reports to the Panel provide further 
detail about the subject for discussion in order to comply with Local Government 
requirements around agenda publication.     
  
Concluded: 
  
(1)    that all Members receive a briefing on the HW2 development plan; and 
(2)    that a more detailed report be circulated to the Panel. 
  

HEA 
31 

Recommissioning of the BNSSG Integrated Sexual Health Service 
 
The Public Health Consultant gave a presentation describing the commissioning 
plan for integrated sexual health services that North Somerset is a party to and 
summarising the Executive’s 21st June approval for the recommissioning of the of 
the North Somerset elements of the BNSSG Integrated Sexual Health Service.  
  
Members sought and received clarification on the following aspects of the 
strategy: 

• reproductive help for older people, which was a part of the wider sex & 
relationships agenda and supported by the WISH clinic; and 

• the timescales of the implementation, which was to be discussed further at 
future HOSP meetings and added to the workplan. 

  
Concluded: that the report be received. 
  
 

 
 
 
 

   
Chairman 

 
 

Page 8



 

 
 

Report to the Health Overview and Scrutiny Panel 
 
Date of Meeting: 12 October 2023 
 
Subject of Report: Dental Access for Adults and Children in North 
Somerset 
 
Officer Presenting: Jenny Bowker, Deputy Director of Primary Care at 
Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire Integrated Care Board 
and Wavell Vere, Senior Commissioning Manager, NHS South West 
Collaborative Commissioning Hub 
 
 
Recommendations 
 
North Somerset scrutiny colleagues are asked to: 

• Consider the underlying causes of the access difficulties that people are 
experiencing in North Somerset and across the country. 

• Consider the ongoing work of BNSSG ICB and NHS England South West Dental 
Reform Programme Board to address these and improve the oral health of our 
population. 

• Contribute to the development of a local BNSSG dental strategy. 
 
 
1. Summary of Report 
 
This report sets out an overview of dental services in North Somerset and across the 
Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire Integrated Care Board (BNSSG ICB) 
area. The report sets out the changes to delegation of dental services to the ICB, actions 
being taken by the ICB to develop a local dental plan and sets out the ongoing programme 
of work across the South West to address the key challenges in dental services and to 
improve services for the future.  
 
2. Policy 
 
The responsibility for commissioning dental care has been delegated to ICBs as of 1 April 
2023. This was part of the 2022 Health and Care Bill which established ICBs and conferred 
the duty on them to secure the provision of general medical, dental, pharmaceutical and 
ophthalmic services for its populations. 
 
Primary care dental services are national contracts negotiated between NHS England 
nationally and the British Dental Association.  
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



A Health and Social Care Committee report into NHS dentistry was published in July 2023. 
his acknowledged the crisis facing access to NHS dentistry and recommended fundamental 
reform of the NHS dental contract along with measures to improve workforce recruitment 
and retention. The government response to this is awaited. 
 
 
3. Details 
 
Background 
 
As of the 1 April 2023, BNSSG ICB with the support of the NHS South West Collaborative 
Commissioning Hub are responsible for the commissioning of dental services for our local 
population.  
 
Dental services are provided in North Somerset in three settings: 

1. Primary care – incorporating orthodontics 
2. Secondary care  
3. Community services – incorporating special care. 

 
Population of North Somerset 

 
The population of North Somerset is 216,700 according to mid-2021 population figures 
published by the ONS, which shows an increase of 7% since 2011, and covers an area of 
380 square kilometres (145 square miles).  
 
Primary care (high street dentistry) 
 
Primary care (high street) dental practices are themselves independent businesses, 
operating under contracts with NHS England. Many also offer private dentistry. All contract-
holders employ their own staff and provide their own premises; some premises costs are 
reimbursed as part of their contract. People are not registered with a dentist in the same 
way they are registered with a GP, so often do not realise they are free to attend any dental 
practice they choose if they have capacity to see and treat you. 
 
Domiciliary treatment is provided by a small number of contractors who provide treatment 
for people who are unable to leave their home to attend a dental appointment either for 
physical and/or mental health reasons, including people in care homes.  
 
In North Somerset special care dental services are provided by University Hospitals Bristol 
NHS Foundation Trust. This includes domiciliary care.  
 
Requirements for dental services for people experiencing oral health problems in 
domiciliary care under the service specification of Primary Care Dental Services (PCDS) 
include: 

• A requirement to provide domiciliary oral healthcare in nursing homes and in 
people’s own homes for people who find leaving their own homes extremely difficult. 

• Provision of care for people living in nursing homes and others who cannot access 
General Dental Services and who require domiciliary dental care.  

 
The service is concerned with providing and enabling the improvement of oral health of 
individuals and groups in society who have a physical, sensory, intellectual, mental, 

Page 10



medical, emotional, or social impairment or disability or, more often, a combination of a 
number of these factors. 
 
People meeting certain criteria will be offered routine and urgent domiciliary care in their 
place of residence. Some courses of treatment may include a mix of treatment provided in 
the surgery and in a domiciliary setting where this is in a person’s best interest. Specifically, 
Primary Care Dental Service will work with nursing homes to assess individuals’ oral health 
needs, develop oral health care plans, and provide routine and urgent dental care. 
 
The PCDS will provide services, as detailed, to all nursing homes and will work in 
partnership with commissioners and others to provide domiciliary dental care for others, as 
part of a domiciliary dental care network. 
 
Dental contracts are commissioned in units of dental activity (UDAs). To give context the 
table below sets out treatment bands and their UDA equivalent: 
 
Band Treatment covered Number of 

UDAs 
1 This covers an examination, diagnosis (including x-rays), 

advice on how to prevent future problems, a scale and 
polish if clinically needed, and preventative care such as the 
application of fluoride varnish or fissure sealant if 
appropriate. 

1 

2a This covers everything listed in Band 1 above, plus any 
further treatment such as fillings, root canal work, removal of 
teeth but not more complex items covered by Band 3. 
Treatment which does not include activity from Band 2b or 
Band 2c 

3 

2b Includes extraction or fillings to 3 or more teeth or non-molar 
endodontic care to permanent teeth 

5 

2c Molar endodontic care to permanent teeth 7 
3 This covers everything listed in Bands 1 and 2 above, plus 

crowns, dentures, bridges, and other laboratory work. 
12 

4 This covers emergency care in a primary care NHS dental 
practice such as pain relief or a temporary filling. 

1.2 

 
Access rates to high street dentistry 
 
Over recent years there has been a steady fall in the number of patients in North Somerset 
who have been able to access an NHS dentist.  
 
The percentage of adults seeing an NHS dentist in North Somerset has decreased from 
48.5% to 43.8% in the latest 12 months (data available from June 2021 to June 2022). This 
is a drop of 4.7%. However, the access rate for the adult population of North Somerset 
(43.8%) is higher than the access rate for England as a whole (37.4%). This is measured by 
looking at the proportion of people who have seen an NHS dentist in the 12 months period. 
 
The number of children who have seen a dentist in North Somerset in the 12 months from 
June 2021 to June 2022 has increased from 44.2% to 53%. This is an increase of 8.8% and 
higher than the access rate for England which is 46.9%. 
 
For further details on these statistics, please see: https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-
information/data-tools-and-services/data-services/general-practice-data-hub/dentistry 

Page 11

https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/data-tools-and-services/data-services/general-practice-data-hub/dentistry
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/data-tools-and-services/data-services/general-practice-data-hub/dentistry


 
Commissioned Dental Activity 
 
There are 20 practices in North Somerset who provide NHS dental services. 

• Total units of dental activity (UDA) commissioned for North Somerset 22/23 is 
377,635 value £10,428,062.73.  

• Total units of orthodontic activity (UOA) commissioned for North Somerset 22/23 is 
10,414 value £807,130.33. 

 
Orthodontics 
 
Post pandemic, orthodontic services have been able to return to normal levels of activity 
more rapidly than high street dentistry and normal pre-pandemic contract volumes are in 
place for 2022/23. There is an additional initiative for non-recurrent Orthodontic activity 
(This is temporary activity in addition to their normal contracted activity, which means that 
practices will be able to treat more patients.) from 1 November 2022 to the 31 March 2023. 
This additional non-recurrent activity and funding is to be used to reduce waiting times for 
those patients on the practice waiting list who are eligible and ready to receive orthodontic 
treatment.  
 
Urgent Dental Care 
 
A dedicated helpline for Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire was 
commissioned in 2019, to support the 111 service in the area. When someone calls 111, 
there is an Interactive Voice Response (IVR) that allows callers to choose ‘Dental’ from a 
pre-recorded menu. The service manages both in-hours and out-of-hours appointments for 
the whole of Bristol, North Somerset, and South Gloucestershire area.  
 
The helpline provides two main functions: 

• to assist patients in finding an NHS dentist for routine care; and 
• arrange urgent NHS dental treatment for people who do not have a dentist.  

 
The Dental Helpline is commissioned to operate between the hours of 08.00 and 22.00, 7 
days a week, 365 days per year. Outside of these times, people will be triaged by NHS111 
using the National Pathways algorithm.  
 
Stabilisation 

A piece of work currently underway is our 18 month stabilisation programme. 
 
Throughout the pandemic there was a focus on urgent dental care and demand for this has 
increased (and continues to increase). There are a number of people who have dental 
issues which mean they must repeatedly access urgent care, or who do not meet the 
access criteria, but are still in dental pain – and the stabilisation pathway is our solution to 
this. The programme provides dental care which stabilises a person’s oral health and 
means reduced pain and reduced likelihood of going in and out of the urgent care system, 
or of accessing other services (i.e., via emergency departments or GPs). 
 
There is one practice in North Somerset providing four stabilisations sessions per week. 

 
Workforce 
 
The key issue affecting access to NHS dentistry across the country is workforce. A 
shortage of dentists in North Somerset affects the ability of high street practices to deliver 

Page 12



their contracts. The reasons for this are not necessarily different to those affecting other 
sectors of the health and social care system.  
 
Foundation dentists, who are undergoing further training for a year after graduation, tend to 
relocate at the end of their foundation year, moving elsewhere to follow training pathways or 
to take hospital-based jobs.  
 
It is difficult to determine why established dentists across the country leave. Anecdotally, 
factors include the challenges of working in NHS practices that are experiencing high 
demand from patients and the opportunities in private care. We have undertaken several 
surveys as have Health Education England to understand some of the issues and barriers, 
one of which was undertaken by one of our Clinical Dental Fellows. Main factors identified 
related to opportunities for career development, training opportunities, flexibility in dental 
contracts, allowing dental teams to utilise their full scope of skills and qualifications to treat 
patients under differing contract models (please see full summary below). 
 

• Main factors for working in South West: Close to family/ friends, work-life 
balance.  

• Main factors for retention at workplace: Feeling satisfied with role, realistic 
working targets.  

• Main factors for General Dental Practitioners (GDPs) working in NHS dentistry: 
Flexible commissioning that reduces the focus on UDA activity, more protection 
from litigation.  

• Main factors for Dental Care Professionals (DCPs) working in NHS dentistry: 
Flexible commissioning that reduces the focus on UDA activity, more 
opportunities for career progression, more protection from litigation, more 
salaried roles.  

• Foundation Training experience in South West and previous exposure of working 
in rural areas could influence long term retention in rural settings.  

• The majority (86.5%) feel happy living and working in the South West, feel secure 
in their jobs (70.4%), however feel burnt out (58.3%). 43% feel they are fairly 
remunerated for their work.  

• 89% intend to remain working in the South West, 37.4% intend to remain working 
in NHS dentistry. 

• The survey findings have been used to inform the Dental Reform Programme 
action plans for retaining and recruiting staff, improving workforce training, and 
supporting the wellbeing of our dental staff. 

 
NHS England’s South West Workforce Working Group, comprised of colleagues from the 
dental community and commissioners, continues to develop its actions plan to address 
these issues. 
 
Improving access to primary care for people in North Somerset 
 
NHS England has been engaged in the following activities to increase access to NHS 
dental services by:  

• Running a South West recruitment day supported by the British Dental Association 
and dental providers to try and attract all practitioners to move into the region.  

• Working with dental providers to ensure existing contracts are delivering to their 
maximum potential.  

Page 13



• Reviewing under and over performance of dental contracts on a regular basis and, 
as part of reconciling activity to contract payment, explore with those contractors with 
the most variance what they are doing to address under performance.  

• While we are able to issue new contracts for NHS primary care dental activity in 
areas of greatest need, we are having conversations where we can adjust activity 
and reallocate the activity where necessary.  

• Developing plans to commission dental services in areas where there is inequality in 
access, within available resources. We are working closely with dentists, public 
health, and the dental school to develop referral pathways and identify initiatives to 
increase dental capacity across the region through the South West’s Local Dental 
Network and six Managed Clinical Networks for dentistry.  

• In collaboration with Health Education England and the Universities of Plymouth and 
Bristol, are offering funding to dentists working in the South West who are 
undertaking post-graduate courses in Restorative; Periodontal; Endodontic and Oral 
Surgery to increase the number of local specialists within our region.  

• Working towards further innovation with existing providers to address regionalised 
concerns. This includes adjusting contract activity, allowing for reinvestment. Any 
schemes will take into account national initiatives and regional priorities, e.g., Dental 
Checks by one campaign (to ensure all children see a dentist as their teeth come 
through, or by their first birthday, at the latest) or increasing urgent care sessions for 
patients who do not have a regular dentist. 

 
The South West Dental Team has commissioned additional mandatory dental services 
across the region. Priority areas have been identified focused on replacing activity which 
has ceased within this financial year. Contract performance criteria for these new contracts 
included the measurement and assessment of the number of additional new patients 
accepted for treatment and delivery against the Starting Well Core initiative, which aims to 
increase access for 0–2-year-olds, promoting early attendance at a dental practice and 
offering preventative care.  
 
Secondary care provision 
 
In North Somerset, NHS England contracts with University Hospital Bristol and Weston 
NHS Foundation Trust and Practice Plus Group to provide secondary care including oral 
and maxillofacial surgery.  
 
Secondary care has been impacted greatly by the pandemic as services initially ceased to 
free up capacity to treat Covid patients in hospitals. All services have now been resumed 
but in some cases the frequency of clinics has been reduced due to capacity at the hospital 
sites. This has led to an increase in waiting lists for some treatments. 
 
Local Integrated Care Systems have produced elective recovery plans and the funding 
available (elective recovery fund) is being used to procure additional capacity in the Bristol, 
North Somerset, and South Gloucestershire area. The Getting it Right First Time (GIRFT) 
programme is also underway in the South West, reviewing oral and maxillofacial surgery 
pathways to improve flow of patients to ensure more equitable access to treatment and 
better outcomes. 
 
Community Dental Service 
 
University Hospital Bristol and Weston NHS Foundation Trust (UHBW) is also 
commissioned by NHS England to provide a range of community services. They operate 

Page 14



from a number of sites across North Somerset. Special care dentistry is concerned with the 
improvement of the oral health of individuals and groups in society who have a physical, 
sensory, intellectual, mental, medical, emotional, or social impairment or disability; or, more 
often, a combination of these factors. Special care dental services provide urgent care, 
check-ups, and treatment. 
 
Special care dental providers are currently experiencing difficulties in recruiting to specialist 
posts. We know that our special care dental services provide an invaluable service to some 
of our most vulnerable people. Our ambition is to ensure that the services are as good and 
as accessible as possible. Hence, interim measures are in place, supported by the Special 
Care Managed Clinical Network, to secure additional specialists while longer term solutions 
are developed. 
 
Local authorities are the lead commissioner of oral health promotion programmes to 
improve the health of the local population as part of their statutory responsibilities. Oral 
health promotion in North Somerset is delivered via the community dental provider and 
consists of oral health education and fluoride varnish application.  
 
Dental Reform Strategy for the South-West 
 
The South-West Dental Reform Programme was established in 2020 to improve access to 
oral health services, develop workforce initiatives to improve recruitment and retention of 
the dental workforce, and improve the oral health of the population. The programme is run 
by NHS England and Health Education England, alongside our strategic Integrated Care 
Partnerships and Local Authority Public Health leads to bring together the NHS England 
Dental Commissioning Team and Transformation Team with key stakeholders that have 
responsibility for oral health in the region (Public Health England, Health Education 
England, Local Dental Committees, the Local Dental Network, and Integrated Care System 
(ICS) representatives) as well as public and patient voice partners. The programme has 
informed the development of a roadmap/plan for the future of NHS dental services and oral 
health improvement in the South-West.  
 
 
Programme Commitments 
 
The reform programme has developed a range of commitments as part of its workplan. 
 
Access 
The following summarises the commitments and actions the dental reform programme will 
complete over the next year to improve access to NHS dental services in the South West: 
Since the last paper was submitted the follow progress has been made. 
 
• The Urgent Care Managed Clinical Network are working to finalise current and 

aspirational pathways for future commissioning of urgent care. 
• Dental helpline, 111 pathways are being reviewed, developing standardised access 

routes. 
• Stabilisation pilot programme is currently being commissioned and the pilot will run until 

March 2024.  
• Routine pathway with Community Providers is completed, with an increase of 

appointments per system by 5%. 
• Starting Well Core, increase access for 0-2 years, launched October 2022. This now 

forms part of the criteria for the newly procured dental contracts. 
• Welfare checks for under 18s waiting for dental general anaesthetic is ongoing.  

Page 15



 
Workforce 
• Dental Stakeholder Conference was held in January 2023. 
• Website signposting to dental vacancies and training opportunities is ongoing. 
• Dental workforce data review to support the development of the workforce action plan, is 

ongoing. 
• PLVE - The Performers List Validation by Experience programme enables the NHS to 

employ overseas dentists. There are now discussions underway with both the 
Professional Standards Team and Health Education England to look at ways in which 
criteria, process and regulations can be improved to increase access for overseas 
dentists. 

• Mapping utilisation of dental chairs is taking place to better understand were there may 
be capacity, is ongoing. 

• South West Dental Education Review programme stakeholder group, started in October 
and is being led by Health Education England. 

• Tier 2 accreditation panel has been established work is ongoing. 
 
Oral Health Improvement 
• Supervised Toothbrushing – pilot in progress and approval to expand across the South 

West for 4 and 5-year-olds – tender has been awarded and service mobilised. 
• Task and finish group to review oral health among older population, has started with a 

piece of work in care homes. 
• Task and finish group to review green impact on dentistry and rollout of national toolkit, 

is awaiting feedback from national colleagues. 
 
 

Developing a local Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire dental 
strategy 
 
BNSSG ICB, and the South West Dental Commissioning Team continue to collaborate 
closely with stakeholders involved in delivering NHS dental services within the BNSSG 
area. The Primary Care Committee in the ICB which provides assurance in relation to 
commissioning of all primary care services includes Public Health, Local Dental Committee 
and Healthwatch representation.  
 
Early stakeholder engagement work to inform a local strategy has been started including 
using the ICS Citizens’ Panel forum to assess public views experience of accessing dental 
care. Healthwatch are also providing dental feedback reports. An initial workshop has been 
held to identify priority areas to support development of a local dental strategy. This 
workshop included representation from primary care dentistry, community and secondary 
care dentistry, local authority public health teams, the Dental School, Health Education 
England, NHS 111 services and Healthwatch.  
 
The four key areas of work focused on: 
 

• Improving access and addressing variation 
• Workforce 
• Population level oral health interventions 
• Integration and collaboration. 

 

Page 16



A summary slide of the outputs of the workshop is included as an Appendix. 
The next steps to develop the strategy are to seek further input from a wider range of 
stakeholders through a survey and engagement opportunities. A second workshop is 
planned at the end of November 2023 to consider these inputs and refine the priorities for 
the dental strategy. This will then be developed in early 2024. HOSP members are invited 
to contribute and comment to the development of this strategy. 
 
In parallel, the ICB is keen to maximise flexible commissioning arrangements to improve 
access to primary dental care for our population and will be reviewing the stabilisation offer 
for next year, pending more wide-scale reform of the dental contract. 

 
 
4. Consultation 
 
Public and stakeholder engagement is taking place in the development of the strategy as 
outlined above.  
 
5. Financial Implications 
 
The ICB is seeking to utilise the delegated budget for dental services to improve dental 
access and use flexible commissioning opportunities to maximise spend of the budget. The 
contract is nationally negotiated and there are legal implications and procurement policies 
that need to be adhered whilst developing local solutions. 
 
6. Equality Implications 
 
EIAs will be undertaken as appropriate and prior to any significant service changes.  
 
Author: 
Wavell Vere, Senior Contract Manager, SW Collaborative Commissioning Hub and Jenny 
Bowker, Deputy Director of Primary, BNSSG ICB 
 
Appendices: 
 
Appendix one – summary of outputs from September 2023 workshop.  
 
 
 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



BNSSG ICB Dental Strategy Workshop Breakout Session Outputs - Overall Summary

Improving Access & Addressing 
Variation

Need to undertake a geographically 
focused review of capacity, contracts and 
associated local provision to identify 
aspirations for targeted access particularly 
for urgent care & hard to reach 
communities (mix of UDA and sessional 
rates)

Explore opportunities to release funding 
in some areas to focus elsewhere

Review and standardise referral pathways 
and access points

Explore opportunities to utilise Digital 
technology

Increase public and professional 
awareness of how dentistry works

Consider health champions in the 
community which may be building on 
existing schemes for related areas

Review reasons patients do not attend 
and look at reducing rates

Workforce

Increase understanding of dental 
pathways and roles

Review career progression pathways and 
upskilling of staff in particular therapists 
and consider increasing advanced care 
practitioners

Promote career opportunities in schools 
including apprenticeships

Coordinated approaches to recruitment 
across the area and focused on applicant 
work/life balance needs

Create opportunities for workforce 
networking, wider community 
partnerships and enable staff to feel part 
of the NHS

Review possibility of salaried positions 
and access to NHS Pension

Broaden specialty focus including related 
areas such as Diabetes

Focus on retention particularly nurses & 
therapists

Population Level Oral Health 
Interventions

Complete demand and capacity modelling

Increase oral health education in care 
homes, nursing homes and schools

Consider community engagement plans, 
other Local Authority areas (i.e. healthy 
weight) and early years services to find 
opportunities to include Oral Health

Complete a skills audit to understand scale 
of opportunity for the population including 
outreach services and education

Further consider national evidence such as 
the Advanced Dental Care Review and NICE 
guidance recommendations on tooth 
brushing schemes

Increase HPV vaccine uptake to reduce Oral 
cancer rates

Consider Tier 2 services to reduce waiting 
lists

Consider care access routes such as urgent 
care, 111, stabilisation and opportunities to 
focus on population needs

Integration & Collaboration

Explore opportunities to embed Oral Health 
in primary care including GP practices and 
pharmacies (particularly if co-located) and 
increase awareness between services

Review opportunities for any possible 
underspend on Local Authority prevention 
budgets

Develop urgent care shared care records 
and referral processes

Identify opportunities for the various dental 
roles to be part of the Enhanced Health in 
Care Homes Framework

Review opportunities for utilising existing 
services such as Diabetic Retinal Screening

Explore opportunities for dental students 
going out to schools, care homes and focus 
on specific areas

Utilise existing voluntary sector links with 
hard to reach communities such as the 
homeless and asylum seekers

Review opportunity for increasing sedation 
rather than general anaesthetic

P
age 19



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

Report to the Health Overview and Scrutiny Panel 
 
Date of Meeting: 12 October 2023 
 
Subject of Report: Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire 
Winter Plan – summary  
 
Officer Presenting: Greg Penlington, Head of Urgent and Emergency Care, 
BNSSG Integrated Care Board 
 
 
Recommendations 
 
North Somerset scrutiny colleagues are asked to: 

• Take assurance in the work being delivered to ensure an appropriate system 
response to winter planning.  

• Provide support in any winter health and care messaging where possible.  
 
1. Summary of Report 
 
This report sets out an overview of the local NHS winter plan. It provides an update on the 
national context and our local response, a forecast of anticipated pressures, summary of 
additional investment in winter schemes, mental health plans, an explanation of our system 
control centre, vaccination programme and communications approach.  
 
2. Policy 
 
Integrated Care Systems are required by NHS England to develop localised and tailored 
winter plans.  
 
3. Details 
 
Please see supporting slide deck.  
 
4. Consultation 
 
Public and stakeholder engagement will be undertaken in relation to specific areas of work 
if appropriate and in accordance with the NHS duty to involve.  
 
5. Financial Implications 
 
Investment is outlined in the accompanying slides.  

Page 21

Agenda Item 6



6. Equality Implications 
 
EIAs will be undertaken if required and as appropriate in relation to specific service 
changes.  
 
Author: Greg Penlington, Head of Urgent and Emergency Care, BNSSG 
Integrated Care Board 
 
Appendices: 
 
N/a 
 
 
 

Page 22



BNSSG NHS Winter Plan – summary 

September 2023

P
age 23



Action Response

1. Continue to deliver on the UEC 

Recovery Plan by ensuring high-

impact interventions are in place 

Maturity matrix completed by all ICS partners. Support from NHSE universal offer requested for:

1) NHS@Home

2) Acute frailty

3) SDEC

4) ARI hubs

20+ ‘Recovery Champions’ nominated by the ICS and accessing webinar-based training.

2. Completing operational and surge 

planning to prepare for different winter 

scenarios 

ICB scenario modelling completed.  System review and input at Winter Workshop on 7th Sept. 

Submission to NHSE completed for 11th Sept  alongside a numerical submission based on the 

BNSSG bed model.

3. ICBs should ensure effective 

system working across all parts of 

the system, including acute trusts and 

community care, elective care, children 

and young people, mental health, 

primary, community, intermediate and 

social care and the VCSE sector.

BNSSG Operating Plan delivery – metrics now included in UEC performance and project reports.

System Control Centre in place and compliant with new national specification.

Updated Operational Pressures Escalation (OPEL) Framework now published.  System plan to 

double run alongside existing OPEL framework.

4. Supporting our workforce to deliver 

over winter 

Staff flu and covid vaccination. established pathway for identifying patients at-risk of COVID-19 

and flu in their care, including those who are immunosuppressed. 

NHS People Plan delivery.

The national context: Winter guidance & BNSSG response

P
age 24



Forecasting pressures on the system:
BNSSG acute hospital bed models – post-mitigation

Note

- Changes to the P2/3 bed position and NC2R backlogs would further impact the 

position

- Stroke service transformation not included; further work required

- Post-mitigation assumes full delivery of transformation schemes with impacts as 

described in previous slide

Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

BRISTOL ROYAL INFIRMARY (BRI)
Bed Surplus/Deficit Before Mitigation -34 -36 -39 -31 -40 -63 -39

Total mitigations 24 27 30 34 47 47 47

Bed Surplus/Deficit After Mitigation -10 -9 -9 3 7 -16 8

WESTON GENERAL HOSPITAL (WGH)
Bed Surplus/Deficit Before Mitigation -28 -28 -29 -27 -29 -40 -28

Total mitigations 11 13 15 16 23 23 23

Bed Surplus/Deficit After Mitigation -17 -15 -14 -11 -6 -17 -5

BRISTOL ROYAL HOSPITAL FOR CHILDREN (BRHC)
Bed Surplus/Deficit Before Mitigation 6 4 0 5 -3 -14 -5

Total mitigations 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Bed Surplus/Deficit After Mitigation 6 4 0 5 -3 -14 -5

Southmead (NBT)
Bed Surplus/Deficit Before Mitigation -70 -78 -64 -68 -73 -76

Total mitigations 34 42 51 69 74 75

Bed Surplus/Deficit After Mitigation 0 0 0 0 0 0

Occupancy with mitigations 97.1% 97.1% 94.5% 92.9% 92.9% 93.1%

Mitigations included in the plan 

are increased capacity from:

1) Virtual wards

2) Discharge to Assess

3) Acute transfer of care hubs

The bed model is based on 

assumptions that monthly activity 

will be similar to 22/23 – which in 

comparison to previous years 

saw an unusually high increase in 

attendances and admissions over 

winter. A surge is therefore 

already assumed within the 

model.

Acute beds as a currency are a 

proxy for ‘flow’ across the whole 

ICS – including capacity in 

general practice, community 

services, and social care. It is 

used by NHSE to assure plans.

P
age 25



3

Winter planning began at the start of the year

• BNSSG ICS committed record new, recurrent investment into urgent and 

emergency care (UEC) and ‘Home First’ services through the 23/24 planning 

round.

• These investment schemes are spread across the system and address ‘front 

door’, through flow, and ‘back door’ capacity, and address many of the ‘high 

impact interventions’. 

• Many ramp up and their impact peaks in the autumn months, in time for winter.

• Monitoring delivery takes place through the Operational Delivery Groups (UEC 

ODG and D2A Board).

P
age 26



In July BNSSG self-assessed its maturity against the 
national 10 high impact interventions

P
age 27



5

Ref. Description Lead Provider

23/24 

revised 

financial 

plan (£k)

FYE (£k)

Peak bed 

impact 

(plan)

Progress on 

delivery (RAG):

Urgent & Emergency Care

U1

Same day Urgent Community 

Response expansion

Circa 25% expansion in same-day community nursing teams to respond to 

individuals with urgent needs who may otherwise deteriorate. 
Sirona -960 -960 10Green

U2

System Clinical Assessment 

Service expansion

Increase in capacity of clinicians working within BNSSG 111 to further 

assess patients who would otherwise be routed to 999 or ED.  Includes a 

move to 7-day working from October.

Brisdoc -1,124 -1,424 9Green

U3

SWAST access to Urgent 

Community Response service.

Embedding senior urgent care clinicians within the community call centre 

to triage and assess patients with urgent needs in the community who may 

benefit from the UCR service (above), particularly aimed at supported 

ambulance crews to access this pathway.

Sirona -71 -221 6Green

U4

Community Emergency Medicine 

Service (CEMS) introduction

Embedding senior ED clinicians within the ambulance service to respond 

to 999 calls (remotely and in person) for the most complex and frail 

individuals, to support community management of direct access to hospital 

pathways.

UHBW -370 -370 2Amber

U5
NBT Level 6 beds

Additional physical ward at NBT to support ability to continue elective 

programme alongside non-elective demand.
NBT -4,539 -4,539 32Green

U6

NBT Same Day Emergency Care 

expansion

Increase capacity in the SDEC service which front loads senior clinical 

review and diagnostics to avoid patients requiring multiple overnight stays.
NBT -1,654 -1,654 16Amber

U7

BRI Discharge lounge capacity

Increase capacity in the discharge lounge and introduce registered nurse 

cover to allow for wider range of patients to use the service.  Allows beds 

to be made available earlier in the day on wards in line with expected 

demand, while discharge activities are undertake (transport, medication 

etc).

UHBW - BRI -285 -570 8Amber

U8 BRI SDEC UHBW - BRI -1,528 -2,037

BRI Medical SDEC
Increase capacity in the SDEC service which front loads senior clinical 

review and diagnostics to avoid patients requiring multiple overnight stays.
-879 -879 13Green

BRI Surgical SDEC As above. -609 -609 1.2Amber

BRI Cardiology SDEC As above. -550 -550 4Amber

U9

Healthy Weston 2 (Phase 1& 2) 

(recurrent only)

Range of long term changes to WGH including a new frailty short stay unit, 

increases in SDEC, new hot clinics and improvements to emergency 

surgery provision.

UHBW -Weston -1,900 -2,643 15 Green

Summary of additional investment in winter schemes (1)

P
age 28



6

Summary of additional investment in winter schemes (2)

Ref. Description Lead Provider Other Providers

23/24 

revised 

financial 

plan (£k)

FYE (£k)

Peak bed 

impact 

(plan)

Progress 

on delivery 

(RAG):

Home First

H1

Discharge to Assess

Increasing community rehabilitation capacity in line with 

demand, with a focus on shifting towards home-based 

pathways (following a peer review of other ICS’).

Sirona Acute, LAs, VCSE -5,562 -5,562 150Amber

H2

Transfer of care hub
Increasing multi-agency capacity for discharge planning 

from hospitals including therapists, social workers etc.
NBT Sirona, Social Care -2,884 -2,884 25Green

H3
TOC Hub As above. UHBW - Both Sirona, Social Care -2,900 -2,900 25Green

H4

NHS @ Home expansion

Increasing ‘virtual ward’ capacity to support admission 

avoidance and earlier discharge using remote monitoring 

technology couple with community teams.

Sirona Acute -6,750 -7,275 92

Amber

H5

Ageing Well EHCH: NCHIP

Dedicated clinical team working through care homes to 

ensure up-to-date and quality care plans for those most at 

risk of admission.

NBT
Sirona, Primary 

Care
-700 -700 4Green

H6

Ageing Well EHCH: Weston 

hub

Dedicated multi-professional team working directly with 

care home residents most at risk of admission.
Pier Health

Sirona, Primary 

Care
-600 -600 6 Green

P
age 29



7

Ref. Description Lead Provider

23/24 

revised 

financial 

plan (£k)

FYE (£k) Leading indicator(s):
Progress on 

delivery (RAG):

Investments with non-bed impact

U10 Carousel Project - Children’s Hospital

Significant increase in children’s ED 

physical capacity and staffing including 

GPs, to manage minor acuity patients.

UHBW - Children's -654 -654
ED waiting times at the children’s 

hospital.
Green

U11
Community Acute Respiratory Infection 

(ARI) Hubs

Introduction of dedicated community 

sites via Primary Care Networks for 

managing patients with acute 

respiratory conditions away from 

general practices.

Primary Care -600 -600

We will develop robust impact and 

evaluation to measure the impact 

of the hubs on system flow, 

patient outcomes and workforce.

Amber

SWAST additional capacity

Additional ambulance crews in place to 

manage winter demand and maintain 

response time standards despite 

increased time lost handing patients 

over to hospitals. Based on 

performance in 22/23. 

SWAST -2,900 -2,900
Ambulance response times: 

Category 1 and Category 2.
Green

SWAST additional capacity for 

handover delays
As above. SWAST -2,000 0As above. Green

Summary of additional investment in winter schemes (3)

P
age 30



Urgent & Emergency Mental Health Winter 2023/24

111 Mental 
Health Clinical 

Assessment 
Service

Urgent Assessment 
Centre

Crisis @ Night
999 Mental Health 

Responses

Developing 24/7 
Response via 111 

for any 
individuals 

needing 
urgent/crisis 

mental health 
support & advice 
– integrated with 

physical health 
response 

(CAS/OOH GPs)

Delivering 
10pm-8am UAC, 

Community 
assessment & 

home 
treatment, POS 
& Acute Trust 

ED In reach 
Crisis response 
for assessment 

Developing Pre-
Hospital Integrated 

location based 
assessment & 
intervention 

response as part of 
Crisis @ Night as 

alternative 
conveyance point 

to ED and 
community based 

responses for 
individuals in crisis

24/7 Response via 
999 including – 
integrated with 

emergency 
services/physical 

health:
• MH Desk – inc 

PLO
• RRVs/MH 

Ambulances
• Rapid 

Engagement 
Workers

Professionals 
Response Line

24/7 Response, 
advice and 

guidance available 
by telephone for 

police, ambulance 
and other 

emergency and 
urgent care 

responses at scene

P
age 31



9

Overseeing system performance

Tackling performance issues as they arise is 
managed by the new, nationally-defined System 
Control Centre, including a daily System Flow 
Meeting 7 days a week.

System tools available:

• New real-time 111, 999, mental health (s136) & 
ED metrics plus forecasts – within Frontier 
platform

• Daily data across all providers available to 
understand trends and root causes – within ICS 
PowerBI

• Refreshed processes to align monthly validated 
reporting with the NHS Operating Plan – in formal 
ICS reporting

P
age 32



10

BNSSG’s System Control Centre
ID National requirement Section

Requirement 

Met
BNSSG Compliance

SCC – PE 1
SCC has identified board-level executive member and is supported by a Senior 

Responsible Officer (or equivalent).
4.2 Yes SCC Executive lead and SRO: Lisa Manson

SCC – PE 2
SCC has sufficient resource to deliver day-to-day function in line with national operating 

model between 0800 & 1800 hrs.

5.2, 5.3 

and 6.2.6
Yes

Mon-Fri 0800-1800: SCC delivered by UEC Performance Team (x3 team members).

OOH and weekends: ICB on-call rota (strategic, tactical and call support).

System clinical on call rota also in place 24/7.

SCC – PE 3

The ICB will ensure that they either have SCC room leadership with active clinical 

registration (GMC, NMC or HCPC), or an operating structure that enables input from senior 

clinicians in the ICB

5.4 Yes System clinical on call rota in place 24/7 with role card descriptor, including a range of ICB clinicians. 

SCC – PE 4 SCC Director on-call cover is in place between 1800 & 0800 hrs. 5.5 Yes
SCC director and tactical on-call cover 24/7, including out of hours and weekends.

During in hours (0800-1800) they are on-call, however the SCC is managed by the UEC Performance Team.

SCC – PR 1
The SCC can demonstrate board-level presentation of SCC operations to the specification 

set out in the specification.
4.4 Yes

Lisa Manson SRO, ICB Board Member.

SCC updates are provided as part of wider Winter assurance plans to various boards and committees and required. 

SCC – PR 2
The SCC has membership of relevant clinical governance and quality assurance forums as 

required.
4.5 Yes

Lisa Manson is a member of the ICB Putcomes, Quality and Performance Committee.

Work is live with the System Quality Group with a project to quantify and compare clinical risks in different parts of the system 

to inform SCC and provider decision making. 

SCC – PR 3

SCC’s role and responsibility are clearly laid out in system escalation and governance 

frameworks, including but not limited to surge management, ambulance handover process 

and incident management.

4.6 Yes

This information is detailed in the SCC System Management and Escalation policies and SOPs; which are available on 

Frontier (https://bnssg.my.faculty.ai/home) within document storage and published in the BNSSG ICBs on-call pack.

In the event of an incident the BNSSG ICB Incident Response Plan (IRP) details additional responsibilities for the individual 

roles within the SCC. The IRP is available in the BNSSG ICBs on-call pack.

SCC – PR 4

SCC has an SOP in place that captures the daily operational cadence and reflects roles 

and responsibilities under the OPEL Framework. This will include the upload of the ICB 

OPEL onto the NHSE national database.

6.1 and 

6.2
Yes

This information is detailed in the SCC System Management and Escalation policies and SOPs; which are available on 

Frontier (https://bnssg.my.faculty.ai/home) within document storage and published in the BNSSG ICBs on-call pack.  This 

includes OPEL action cards for the system and providers, and standard cadences for system calls which occur 7/7 at 11am.

This information is also outlined in the BNSSG ICBs on-call system management and escalation training slides.

SCC – PR 5
SCC will have SOPs to track, assure and validate submissions to NHS England national 

and regional teams as specified.
6.2 Yes

The SCC has an NHSE returns tracker and log in place.

Data quality controls are in place for provider OPEL submissions, the metrics for which are updated every 6-12 months.

SCC – PR 6
SCC will maintain appropriate records in line with the NHS England’s Corporate record 

management policy.
6.2.4 Yes

The SCC adheres to the BNSSG ICBs Records Management Policy, which aligns with the NHSE policy. This includes inbox 

management, note taking and action log tracking.

SCC – PR 7

SCCs will provide 7-day cover in-line with the regional/national operational model between 

0800 and 1800 hrs, with a provision contained within a localised SOP to increase cover as 

required.

6.2.6 Yes

Mon-Fri 0800-1800: SCC delivered by UEC Performance Team (x3 team members).

OOH and weekends: ICB on-call rota (strategic, tactical and call support).

System clinical on call rota also in place 24/7.

This is reviewed during periods of escalation or incident management.

This information is detailed in the SCC System Management and Escalation policies and SOPs; which are available on 

Frontier (https://bnssg.my.faculty.ai/home) within document storage and published in the BNSSG ICBs on-call pack.

SCC – PR 8

SCC has real time digital software and a process to monitor in real time, the minimum key 

metric set detailed in section 7.2.1 to 7.2.10 to allow rapid identification of risks and 

required intervention. These will also be accessible to the DOC and relevant clinical support 

for the SCC.

7.2 Yes

The BNSSG System UEC Live Dashboard (Frontier) includes real time feeds for a number of providers across the system 

including SWAST, 111, AWP, acute trusts, NHS@Home and GPOOH. Frontier is accessible to the whole system, and has 

been promoted with all members of the ICB and provider on-call teams. 

SCC – PR 9
SCC must have digital software that can add or evolve ‘wider’ system pathway metrics as 

part of real time process.
7.3.1 Yes

The ICB, through the Care Traffic Coordination Centre programme, is adding additional system pathway metrics including GP 

data, NCTR, UTC/MIU statuses, and social care data.

SCC – PR 10 SCC digital software must be accessible through both ‘desktop’ and mobile devices. 7.3.2 Yes Frontier is available on both desktop and mobile devices.

SCC – PR 11
SCC digital software must have the capability to set notifications that alert / notify when pre-

determined thresholds or parameters have been breached.
7.3.3 Yes This is captured in the specification for CTCC and available in the Frontier system via Superset technology.

P
age 33



11

BNSSG Winter Vaccination Programme

• BNSSG is planning for both flu and covid co 

administration where possible.  

• Primary Care Networks will be visiting care 

homes to vaccinate both staff and residents and 

providing practice-based clinics which can be 

accessed by staff.  Programme staff will also 

provide workforce if required.  

• The programme has worked on robust 

communications with local authority partners, 

ensuring staff know how to access vaccinations.  

• The national grabajab site will also have staff 

vaccination information.

P
age 34



12

BNSSG winter 2023/24: Communications approach Oct - Mar

Objective Campaign focus Tactics

Promote 

vaccination 

uptake

Covid and flu  

campaigns (public and 

staff)

• BNSSG health and care staff ‘Take control’ campaign

• Amplify national ‘Winter strong’ campaign via PR, 

social media, on-site promotion

• Community partnership and engagement/outreach

Support 

people to 

access ‘right 

care first time’

Self-care and pharmacy • PR, social media, on-site promotion

• Amplify national Pharmacy First campaign

• Winter illness advice on ICB website

• Self-care app promotion inc Handi paediatric

Primary care access 

(multidisciplinary team / 

care navigation)

• PR, social media, on-site promotion

• Amplify national ‘Meet Team GP’ campaign

• Practice channels (websites, waiting rooms)

NHS 111 (inc mental 

health crisis)

• Amplify national NHS 111 online campaign ‘Get to the help you need’

• PR, social media, on-site promotion

• Targeted social media advertising

Health literacy /

system navigation

• Service guide on ICB website ‘Which NHS service should I use?’

• Multilingual ‘Choosewell’ leaflet distribution to health and care settings

Promote 

timely 

discharge

‘Home first’ • PR, social media

• In-hospital promotion targeting families/carers

P
age 35

https://bnssg.icb.nhs.uk/health-and-care/which-nhs-service-should-i-use/


T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

North Somerset Council 
 
Report to the Health Overview and Scrutiny Panel 
 
Date of Meeting: 12th October 2023 
 
Subject of Report: Better Care Fund Plan 2023-25 
 
Town or Parish: All 
 
Officer/Member Presenting: Gerald Hunt Assistant Director 
Commissioning, Partnerships and Housing Solutions  
 
Key Decision: yes 
 
Reason: 
It is significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area 
compromising two or more wards in the area of the Local Authority.  
 
 
Recommendations 
The Board is requested to note the Better Care Fund Plan enclosed in Appendix One and 
and Appendix Two: 

• Agreement on use of mandatory BCF funding streams 
• An assessment of capacity and demand for intermediate care services 
• Ambitions on making progress against the national metrics.  

 
 
1. Summary of Report 
 
To note the Better Care Fund Plan for 2023/25 and support financial and planning 
assumptions for 2023/24.  
 
2. Policy 
The BCF Plan supports several of the Corporate Plan priorities, including:  
 
BEING A COUNCIL THAT EMPOWERS AND CARES ABOUT PEOPLE. 
 
❖ A commitment to protect the most vulnerable people in our communities.  
❖ A focus on tackling inequalities, improving outcomes. 
❖ Partnerships which enhance skills, learning and employment opportunities. 

 
AN OPEN AND ENABLING ORGANISATION 
 
❖ Engage with and empower our communities. 
❖ Empower our staff and encourage continuous improvement and innovation.  
❖ Manage our resources and invest wisely. 
❖ Embrace new and emerging technology. 
❖ Make the best use of our data and information. 

Page 37

Agenda Item 7



❖ Provide professional, efficient, and effective services. 
❖ Collaborate with partners to deliver the best outcomes. 

 
The Corporate Plan details about Adult Social Care 
“The system for funding adult social care is widely recognised as no longer fit for purpose 
with a national solution for sustainable funding being essential. Care markets locally and 
nationally are challenged by rising costs, staff shortages and the ongoing need to maintain 
quality. As demand for these services increase in line with an aging population, so does the 
cost to the council, coinciding with almost a decade of reducing government funding for 
local authorities.” 
 
We must commission a range of services across adult social care that prevent and / or 
delay people from needing to rely on statutory services for as long as possible. Details of 
how we will achieve this will reflect a move to offering better outcomes, that improve and 
maintain the confidence and therefore, wellbeing of service users. We also intend to focus 
on support for informal Carers to maintain their caring role, delaying the need for large 
packages of care and placements into care homes.  
 
The services in this commissioning plan are key to the commitments in respect of Adult 
Social Services priorities for 2023/24. 
 
Directorate Wide Commitments 
Our Commitment What is the Outcome we Expect 
Enable people to have independence, 
access to services, and reduce inequalities. 

North Somerset residents have good 
quality of life and good health and 
wellbeing. 

Ensure we deliver and commission high 
quality services. 

Residents have good quality of life and 
satisfaction with the services they receive. 
 

 
Reablement and TEC Pathway Commitments 
Our Commitment What is the Outcome we Expect 
Provide an effective wellbeing service. We support people to remain part of their 

community and reduces overreliance on 
commissioned domiciliary care services. 

Establish a therapy led reablement service, 
with TEC first approach for the whole 
community. 

Preventing the requirement for statutory 
services and enabling people to stay in 
their own homes for longer. 
 

 
Integrated Commissioning and ICP development commitments 
Our Commitment What is the Outcome we Expect 
Contribute to the ICP development and 
ensure North Somerset has a voice. 

Housing and social care voice is active in 
the delivery of ICP Partnership 
arrangements. 

Contribute to the Development of Effective 
Housing with Support solutions for all 
adults with care and support needs 

Supports quality of life for residents and 
satisfaction with the services they receive.  

 
Operational Service Development commitments 
Our Commitment What is the Outcome we Expect 

Page 38



Ensure people have a variety of options for 
accessing information and identifying 
solutions.  

People can get the right advice and 
information more quickly and conveniently. 

Ensure carers are supported.  Carers have access to information and 
services to support them in their caring 
role. 

 
 
 
3. Details 
 
 
Details of the Plan are enclosed in Appendix One, the financial and planning assumptions 
are enclosed in Appendix Two BCF Planning Template and Appendix Three includes a 
short contextual presentation for the purpose and governance arrangements of the BCF, for 
background to the appreciative enquiry element of the Board.   
 
4. Consultation 
A comprehensive listing of the consultation and engagement over the Plan is outlined as 
part of the in the introductory section of the BCF Plan in Appendix One.  
 
5. Financial Implications 
The financial details of the BCF are included in Appendix Two in the Planning Template and 
summarised in the presentation in Appendix Three.  
 
 
6. Legal Powers and Implications 
The transfer of funding covered by the BCF are subject to legal agreement between the ICB 
and NSC.  
 
7. Climate Change and Environmental Implications 
Climate issues including TEC developments and the Innovation Grant funding are included 
as part of the BCF Plan in Appendix A.  
 
8. Risk Management 
The system risks associated with capacity planning for the Winter are included as part of 
the BCF plan in Appendix One.  
 
9. Equality Implications 
The Equality Implications of the Plan and measures to address health inequality are a key 
aspect of the BCF Plan in Appendix One.  
 
 
10. Corporate Implications 
BCF is a key financial and integration platform for system working and our wider 
relationship with the ICB.  
 
11. Options Considered 
N/A 
 
 

Page 39



Author: 
Gerald Hunt Assistant Director Commissioning, Partnerships and Housing Solutions  
Gerald.hunt@n-somerset.gov.uk 07766366097 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix One BCF Plan 2023/25 
Appendix Two BCF Planning Template  
Appendix Three BCF Presentation  
 
 
Background Papers: 
None  
 
 
 

Page 40

mailto:Gerald.hunt@n-somerset.gov.uk


 

 

 
 
 

 
BCF narrative plan template 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 41



2 
 

Table of Contents 
 
1. Cover                                                                                                                                            3 
                                                                                                           
2. Governance                                                                                                                         3 

 
3. Executive Summary                                                                                                           5 

 
4. National Condition 1: Overall BCF plan and approach to integration                          7 

 
5. National Condition 2: How the area will meet BCF objective 1                                     9 

 
6. National Condition 2 (cont): Rationale for estimates of demand and capacity 

for intermediate care to support people in the community                                                     15 
 

7. National Condition 2 (cont): How BCF funded activity will support delivery  
of this objective                                                                                                                             15 

 
8. National Condition 3: How the area will meet BCF objective 2                                    18 

 
9. National Condition 3 (cont): Rationale for estimates of demand and capacity 

for intermediate care to support discharge from hospital                                                        24 
 

10.  National Condition 3 (cont): How BCF funded activity will support delivery 
of this objective                                                                                                                             27 

 
11.  National Condition 3 (cont): High Impact Change Model                                             28 

 
12.  National Condition 3 (cont): How BCF funding has been used to ensure that 

duties under the Care Act are being delivered                                                                          29 
 

13.  Disabled Facilities Grant and wider services                                                               32 
 

14. Additional information (not assured)                                                                             33 
 

15.  Equality and health inequalities                                                                                     34                                                                             
 
 

Page 42



3 
 

 
1. Cover 

 
Health and Wellbeing Board(s). 
 
North Somerset 
 
Bodies involved strategically and operationally in preparing the plan (including NHS Trusts, 
social care provider representatives, VCS organisations, housing organisations, district 
councils). 
 
 
Bodies involved strategically and operationally in preparing the plan (including NHS Trusts, 
social care provider representatives, VCS organisations, housing organisations, t councils). 
 
North Somerset Health and Wellbeing Board  
North Somerset Council 
BNSSG ICB 
Weston, Worle and Villages Locality Partnership 
Woodspring Locality Partnership 
Care and Support West/ Social Care Provider Representatives 
Voluntary Action North Somerset and other VCSE representatives.  
Alliance Homes (Home from Hospital and Carers Support Service Provider) 
Sirona Community Health Provider  
 
 
How have you gone about involving these stakeholders? 
 
. We have shared priorities and integrated funding plans for locality Ageing Well and 
anticipatory care funding with the BCF at both North Somerset Locality Partnerships.  
 
 Stakeholder engagement on the D2A programme is undertaken in the following ways: 

• Insights work with frontline staff to understand barriers to delivery and 
mitigations to address these. 

• Developing demand and capacity modelling of services to have a shared view 
of the changes needed across the full discharge to assess pathway. 

• Developing a shared focus on outcomes and evaluation 
 

 
 

2. Governance 
 
Please briefly outline the governance for the BCF plan and its implementation in your area. 
 
The Bristol, North Somerset, and South Gloucestershire (BNSSG) local authorities are 
partner organisations in the BNSSG Integrated Care System (ICS), which builds on the 
extensive system working already in place for both strategic planning and shorter-term plans 
for responding to system-wide operational pressures.  The ICS has an agreed governance 

Page 43



4 
 

infrastructure that encompasses planning, financial management, system performance and 
six Locality Partnerships. 
 
The ICS is made up of an Integrated Care Partnership (ICP), and Integrated Care Board 
(ICB) and the six Locality Partnerships.  ICS organisations include Avon & Wiltshire Mental 
Health Partnership NHS Trust, Bristol City Council, BNSSG ICB, North Bristol NHS Trust, 
North Somerset Council, One Care, Sirona Care and Health, South Gloucestershire Council, 
South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust and University Hospitals Bristol 
and Weston NHS Trust.  The ICP brings together a broad range of partners – including from 
the local voluntary sector and community groups and is jointly chaired by our three 
constituent Health and Wellbeing Board chairs, on rotation. 
 
 

 
 
 
The integrated care board is establishing four groups with a key role and purpose in the 
Decision-Making Framework - Health & Care Improvement Groups (HCIG).  The BCF 
programme will report into the People in our Communities HCIG. The HCIG includes 
representation from all ICS partners, with the purpose of providing system oversight; 
ensuring ICS partners are working together effectively, collaboratively, and symbiotically with 
one clear focus: Person first. 
 
HCIGs will be delegated responsibility by the ICB Board for achieving specific outcomes, 
strategic and in-year plan objectives in pursuit of the ICSs vision and mission. 
 
The People in our Communities HCIG will oversee the Discharge to Assess programme, 
along with programmes which delivery anticipatory care, ageing well and frailty projects.  
Bringing together these key BNSSG -wide change programmes to deliver integrated care, 
which includes agreed ICS joint working on the related BCF objectives. 
 
There is extensive and ongoing consultation and involvement of key partners, including 
VCSE organisations, in strategic planning and shorter-term plans for responding to system-
wide operational pressures.   
 
 

Page 44



5 
 

North Somerset 
The North Somerset Health & Wellbeing Board is responsible for approving the BCF plan 
each year and the newly created Senior Officer Group (which provides support to the Board) 
provides oversight of the governance arrangements and financial mechanisms.  
  
 
The new Executive Member for Homes and Health has been appointed with responsibility for 
the Health & Wellbeing Board and BCF plan sign off.  
 
The North Somerset Health & Wellbeing Board will formally receive and ‘sign off’ the Better 
Care Fund Plan at its next meeting, (to be determined).   At this meeting the Chair for 2023-
24 will also be appointed.  
 
 

3. Executive Summary 
 
This should include: 
 

• Priorities for 2023-25 
Priorities for 2023-25 
 
 
Across BNSSG:  

• Further development of models of intermediate care; including Sirona Reset.  
• Locality and provider collaborative focus on Community and place – reducing 

inequality gap.  
• focus on prevention, early intervention, and de-escalation of need in all areas of 

work.  
 

North Somerset Local Priorities include: 
• Continued development of work across both our locality partnerships. 

• Mitigation of the impact of the cost-of-living crisis and its impact on health inequalities 

• Developing more integrated and collaborative approaches to health and social care 
delivery, supporting the wider workforce and developing innovative preventive care 
infrastructure, from First Response, Rapid Response, Virtual Community Hub, TEC, 
Home from Hospital and Dementia pilot. 

• The importance of Housing as a determinate of health and social care outcomes and 
the significance of DFG, TEC and other housing initiative's to maximising 
independence.   

 
Key changes since previous BCF plan 
 
BNSSG 

• System D2A business case – longer term planning and funding – supporting 
transformation and focused on better outcomes for individuals.  Included supporting 
Virtual Frailty Wards, Social Work in Reach and trusted assessment between Health 
and social care providers,     
 

 
 

Page 45



6 
 

North Somerset 
 
North Somerset Local Priorities reflect a continuation of the focus on Maximising 
Independence and investing in support services to deliver this, from expanded reablement 
capacity, TEC, and work with the voluntary sector. These shared priorities with our maturing 
Local Partnerships are consistent with the LGA findings, albeit a frustration with the work 
was the lack of local analysis, as whilst we concur with the findings and the actions 
recommended. Namely to reduce LOS and bedded care in DTA discharge pathways, the 
modelling of this change is very different between the three authorities, which recognises the 
historically a much lower bed base has operated in North Somerset.  
 
 

Bed shift over the months 

  Bristol NS SG 
Month P2 P3 P2 P3 P2 P3 

Mar-23 102 72 28 39 61 37 
Apr-23 102 72 28 39 61 37 

May-23 98 67 29 37 58 35 
Jun-23 94 62 31 34 54 33 
Jul-23 90 58 33 31 50 31 

Aug-23 86 54 35 29 46 29 
Sep-23 82 50 37 27 42 26 
Oct-23 77 46 39 25 39 24 

 
 
Whilst the D2A programme reduces the total number of beds commissioned from the current 
bed base, the total bed requirement is still greater than original baseline funding, which were 
particularly low in North Somerset. Hence the ICB utilisation of funding to support beds. Our 
shared aim is to continue to reduce the use of bedded provision as part of discharge except 
where it offers an improvement in personal outcomes or promotes a better likelihood of 
discharge to original residence.  
 
 
An area of change has been the expanded population health management focus of the 
Local Partnerships, building on the ongoing Joint Strategic Needs refresh to develop join 
priorities to address our local health inequalities. Data analysis has provided additional 
information in terms of impactful conditions in Weston & Worle and Woodspring areas. It is 
recognised the top 5 impactful conditions by age in North Somerset changes between the 
ages of 50 to 74 and 75+ years. It is also recognised that our two LP areas are very different 
with their own unique challenges. 
 
The emerging priorities for both Partnerships based on our joint work can be summarised in 
Appendix 1, 2 and 3. 
 

Appendix 1. Weston 
Worle and Villages.docx

Appendix 2. Top 5 
impactful conditions by age in Woodspring.pptx

Appendix 3. Impact of 
Conditions.pptx  

 
 

Page 46



7 
 

 
In North Somerset this information is now informing our prevention work, and key locality 
partnership work including our dementia pathways, funding established for a dementia 
carers block, frailty pathway and expansion of our TEC, reablement and First response 
services. These are critical developments to support the rurality challenges of the 
Woodspring community, where domiciliary care travel times remain a challenge.  
While life expectancy in North Somerset is broadly in line with the England average, it varies 
by area, with Weston-Super-Mare Central Ward having the lowest life expectancy (69.3 
years for males and 76.6 years for females).  
 
 
Healthy Life Expectancy at Birth  
 

 
 
In Weston the focus is on the cost-of-living crisis reflected by Weston Central ward having 
one of the worst deprivation scores in England. The percentage of working age people 
claiming out of work benefit is also extremely high within Weston-Super-Mare. COVID-19 
has presented challenges for a number of people financially. The health and wellbeing of 
people in deprivation are negatively impacted by the wider determinants of health including 
housing, employment, education, access to social networks and lifestyles. It should also be 
noted that people with more limited financial means may use more public transport. The 
impact of the rising cost of living also needs consideration, with lower income families being 
most at risk of facing negative impacts on their health and wellbeing. 
 
 
 

4. National Condition 1: Overall BCF plan and approach to integration 

 
 
The BNSSG ICS has a shared ambition to build an integrated health and care system, 
where ‘home first’ is the preferred setting of care, utilising hospital services only when 
needed, and where people can maximise their health, independence and be active in their 

Page 47



8 
 

own wellbeing. We want to increase the number of years people in BNSSG live in good 
health; reduce inequality in health outcomes between social groups; and help to create 
communities that are healthy, safe and positive places to live. We also want to make it 
easier for staff to work productively together and develop a healthy and fulfilled workforce”. 
 
Joint Commissioning is undertaken through joined up work between local authorities and the 
ICB through both a shared programme approach to deliver the longer term change 
programme, and through joint commissioning governance arrangements.  LAs are active 
members of the Discharge to Assess programme, and are involved in both the development 
of the programme priorities, as well as supporting implementation and delivery.  Joint 
commissioning arrangements are coordinated via the weekly Commissioning Arrangements 
meetings, organised by the ICB with representation from all three LAs.  New ideas for BCF 
funding would be brought to this D2A programme for consideration as part of the system 
wide priorities, and, commissioning and contracting consequences would be undertaken 
jointly through the Commissioning Arrangements forum. 
  
The ICB is currently implementing a new governance structure – and this will include 
reporting and oversight for this work from the ‘People in our Communities’ Health and Care 
Improvement Group.  This group includes LA representation. 
  
A recent example of joint commissioning aligned to the change programme is the joint 
commissioning of P2 and P3 beds across BNSSG. The D2A board (as a joint endeavour 
with ICB and LAs) developed the ambition to reprocure a reduced number of beds on a new 
service specification, with enhanced performance and quality indicators to support delivery 
of the D2A programme ambitions. The development of the specification and procurement 
approval was coordinated jointly through the Commissioning Arrangements forum, and 
signed off by all partners at the ICB Board. 
  
North Somerset   
 
In North Somerset, our approaches to collaboration and joint commissioning, include:   
 

• Expand and make permanent via BCF the promising results from pilot with Response 
24 to support people who fall in the community – First Response Service.   

• Improving End of Life experiences by increasing the number of people discussing 
their end of life wishes and dying in their place of choice, e.g., the Weston ‘Good 
Grief’ festival which was extended across North Somerset. 

• North Somerset Together Virtual Hub – a collaborative partnership led by Citizens 
Advice North Somerset a 2 year pilot jointly funded by NSC and North Somerset 
Locality Partnerships. A new service taking direct referrals from front line staff within 
health and community settings, providing a one-stop connector service to support 
navigation of support systems, community assets and social welfare support Helping 
to reduce inequalities by addressing the wider determinants of health, such as debt, 
poor housing, employment and physical activity.  

• Expansion of Wellness Service following merger with NSC Rapid Response service 
to provide telephone support and access to TEC with an emphasis on loneliness and 
social isolation. 

• For Woodspring area addressing inequity of opportunities and outcomes derived 
from our rurality and large, older population. 

Page 48



9 
 

• Mobilisation of the North Somerset Ageing Well model focussed on prevention, pro-
active care and complex care (including dementia). Dementia carers support a local 
funding priority in BCF discharge grant.   

• Expansion of capacity in our reablement service, our virtual TEC hub, Home from 
Hospital service which will be expanded particularly to support Discharges from our 
Bristol Acutes to incorporate the Link Workers.  

• Continued commitment to Proud to Care, retention bonuses in domiciliary care 
retention fees and retainer payments for domiciliary care providers whilst client are in 
hospital. 

• Incentive payments for care homes to complete faster discharge assessments. 
These incentives, £250 per assessment and placement completed in 24 hours, was 
introduced this Winter with dramatic impact (length of placement time reduced by 
c25%) on LOS and will be maintained via BCF this year.   

• Despite the sizable contraction in headcount within ICB funding settlements, NSC 
and our two Locality Partnerships have agreed a jointly commissioned Service 
Development post to support progress on joint priorities and identify further joint 
commissioning opportunities.  

• The use of the Winters discharge grant to advance payment of pay awards for care 
workers has improved recruitment across the board and we have had great success 
across social media including local television and radio on our Proud to Care 
Campaign promoting the positives of working in care, particularly following the award 
of a local charismatic carer winning the national carer of the year award. 

• Current Retendering of domiciliary care contracts are designed on establishing two 
strategic provider partners for each Locality and boundaries co-terminus with each 
Locality. Access Your Care one of existing Strategic Partners, plays an active 
engagement role in Locality Partnership Business and in particular our local priority 
to upskill our local Care workforce. 

• The BCF has been used in the Winter to support these initiatives and collaboration 
with local strategic providers and Locality Partnership stakeholders creating a shared 
vision for collaboration across health and social care to develop a local care 
academy. Please refer to Appendix 4. 
 

Appendix 4. Local 
Care Academy.pptx  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 49



10 
 

5. National Condition 2 
 

BNSSG ICS is committed to ensuring our combined health and care resources are used to 
promote a Homefirst ethos, and has a suite of programmes from anticipatory care planning 
in the community, through to crisis response and facilitated discharge from Hospital. 
Following system wide research as part of the Better Care Fund support Programme in 
2022, we know there is opportunity to reduce the number of times an interim bed is chosen 
and increase rates of return to usual place of discharge. Our investment plans across 23/24 
and 24/25 include bolstering MDT working within the acute setting through establishment of 
new Transfer of Care hubs and increasing the complexity of our at home options to better 
meet the needs of service users including: investment in night sitting, and expansion of 
voluntary sector resources, increased home care options, alongside wider BNSSG Homefirst 
plans such as virtual wards and stroke community services 
 
The system’s focus on admission avoidance includes: 

• Development of the “Assessment and Coordination of Emergency and Urgent 
Care “(ACE) model being piloted in Q1 23/24 

• Enhanced Care Home support model  
• PCN Care co-ordination  

 
The Home First Portfolio is a group of change programmes that bring health and care 
partners together across the ICS to either keep people at home when they need extra 
support; or get people back home as quickly as possible if they need to be displaced from 
their home environment for their needs to be met. This might be unplanned and needed in 
response to managing an existing condition or a change in the home circumstances (e.g. 
carer or housing), as an alternative to being admitted to hospital, or to support an earlier 
discharge from hospital. 
 
The Home First Portfolio includes Discharge to Assess and NHS @ Home (virtual wards) 
alongside a range of programmes focused on specific conditions, for example CVD and end 
of life care.  
 
The Home First Portfolio aligns closely with the main Better Care Fund priorities to: provide 
people with the right care, in the right place at the right time and enable people to stay well, 

Page 50



11 
 

safe and independent for longer. Although the Better Care Fund covers all Intermediate Care 
services, in the last year the Department of Health and Social Care’s key focus has been on 
hospital discharge, and this will be a key focus for 2023/24 and 2024/25.  
 
 
The aim of the D2A Programme is to address the significant and urgent pressures on the 
health and social care system across BNSSG. These include: 
 

• Too many people in the BNSSG system are discharged from hospital into community 
beds. Many of these people could be treated in a home first setting with wrap around 
support with greater integration and joint working between health and social care 
services.  

• There are also too many people in hospital beds who no longer require acute medical 
care.  

• Delays and the high number of people in post-acute care beds is having a significant 
impact on our ability as a system to maintain hospital flow, reduce ambulance delays, 
and deliver elective recovery.  

• A number of areas to improve integration across D2A pathways in BNSSG and joint 
working between health and care services.  

• Average length of stay remains significantly higher than targeted across all D2A 
pathways.  

 
Following a Local Government Association Peer Review of hospital discharge pathways in 
Summer 2022, BNSSG received diagnostic support from the national Better Care Support 
Fund to understand the causes of these challenges and develop a long-term improvement 
plan. The diagnostic was carried out from July to November 2022.  
 
A refreshed system improvement and transformation plan is being developed via the D2A 
Programme with input from all system partners. Key priorities for investment identified 
following the diagnostic include: 
 

• Focusing the social care workforce in hospitals to achieve the cultural shift and 
reduce the number of times a non-ideal pathway is chosen (all 3 acutes sites have 
significant investment to establish multi-disciplinary transfer of care hubs). 

• Expanding domiciliary care/reablement to support anticipated increase in the Home 
First model 

• Matching community assessment and therapy/ case management support to the 
community short stay bed base to meet new capacity plans 

• Providing recurrent funding for VCSE infrastructure in the acutes and community to 
support extended use of Pathway 0 (support to go straight home from hospital).  

• Investing in change capacity to support delivery in the short term. 

 
Alongside this there is a key focus on Admission prevention and keeping people well and 
independent in the community: 
 

- There is an opportunity to avoid admissions/readmissions through high quality 
coordination of the response to urgent care needs in the community, combined with 
data-driven approaches to risk (identification of most at-risk patients) and increased 

Page 51



12 
 

capacity to proactively work with these patients and their families. This is a good 
example of community provider led innovation which will make a real difference and 
our intention is to prioritise system funds to enable this initiative.  

- The development of the ‘Assessment and Coordination of Emergency and urgent 
care’ (ACE) model is key example of this. This service brings together expertise from 
primary and community care, acute and social care providers to coordinate and 
enable an integrated community response for people with urgent care needs and 
complex comorbidity/ frailty. Early data evidences a significant reduction in 
admissions to hospital for the segment of our population, which utilises the largest 
proportion of our non-elective bed days  

- Care coordination across services in primary and community care on discharge 
based on care coordinators based in each PCN supporting patients on discharge and 
proactively work to prevent readmission.  These would develop into the frailty teams 
based on the South Somerset PCN anticipatory care frailty teams. 

- Care home support is also key building on the current wrap around support to care 
homes, incorporating the learning from North Bristol Care Home Interface Project 
(NCHIP) NCHIP model and the Weston model. This would help ensure quality 
support for care homes across BNSSG working with PCN’s. This would support both 
discharge into home and prevent admissions.   

- The wrap around support to the community beds including P3 beds needs to be 
enhanced as part of the development. 

 
 
Please refer to Appendix 5 which demonstrates the system’s approach to supporting people 
in BNSSG: 
 

Appendix 5. System 
approach.pptx  

 
Our health and care system is developing new models focused on keeping people at home 
when they need extra support; or getting people back home as quickly as possible if they 
need to leave their home environment for their needs to be met. There are five key pillars to 
our Home First approach in BNSSG: 

A. Anticipating people’s care and support needs and managing them proactively – this 
includes through advance care planning, multi-disciplinary teams across health and 
social care focused on people’s needs in the community, providing enhanced health 
support to care homes, investing in greater use of technology enabled care and 
maximising the use of local community assets through locality working. 

B. Coordinated response to events or changes in a person’s needs – this includes 
through setting up a multi-disciplinary ACE-F (assessment and coordination for 
emergency and urgent care for people with frailty). This is a co-located hub that 
brings together. The aim for ACE-F now is to include social care as well. The co-
located ACE hub brings together clinical and social care expertise as a ‘team of 
teams’, working across traditional provider and service boundaries to coordinate 
urgent care responses tailored to individuals’ needs. It is hoped this can support 
urgent care in the community wherever possible and appropriate. Person-centred 
care, trusted assessment, shared decision making, risk-sharing, and management of 
uncertainty are fundamental aspects of this approach. 

C. Deploying coordinated home first services to meet people’s needs at home where 

Page 52



13 
 

they need additional support, as outlined in B above. 
D. Providing acute care at home where possible – for example through the development 

of step up and step down virtual wards for people who require acute medical care but 
are able to remain at home or return home from hospital and continue to receive 
acute medical care, rehabilitation support and in some cases short term live in care 
before they are medically fit. 

E. Home after hospital – we have invested significantly in improved processes and 
pathways to allow more people to return home following a hospital stay under 
Pathway 0 and Pathway 1.  

  
In January we sent practices across BNSSG a list of patients who met an eligibility criterion 
(As defined by NHSE Anticipatory Care and high impact user definitions), and who were 
missing one of a small number of evidence-based interventions over the winter period to 
support their health and wellbeing. 3711 patients were included in the lists across 70 
practices. The list was ranked by patient score, which searches for how many of the 
following interventions the patient has not received (score out of 6):  

• Flu/Pneumococcal vaccine in the last six months  
• 12+ repeat polypharmacy and not having had a structured medication review  
• A chronic disease review (for those in the cohort with one or more of COPD, 
diabetes and congestive heart disease  
• Completing a Respect Form  

Providing an “impact ability” rating showing not just patients at risk but those for whom the 
most could be done to help. The aim was that focusing on these patients will enable them to 
avoid becoming ill over winter and/or to stay at home safe and independent for longer.   
Completing the interventions required MDTs at PCN or practice level to deliver the most 
suitable intervention to the identified patients.   
Current results 1241 (or 33.4%) patients on these lists saw their intervention score decrease 
by at least 1. With over 200 seeing their score drop by 2.  
  
  
 
North Somerset  
 
Aligned to the system wide progress outlined above local developments have included: 
 
Dementia Pilot: 
The BCF discharge grant has been used to match fund NSC funding for a six-month test and 
learn short-term intervention service, non-clinical, focused on: 

•  Diverting people who would now be discharged to Pathway 3 instead of discharge to 
P1 with intensive support to return home  

• Testing a “Reablement” approach to avoid packages increasing 

• Avoiding hospital or care home admission/ readmission  

• Based on best practice for people living with dementia at home, utilisation of TEC, 
and the upskilling care staff in dementia and support for carers 

• Supporting crises intervention and exploring night time cover arrangements 
  
A ley priority for the last year has been the development of Integrated Mental Team (IMHT) 
within both localities, albeit not directly funded by the BCF, these has been developed to 
reinvent how we provide people with the wrap-around care and support they need, to address 

Page 53



14 
 

poor physical and mental health - and more broadly - social care needs, access to public 
funds, education, employment and more constructive interactions with the wider system such 
as criminal justice. 
The IMHT will support the person to co-produce a plan that, with the support of their lead 
coordinator, will help them to smoothly navigate systems and access the support they need. 
 
Direct Payments and Discharge Support Grant  
 
NSC has funded via separate sources a Project post to encourage direct payment take-up, 
this has focused on operational barriers to take up, and has seen significant increases in 
direct payments rates for paid carers. Similarly, Sirona have launched a pilot discharge 
support grant scheme with aims to help improve ‘flow’ through local hospitals and free up 
beds for those who are medically unwell, by covering the minor costs associated with 
bringing a loved one home following their discharge. 
It can be used to support the costs of childcare support, pet care, carers breaks or 
equipment. Funding can also pay for short-term personal care from a self-employed 
personal assistant to help with day-to-day activities or it may be possible for a family 
member or friend to be supported to provide care. 
As part of the DSG agenda are reviewing our local offer to: 

•  Support an increase in the number of people who could be discharged from hospital, 
enabling them to recover in a more comfortable home environment and releasing the 
beds to others who need them, we are extending this to mental health acute services 
with a referral pathway now in place.  

• Relieve pressure on commissioned community services by enabling people to design 
and fund new, personalised & bespoke solutions working with the discharged 
person’s friends and family to identify the best options and coproduce good solutions 
for care and support, we have been proactive in-reaching to community rehabilitation 
units across the BNSSG area to listen to individual need and where the DSG may be 
utilised to improve a person and their families quality of life.  

• Promote personalised agenda  

• Proactively help grow a new workforce by empowering local people in their 
communities to provide support to people leaving hospital, which supports inclusive 
growth & climate change  

• Promote ‘describe’ not ‘prescribe’ ethos by identifying specific needs 

• Test new ways of working by employing self-employed PAs to provide personal care 
  
Information and Advice 
 
Access to information on care and community services is essential to carers and families as 
well as the network of social prescribers across the health and social care network. A refresh 
of North Somerset’s Online Directory is recognised to improve information and Voluntary 
Action North Somerset have been commissioned to refresh and own the ongoing update of 
stakeholder's information. An engagement piece is underway as part of our Locality 
Partnership joint priorities to look at integrating the system requirements of the Partnership 
whilst improving and enhancing our Care Act information and advice requirements. An 
emergency but still to be finalised direction of travel is to consolidate the requirements on a 
single Information and advice platform MIDOS, currently being implemented in South 
Gloucester and Bristol 

Page 54



15 
 

 
Integration and Co Location: 
North Somerset has single joint services for brokerage and Quality Assurance across North 
Somerset, trusted assessment is in place with our reablement and therapy teams working 
closely with Sirona on MDM decision making and moving to avoid duplication of provision 
across the intermediate care space. Joint commissioning is standard for contracts as is 
coterminous contracts and operational teams' boundaries for Sirona and social work teams 
based on the two locality partnerships. As referenced elsewhere, a jointly commissioned 
service development post is being recruited. Operational teams are co located at Clevedon 
office as is our reablement and HFH provider as part of the MDM process and the transfer of 
care hub will integrate and co-locate the same services in Weston General.     
 
 
 
 
 

6. National Condition 2 (cont) 
 

 
 
 
Hospital demand was calculated using demand for P1-P3 has been calculated using last 
years hospital discharges. The LGA review identified that 58% of P3 patients were more 
appropriate for P2, 61% P2 would have been better on a P1 pathway and 40% of P1s 
should have been P0. The demand profile next year includes a shift towards these more 
ideal patient outcomes achieving 20% of the shift by the end of the year and will ensure that 
all patients are receiving the correct care by the end of 24/25. P0 Demand includes the 

Page 55



16 
 

patients who would previously have received P1 support as well as demand for Red Cross, 
Home from Hospital, Link Workers and DSGs. 
 
Community demand includes demand for both 2 hour emergency response and 24 hour 
response. Providing data for demand and capacity has been complex as the UCR 24 hour 
response pathway is being remodelled in 23/24 as a result of the uplift. For the UCR 24 hour 
response we have assumed that Q1 and Q2 are spent developing the model and 
undertaking recruitment to additional posts, with the expectation that we can achieve a 6.5% 
uplift in Q3 working to a 13% uplift in capacity in Q4. This will be reviewed in line with 
recruitment progress and be subject to change depending upon how successful recruitment 
is. 
 
Capacity Hospital Discharge for pathways 1-3 has been calculated using the Maximum 
commissioned Activity / beds then applying the current LOS and occupancy rate to give the 
capacity for new patients each month. We have then factored in a 10% improvement in LOS 
in Q3 and a 25% improvement in LOS in Q4 for P2 and P3 only. We are unable to split 
Between reablement and rehab so have included all capacity under rehab. P0 includes Red 
Cross, Home from Hospital, Link Workers and DSGs. 
 
Community capacity. Social support data has been provided by the Red Cross. Urgent 
community response has been calculated using the methodology above and also includes 
elements that are provided by North Somerset council. A full breakdown of all calculations 
and contributions is available if required. 
 
 
 
 

7. National Condition 2 (cont) 
 

 
 
 
Under National condition section 2 we have described how the BNSSG Discharge to Assess 
improvement programme will contribute to the reduce the number of over 65s whose long-
term support needs were met by admission to residential and nursing care homes. 
 
 
BNSSG already meets the national standard for 70% of UCR referrals receiving a response 
within two hours. The service is in place 8-8, 7 days a week across all six of the BNSSG 
localities, including provision of a level 2 falls service.  Work locally is therefore focussed on 

Page 56



17 
 

reviewing referrals pathways and ensuring the potential of the service is maximised by other 
community clinicians including 111, 999 and general practice.  The UCR service since its 
inception in 2020 has been open to self-referrals and referrals from family and carers 
directly via the community single point of access (SPA); such referrals represent 
approximately 80% of current demand. An analysis of referrals in the first half of 22/23 
showed good uptake by individuals (or their carers/ families) on the community caseload, 
but very low referrals from 111 and 999 in particularly.   

GP referrals are established but local intelligence suggests that more same day (rather than 
2 hour) capacity is required to satisfy potential demand from within general practice (see 
below).  It is important to note that this increase in UCR capacity will sit outside activity 
coded within the 2 hour service, but will nevertheless represent a significant increase in 
same-day capacity which is known to be a rate-limiting factor for community admission 
avoidance referrals from various system providers.   

Within BNSSG’s operational plan for 23/24, the ICS is recurrently funding additional 
advanced clinical practitioner (ACP) capacity within the community single point of access to 
respond directly to healthcare professional referrals, which will support referrals from any 
clinicians including within SWAST, 111 and ED.  This was the subject of a 999-focussed 
pilot in Q3 22/23 which showed a 27% increase in referrals from paramedics on scene, and 
initiative of referrals from clinicians within the 999-emergency operations centre (call 
centre).  Early data shows that 69% of referrals have converted to referral to the UCR 2-
hour or same day teams. This pilot has been supported by significant communications and 
engagement with SWAST to establish this pathway.  Extrapolated across the year this has 
the potential to avoid over 1,000 conveyances to ED. 

A priority in 23/24 will be moving to the third phase of this initiative and establish a digital 
referral pathway from 111 to the UCR team via the SPA 111 referrals.  This will be a test 
and learn approach to determine the relative merits of this versus integrating capacity from 
the SPA into the Clinical Assessment Service (CAS) within 111. 

As referenced above, local intelligence from general practice and community teams suggest 
that more same day (rather than 2 hour) capacity could further increase community 
admissions avoidance capacity within BNSSG.  This is partly based on historical 
configurations of community teams in Bristol and the ‘rapid response’ model.  Initial 
modelling shows that increasing this capacity within UCR could recurrently respond to an 
additional 2,500 referrals a year, releasing the equivalent of 17 G&A beds.  Significant 
funding for this increase has been included in BNSSG’s additional investment plan 
submission, representing a substantial commitment to community-based alternatives to 
admission.  The workforce requirements for this increase are also significant (see workforce 
section above) and are predicated on delivery of a local development model for Band 6 
nurses within BNSSG, which develops the competencies for individuals to attain ACP status 
within 12-18 months.  This has proven successful in BNSSG to date, with recruitment and 
retention of B6 nurses showing more success than for already-qualified ACPs.  

Increasing referrals from local authority level 1 falls teams and pendant alarms companies 
has also been a focus of improvement in 22/23. Engagement with local authority teams and 
a review of referrals data and pathways highlighted the need to establish referral pathways 
in Bristol and South Gloucestershire to the Sirona UCR teams for Level 2 falls, both from ‘on 
scene’ falls responders, and from falls coordination hubs.  To address this, the Sirona falls 
team have rolled out in Q3 a ‘traffic light’ tool to support the triage of individuals who have 
fallen, into Level 1,2, or 3 services. Critically this will support greater utilisation of UCR for 
Level 2 falls, where existing pathways are geared towards a 999 response which is 
potentially avoidable.  

Page 57



18 
 

Specifically, in North Somerset the First Response pilot referenced elsewhere, has had 
fantastic outcomes in its pilot phase and is an Ageing Well as well as BCF priority for 
permanent funding to expand capacity beyond those supported by the LA Carelink pendant. 
This will expand on the existing NSC commission to support callers relating to our pendant 
alarm service.  

The UCR service is also a key component of another integrated community initiatives 
focussed on UEC: the community emergency medicine service (CEMS) (further detail 
below) is being funded recurrently within BNSSG and the UCR service is a key ‘receiving’ 
team for individuals seen physically or remotely by the emergency medicine consultant 
working within the ambulance service.  

In addition to the UCR-specific investments summarised above, BNSSG has agreed to 
recurrently fund a range of initiatives in 23/24 that aim to support delivery of the UEC 
Recovery Plan with respect to admitted pathways. 

These are summarised below: 

1) SDEC expansion at BRI, Southmead and Weston Hospitals.  Recurrent 
investment of £3.7m is planned to support the acute trusts to build on the 
capacity increases made during Winter 22/23 and consolidate a seven-day 
service offering covering 12 hours per day.  This includes medical and 
surgical SDEC at all three acute sites.  The forecast benefit is equivalent to 
33 G&A beds. Paediatric SDEC is being scoped by the BRHC using the 
BNSSG SDEC network, however early indications show that a large volume 
of appropriate SDEC is being undertaken within the emergency zone, and 
therefore the local priority is to alleviate capacity in ED resulting from minor 
acuity presentations that can be seen in an alternative setting (see below). 

 

2) Community Emergency Medicine Service – following a pilot in Q3/4 2022/23, 
this service will be recurrently funded from October 2023. The service 
marries a senior ED clinician with a paramedic, vehicle and nursing/ UCR 
support to respond to the highest acuity cases on the 999-call stack that are 
deemed to be avoidable in terms of conveyance to ED.  The pilot showed 
that around 80% of cases avoided ED, 60% avoiding a conveyance 
altogether.  The service has the potential to avoid 300 admissions in the 
second half of 23/24. 

 
3) Increasing capacity within the System Clinical Assessment Service (SCAS) – 

this clinical service provides off-pathways remote assessment of 111 cases, 
and was increased in 22/23 and subject to a full evaluation which showed 
significant reductions onward demand for 111 cases: both for Category 3_4 
cases, and ETC dispositions.  In 23/24 BNSSG will expand the service 
according to a graduated ramp up in recruitment to shifts, moving to a seven-
day service from Q3. The £1.5m investment will avoid an additional 1,320 
ambulance dispatches over 22/23, releasing 9 additional G&A beds, and 
preventing 7,100 calls being passed to SWAST.  

 

 

Page 58



19 
 

8. National Condition 3 

 
The system has been working collectively to reduce discharge delays in all pathways.   

• NBT and UHBW have focussed in 2022/23 on internal flow processes via the 
NBT Perform Programme and UHBW Every Minute Matters this work has been 
built into the transfer of care hubs that are being developed in quarter 1 of 23/24. 

• The system recurrently invested into Discharge to Assess Business Case in 
21/22, being supported by LGA review, the system has amended the business 
case to reflect the learning in 22/23. 

 

 
The LOS for pathways 1-3 and % of NCTR in the acutes has reduced from December 22.  
This has been as a result of the actions taken within the acute hospitals to help facilitate 
earlier referral for D2A support, the impact of the D2A programme and additional capacity 
provided through the ASC discharge fund and NHS winter allocation.  

Page 59



20 
 

During this period we have seen waiting list clearance most notably in the P1 waiting list, but 
also a shift of patients discharged from pathway 0 to discharge 1 which is under review. 
 
Prioritisation of Additional discharge funding was via a Discharge to Assess system 
governance, with partner options evaluated under one framework approach and based on 
lesson learnt associated with the 22/23 short term ASC non recurrent funding: 

 
 
Recommendations: 

1. Options in line with the BCFS diagnostic were funded:  
• Expand domiciliary care/reablement to support Home First model and 

complement the planned shift away from bedded community capacity 
• Uplifting the P3 staffing model (case management, therapy input) and LA 

assessment capacity to match 250 recurrent beds. Assessment delays in P3 
caseload are the primary cause of NC2R in the community and therefore new 
funding comes with new operational targets for improving Pathway 3 
community length of stay. 

• Recurrent funding for VCSE infrastructure in the acutes and community to 
support extended use of Pathway 0   

• Change capacity to support delivery  
 

The D2A programme through its use of the Better Care Support Fund diagnostic has 
identified priority actions that do not simply rely on increasing the supply of care, instead 
recognising the opportunity that exists to streamline processes and improve decision making 
(increase in ideal outcomes) that will lead to better use of pre-existing System capacity – not 
simply an approach to increasing capacity given workforce issues. 

 

North Somerset Local Services  
 

3 

LGA Steering Group: evaluation criteria for D2A proposals

• Measure: number of people that go into P2/P3 beds or long term care 
• Potential evidence: number of inappropriate outcomes driven by reason and how the solution will improve this

1 . Outcomes impact

• Measure: acute bed days saved (plus reduced acute/community NC2R) 
• Potential evidence: how a solution might affect length of stay and the number of bed days used, based on how 

many beds are currently lost to that specific problem

2. Operational impact

• Measure: net cost/benefit to the system 
• Potential evidence: evaluation of investment needed and size and timeline of benefit delivery

3. Financial impact

• Measure: ability to deliver by end 24/25 based on assumptions e.g. recruitment 
• Potential evidence: delivery timeline and key assumptions relating to staffing or other factors

4. Delivery feasibility

Page 60



21 
 

 
• We have continued to invest via the BCF and other sources in our prevention infrastructure to 
support hospital discharge and to maximise the independence of our residents. These services 
are summarised in the attached document and have been critical in achieving significant 
improvements in LOS numbers since last Winter, enhancing the options available to local MDT 
decision making.   
• Adult Social Care uses a person-centred strength base approach to practice through 
multidisciplinary teams embedded in place, using a 3 conversations approach. Teams work 
closely with Health and other partners through MDTs, best outcomes for individuals.  
• Access Your Care our reablement provider and operator of our Wellness and Rapid 
Response services and Alliance Homes our Home from Hospital service provider are actively 
engaged in these MDT’s the Home from Hospital service will be a key link in social prescribing 
terms to the wider Community VCSE sector via the North Somerset Together Virtual Hub. Our 
TEC service is also part of the MDT process.  The service is looking to further develop 
Technology Enabled Care support and DFG and OT Housing Adaptations and Rapid Response 
services as part of Locality Intermediate models of care. Please refer to Appendix 6: 
 

Appendix 6. 
20230323 NSC Services for ACE V2.xlsx 
 
 
 
Of these services two are particularly key, and more detail provided below: 
 
 
 
Home from Hospital -  

• A small team of support workers based at the hospital and actively involved in the local 
MDM’s supporting hospital discharge arrangements. This service was created a decade 
ago but has continued to expand, it is managed by Alliance Homes as part of a wider 
Housing Floating Support service, this service will be expanded by the introduction of 
the 4 link workers funded in the Discharge Grant and work closely with the new Transfer 
of Care Hub. 

•  In 2022/23 the team dealt with 832 total referrals, and themselves made 365 ongoing 
carers referrals and onward referrals in total of 835.  

• During the year the service undertook 30 deep cleanse and issued over £1,000 of 
emergency cost of living payments to families on discharge to support with fuel costs. 
Please refer to Appendix 7 and 8 below for information about two recent case studies 
from the service. 

 

Appendix 7. R24 Case 
Study 1 - Slide.pptx

Appendix 8. R24 Case 
Study 2 - Slide.pptx  

 
First Response  
 
A shared priority across our two localities evidenced by population health management, was 
to improve the response to falls, enhance outcomes and experience for individuals who fall, 
and increase system efficiency. Currently, residents with care link pendants who fall receive 
a timely response from Access Your Care (AYC), an independent care provider funded by 

Page 61



22 
 

North Somerset Council. However, many of these cases were escalated to the ambulance 
service, resulting in long waits for help and unnecessary conveyance to the Emergency 
Department (ED) and hospital admissions. 
  
By collaborating with NSC, AYC and Care Link (CL), Sirona clinical teams and utilising the 
NHS England SWAST falls traffic light assessment tool, the partnerships aimed to provide a 
more efficient and effective falls response service. 
The partnership approach has enabled each partner to bring its expertise into a holistic 
joined up offer for the person on the end of the falls service, rather than the traditional 
boundaries just doing one element of a pathway. Considerations about governance, care 
records, indemnity and risk management across the parties have been agreed and resolved 
through strong relationships established through closer partnership working.   
 The key teams and roles include: 
• Woodspring and Weston Integrated Neighbourhood Teams (INT): Responsible for 
coordinating the overall falls response service, providing clinical advice, and dispatching 
appropriate clinicians to support individuals who fall. 
• Access Your Care (AYC): An independent care provider that responds to falls and 
refers individuals in the amber category to the Woodspring INT. 
• Care Link (CL): Works in partnership with AYC to identify individuals in need of falls 
response services and refer them to AYC. 
The planning includes real-time call passing from SPA to the Woodspring coordination 
centre, the use of the SWAST falls assessment form by AYC, and data collection by AYC, 
Care Link, and Sirona to monitor referrals, and ambulance service calls prevented. The 
targets include achieving a timely response within 2 hours for assisting individuals off the 
floor and completing necessary follow-up visits within 24 hours. Financial goals look to 
optimise the use of ambulance services by redirecting non-urgent cases to the UCR service, 
reducing unnecessary conveyances and associated costs. The First Response partnership 
has added significant value to services by increasing capacity, efficiency, and sharing of 
information. By utilising the SWAST falls traffic light assessment tool, the partners have 
established a standardised and evidence-based approach to assessing falls.  This tool 
ensures that the appropriate level of response is provided based on the severity of the fall, 
enabling efficient allocation of resources. The BCF and a top slice from Anticipatory Care 
funding, will share the cost of expanding this service to all citizens of North Somerset, which 
will provide an urgent responsive care capacity particularly at night, to not only support 
reduction in hospital discharge pathways levels but encourage a broader utilisation of TEC 
monitoring devices as our ability to respond to heightened risks, particularly given our 
development of centralised monitoring for TEC. Please refer to Appendix 9: 
 

Appendix 9. 
Outcomes from Pilot.docx 
 
Please refer to Appendix 10 for more information: 

Appendix 10. Ageing 
Well Patient Story.pptx 
 
 

Page 62



23 
 

Population Health Management Approaches 
 
Across BNSSG, and through the North Somerset Locality Partnership, population health 
management is being further developed based on data and shared information, enabling the 
focus of activity. These approaches are fundamentally impacting on local prioritisation and 
work such as our prevention fund and ageing well. A BNSSG core segmentation model has 
been developed using the Cambridge Multimorbidity Score (CMS), which has allowed us to 
explore the health needs of the population and to identify health inequalities that affect 
people in North Somerset. A CMS scored is calculated for each individual and assigns a 
segment based on their scores, with Segment 1 containing the healthiest members of the 
population and segment 5 the least healthy, with Segment 5 being the smallest proportion of 
the population, but with the highest annual spend per person, representing over 20% of the 
total spend. As part of our work on Proactive Care, those in segments 4 and 5 are 
considered to match the criteria set out in the draft Anticipatory Care framework from NHS 
England, which focuses on specific populations:  

• Those with multiple long term conditions including frailty. 
• Those at greatest risk of using unplanned or emergency care. 

 
Please refer to Appendix 11 for further insight: 
 

Appendix 11. North 
Somerset Insight.pptx 
 
 
Prevention  
 
 
Our Vision for Adult Social Care, “Maximising Independence and Wellbeing”, sets out how it 
would promote wellbeing by helping people in North Somerset to be as independent as 
possible, for as long possible. To deliver our Vision, we are committed to work closely with 
people with care and support needs, their families, partner agencies, as well as the voluntary 
and community sector. Our aim is to empower communities, build relationships and strengthen 
networks to achieve the best possible outcomes for people with care and support needs.   
There are various approaches utilised in the delivery of social services, by staff and this is 
expected to be passed on to commissioned providers in the spirit of commitment and 
accountability to our principles.   
  
As part of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy we aim to always take a Home First Approach, 
as we know that people do better in their own environments, and this applies to hospital 
discharges as well as longer term care provision. Independence is the ultimate aim and what 
we can do to help people achieve their goals in remaining as independent for as long as 
possible, with support if needed 
 
 
Drugs and Alcohol 
 
Drug and alcohol misuse are drivers of inequalities and a risk factor for poor health 
throughout the life course. They are system issues and as such need to be tackled as a 
system. The funding from the ICB through the Better Care Fund Funding is for specialist 
drug and alcohol misuse services in the community to reduce harm across that system. 
Following publication of the National Drug Strategy 2021 – From Harm to Hope, the 
Government set out a requirement for all areas to develop a Combatting Drugs Partnership), 

Page 63



24 
 

that would include a comprehensive group of partners from across the system to tackle drug 
and alcohol harm.  
 
Digitalisation and TEC  
 
Work in North Somerset includes: 

 
• Working to develop and address digital Maturity in Care Homes, via last year’s 

Innovation Grant mechanism, care home compliance with digital social care records 
is well over 70% in North Somerset.  

• Engagement with Partners in VSCE sector in replacing North Somerset Online 
Directory with a new integrated information portal, serviced by Voluntary Action 
North Somerset, but to include information services for Health and social care.  

• Increased use of Technology Enabled Care in care Home with the Acoustic 
Monitoring and an innovative investment in centralised monitoring team linked to our 
Rapid Response/First Response service which will monitor a range of pioneering 
TEC options. Linking Primary Care, community nursing, and social care in the 
community.  

• Discharge funding to bolster our virtual TEC hub with referral routes for reablement 
and DTA pathways including a new pilot deployment of Genie Connect.. 

• The establishment of additional 24/7 capacity from the merger of the Wellness 
/Rapid Response service, the central monitoring of TEC service and permanent 
funding of our First Response pilot, will give us the opportunity to mainstream TEC 
solutions to reduce reliance on formal responsive care and increase the opportunity 
to reduce pathway tariffs.    

  
Climate Emergency 
 
North Somerset is committed to measures aimed at carbon reduction, last year our 
Innovation Grant supported Care Providers with a series of financial incentives to invest in 
measures to support carbon reduction, A fund of £1,2m was used to support care providers 
with TEC investments aimed at reducing care visit, investing in e-bikes to reduce waste and 
widen recruitment in urban areas, contributions to care home’s investing in energy efficient 
boilers and solar panels.  This process was well received and subject to future funding 
opportunities NSC is keen to replicate the process.  
 
 
  

Page 64



25 
 

9. National Condition 3 (cont) 

 
All ICS partners agree based on the Better Care Fund Support diagnostic conducted in 
2022/23 that too often the right people are not being discharged through the right pathways 
and there are significant opportunities for improvement. Our focus as a system is therefore 
concentrated on process improvements, as well as addressing capacity and demand gaps. 
 
Case reviews carried out in Autumn 2022 identified that: 

• 40% of people discharged onto P1 could have gone home on Pathway 0 
• 62% of people discharged onto Pathway 2 could have gone home on Pathway 1  
• For 58% of people discharged into Pathway 3, this was not the ideal pathway  

 
 

Page 65



26 
 

People not going down the right pathways is also driving poor long term outcomes for 
individuals and avoidable spend on long term care placements by our Local Authorities: 

• 34% of people who are discharged to pathways 1 & 2 have a non-ideal long term 
outcome 

• Of the people who went to short term interim placement (P3), 80% had a non-ideal 
outcome.  

• 32% of people in receipt of homecare after D2A had too much, meaning that 25% of 
homecare commissioned (hours) following a D2A pathway was avoidable 

• Over half of all long term care home placements following P2 or P3 could have been 
avoided and the individual could have been at home (50% for residential, 54% for 
nursing) 

• 84% could have left hospital sooner, reducing average LoS from 29.1to 13.2 days. 
Half of the no CTR is driven by capacity. But half is driven by process delay and 
starting discharge planning too late. 

 
 
As a result of the above findings decision-making has been identified as a key area for 
improvement alongside the development of more integrated pathways that make best use of 
existing capacity.   
 
The BNSSG 23/24 & 24/25 D2A improvement plans have 3 prioritised benefits: 

• Occupying 200 less acute beds at any one time through reductions in total no criteria 
to reside bed days (focusing on both process delays across all Pathways (P0 to P3) 
as well as capacity blockages 

• Maintaining a stable BNSSG community bed base of 250 P2 and P3 beds (with 
seasonal profiling to support winter system management); this represents a reduction 
of 72 beds vs baseline of Nov 21 to Oct 22)  

 

• Reducing long term care placements (112 avoidable placement starts per annum 
across BNSSG) 
 

By reducing the number of non-ideal pathway choices, the community capacity will see shifts 
in discharge numbers from hospital away from P1 to P0 supported by increased contracting 
recurrently of voluntary sector partners and a reduction in bedded pathways to a Home First 
model. The shifts in activity have been reflected in the BCF capacity and demand templates. 
 
To meet the needs of people who have to date received community bedded care in their 
usual place of residence, health and care teams are required to increase the complexity of 
the Home First offer: including more night sitting, greater integration between health and 
care teams to provide the right care at the right time, and a blended pathway with virtual 
wards were appropriate. In addition, the system has planned for an uplift in homecare 
capacity (total need modelled at c. 2,300 additional care hours across BNSSG). 
 

Page 66



27 
 

Please refer to Appendix 12 for more information: 

Appendix 12. What 
we need to change.pptx 
 
 
North Somerset: 
 
One frustration with the LGA findings was the lack of local analysis, as whilst we concur with 
the findings and the actions recommended. Namely to reduce LOS and bedded care in DTA 
discharge pathways, the modelling of this change is very different between the three 
authorities, which recognises the historically a much lower bed base has operated in North 
Somerset.  
 

LGA Predicted Bed shift over the months 

  Bristol NS SG 
Month P2 P3 P2 P3 P2 P3 

Mar-23 102 72 28 39 61 37 
Apr-23 102 72 28 39 61 37 

May-23 98 67 29 37 58 35 
Jun-23 94 62 31 34 54 33 
Jul-23 90 58 33 31 50 31 

Aug-23 86 54 35 29 46 29 
Sep-23 82 50 37 27 42 26 
Oct-23 77 46 39 25 39 24 

 
 
North Somerset has seen a continued growth in take up of its prevention services and the 
First Response service provided critical support particularly during periods of Industrial 
Action, and since Xmas performance in North Somerset in terms of LOS at the Acutes and 
community services have improved significantly and had not diminished on the closure of the 
Care Hotel. Enhancing P0 take up for our main hospital location in Weston given its age 
weighted profile is essential and the focus of both the BCF and other funding sources. 
Domiciliary care recruitment has improved in the New Year and our reablement service 
expanded from the original 2021 DTA business case is continuing to exceed targets. As part 
of our reablement contract, additional capacity is actively being recruited as a bridging 
service to hold domiciliary care capacity during any delays in hand off to our strategic 
domiciliary care providers. This capacity will provide additional assurance that this Winter 
performance can be maintained. Bedded capacity remains throughout the Spring 
welcomingly underutilised, which suggests we go into the Winter planning round with 
renewed confidence. The MDM process in North Somerset has embedded well, with HFH, 
AYC and TEC active in the decision making. Trusted assessment with Sirona has led to 
faster handover of packages and our intermediate care beds pilot in the Winter has seen 
some excellent outcomes, with ten beds across two local homes utilising LA OT capacity 
and AYC; s reablement staff, to support independence and cascade skills to care home staff.     
Given the bed reduction trajectory is modest and the LOS performances have already 

Page 67



28 
 

improved, we are confidence that the continued expansion of our preventative services, the 
take up of TEC and expansion of Home from Hospital, First Response and the Transfer of 
Care Hubs will make a difference and we will exceed the LGA outcomes.  
 
 
 
 

10. National Condition 3 (cont) 
 

 
 

• Transfer of Care Hubs (ToCH) will adopt Home First approach  

• Robust internal governance established with further reporting into system 

• Development of a milestone plan which includes all partners high level deliverables 

• ToCH’s developing models of care with system partners 

• Development of a Shared Vision for ToCH  

• Development of an operational agreed dashboard for real time flow management 

• Create a senior leadership team within the ToCH encompassing all partners, with a 
focus on improvement opportunities – data driven 

• Focus on maximising P0 opportunities by working collaboratively with VCSE 

• Working with VCSE to provide a longer term model of care for supporting patients 
following discharge to ensure effective use of P1 resources 
 

Please refer to Appendix 13 for more information on ToCH’s: 

Appendix 13. 
Transfer of Care Hubs.pptx 
 
ToCH’s are being developed in collaboration with all partners, including primary, community, 
VCSE and local authorities organisations.  The interface with primary care is in the design 
phase, with other partners, including VCSE organisations, are incorporated into the design of 
the hub staffing models. 
 
 
 
 

11. National Condition 3 (cont) 

Page 68



29 
 

 
Work on the BNSSG Home First approach has been informed by use of the High Impact 
Change Model, to improve our performance, as follows.  As part of these changes, we have 
developed and a milestone plan which includes all partners high level deliverables.  

• Early discharge planning:   
Work is focusing on introduction of Transfer of Care Hubs, following our successful pilot in-
reach team.  The vision and model of care is being developed across all partners. Link 
officers will expand on the existing success of the HFH service 

• Monitoring and responding to system demand and capacity:   
Development of an operational agreed dashboard for real time flow management in addition 
to our daily system flow meetings that include all partners. The bridging service will provide 
additional capacity in domiciliary care to address challenges flexibly as will earmarking 
contingency Winter Pressures funding to respond to unexpected demand or supply issues 
rather than rely on less effective and expensive contingencies such as Care Hotel or 
additional bed capacity.   

• Multi-disciplinary working:   
Improved through Transfer of Care hubs, virtual wards, and locally based MDTs.   

• Home First:  
System wide Home First Programme as set out in this plan. Robust internal governance 
established with further reporting into system, and data driven performance.  

• Flexible working patterns.  
The transfer of care hub posts will be recruited on a seven day basis ensuring contractual 
commitment to support a seven day service. Similarly assessment incentives will reward 
weekend and Bank Holiday discharges.  

• Trusted assessment.   
Support for Trusted Assessment by care homes has been mixed, in comparison the pilot 
adopted this Winter of incentivising same day assessments and weekend discharges, has 
been welcomed and seen end to end placement times reduce by more than a quarter.  
 
Through the P1 enabling infrastructure we are focussed on new ways of working that offer 
improved outcomes for people, improved satisfaction for staff, supporting the strategic aims 
of the system.  As part of this work and the diagnostic carried out by Ethical HealthCare, we 
intend to improve relationships, culture and trust across organisations and staff groups.  This 
supports the conditions required to develop trusted assessment opportunities, reducing data 
/ assessment burden and improving efficiency of process with the intended outcome of a 
smoother journey for people requiring home-based intermediate care. 
 

• Engagement and choice: improved partnership with VCSE and their expertise 
Focus on maximising P0 opportunities by working collaboratively with VCSE.  

• Working with VCSE to provide a longer-term model of care for supporting patients 
following discharge to ensure effective use of P1 resources.  

• Engagement and choice: improved partnership with VCSE and their expertise  
This work focused on HFH service is a mature and effective service which will be bolstered 

Page 69



30 
 

by the Link Officers and Virtual Community Hub. 
 
 
 

12. National Condition 3 (cont) 

 
The Winter Discharge grant and other grant allocations have strengthened our social work 
capacity to address previous challenges in completing assessments as timely as desired. 
Recruitment to four additional social work posts last Winter and the additional social work 
and therapy capacity emerging from the Transfer of Care Hubs have contributed to much 
improved LOS performance and generally we are confident that Care Act assessments will 
be completed timely and professional social work and therapy support at the hospital will 
assist with flow and enhance decision making.  
 
As referenced earlier our refresh of our information and advice services and work with the 
VCSE sector generally will support timely and better-informed decision making.  
 
 
 
Supporting unpaid carers 

 
 
Please refer to Appendix 14 for North Somerset insight relating to carers: 

Appendix 14. Carers - 
North Somerset Insight.pptx 
 
 
Unpaid Carers  
Carers assessments are completed by NSC in house teams whilst Carers support and 
development are commissioned via Alliance. A key priority in the Carers Strategy is to 
improve carer identification across health, social care, and the wider community. This 
includes Young Carers under 18. The NHS Commitment to Carers and its Long-Term Plan 
(para 1.19) states that a framework of quality markers will be introduced for GP practices to 
improve identification and support in primary care. Research evidences that caring is a 
social determinant of health . Carers told us that they need GP practices to allow them to 
book forward appointments to enable them to arrange replacement care for the person they 
care for. The Action Plan will involve working with BNSSG to communicate to practices the 
need for this. We want to ensure there is no ‘wrong door’ to a carer getting support by 
improving identification including through GP practices and hospital attendance.  
Another priority is that carers and the person they support will have access to services 

Page 70

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/971115/Caring_as_a_social_determinant_report.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/971115/Caring_as_a_social_determinant_report.pdf


31 
 

support them, and carers will have access to breaks for themselves. This is key to carers 
being supported to take care of their own health and wellbeing. Within this is the need for 
contingency planning. This ties into the NHS Commitment to Carers and Long Term Plan 
(para 2.34) which states that carers will be aware of their options for out-of-hours support 
through contingency planning conversations. The Strategy’s Action Plan aims to promote 
contingency planning with carers in social care. If the NHS is willing to engage on this by 
staff in health settings promoting contingency planning, it will meet their commitment too.  
 
Carers tell us they want to see a more joined-up health and social care system to improve 
their experience of using these. The challenges of obtaining and sharing reliable data on 
carers for the Covid vaccination programme highlighted the need for this. The Strategy’s 
Action Plan recommends that data-sharing agreements are sought across the new 
Integrated Care System and Integrated Care Partnerships and primary care so that carers 
can be better supported.  
 
A key finding was that carers do not feel recognised or valued by professionals. The Action 
Plan will look at ways to ensure carers’ voices are heard at all levels of the ICB, ICS, ICP 
and PCNs, and that carers are at the heart of co-production.  
  
There is a significant gap in emotional and mental health support for carers. There is no 
funded counselling service available for carers in North Somerset and carers do not easily fit 
into the BNSSG-wide VitaMind service. VitaMind does not replicate its predecessor’s 
(Positive Step) carer-specific pathway, which provided a quick response time plus carer-
specific workshops. North Somerset carers have therefore had reduced mental health 
support since the Positive Step carer service (CCG-funded at £120k pa) was 
decommissioned in North Somerset in 2019. A recent North Somerset Healthwatch report 
Unheard Carers recommends that appropriate emotional support is especially required for 
Syrian refugee carers, with the assistance of an interpreter.  
 
Unheard Carers also recommends that networks are built with minority communities, and 
information made available in different formats and languages. Similarly the forthcoming 
Care reforms will be an area of information and comms with carers to understand how the 
proposals will impact.  
 
To underpin all of this we are seeking to constantly improve the information and advice offer 
for carers. Improvements have included:  

• Multi-Agency co-produced Dementia Directory for Woodspring residents and 
providers 

 

• Merger of NSC Wellness service and Rapid Response service to provide 24/7 
additional emergency capacity, over 130 service users supported via the Wellness 
service with emergency referral routes during the weekend for crisis support.  

• North Somerset First Response pilot has supported over 200 fallers in three months 
with 97% success rate in terms of lifting service users (response time an average 23 
minutes), working with Sirona and SWAST to provide clinical assurance, preventing 
hospital admissions and providing the level of wrap around emergency care in the 
community to support our ambition to increase P0 significantly with support from 
these services the VCSE and our expanding TEC offer. This service will be 
expanded to all citizens from its existing offer to Carelink pendant holders and its 
expansion is funded via Discharge Grant.  

Page 71

https://www.healthwatchnorthsomerset.co.uk/report/2022-09-20/report-unheard-carers-minority-groups-north-somerset
https://www.healthwatchnorthsomerset.co.uk/report/2022-09-20/report-unheard-carers-minority-groups-north-somerset


32 
 

• Above inflation increases ion direct payment allowances for carers to support the 
take up of direct payments.  

• Multi agency Cost of living group providing support and advice, warm spaces network 
and via the Discharge grant, one off financial support with heating costs to support 
carers following hospital discharge.  

 

Carers in North Somerset have also reported lower quality of life and increased difficulty 
finding information about available services in recent years. Addressing these issues is 
necessary to reduce carer fatigue and improve efficacy of their efforts. 

Weston & Worle and Woodspring’s Ageing Well programme aims to address both downstream 
and upstream effects with targeted solutions to both provide care to those in need but also 
enable anticipatory care for residents, that they might extend their quality of life and reduce 
the burden on their carers. We recognise that numerous conditions that disproportionately 
affect our elderly residents begin earlier in life, necessitating early intervention. 

To support specific groups of people within the community a number of pilot schemes have 
been commissioned under the Ageing Well Programme and recently evaluated against key 
objectives and outcomes. Within Woodspring, these pilots included:  

• Digital Health Apps 
• Hospital Avoidance Pathway for Emergency Department (ED) / Geriatric Emergency 

Medicine Service 
• Dementia Meeting Centres 
• Support for Dementia Care Homes 
• STAR Bereavement sessions 
• Live Longer Better (LLB); Fall-proof campaign 
• LLB: Increased activities across nature, arts, physical activity 
• LLB: Live Longer training offer 
• LLB: Strength & Balance 
• Dementia Training and Coproduction 

Most of the pilots had a strong preventative focus with improved health and wellbeing as its 
primary purpose. Others are orientated towards improving awareness of strength and 
balance, improved mobility, training for health and social care staff and providing support for 
people with dementia and their carers. The pilot schemes have enabled the partnership to 
consider the benefits achieved and have helped to inform the emerging model within 
Woodspring. 
 
The sub-group were material in identifying the early priorities, these were:  
 

• Falls and mobility 
• Dementia 
• Care homes* 
• Prevention*  
• Anticipatory Care* 
• Carers. 

 
 
 

Page 72



33 
 

13. Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) and wider services 

 
The mandatory Disabled Facility Grant is critical to achieving system goals for maintaining 
independence in the home for older and disabled people, also supporting their families. DFG 
resources have also supported North Somerset’s ambitions to deliver a comprehensive TEC 
offer to maximise independence. Structural changes in NSC will ensure closer working 
between housing services and health and social care and better alignment of 
accommodation ambitions via refreshed Housing Strategy, ensuring the development of 
accommodation options as an alternative to residential care, also innovation when 
considering individual options. This will also strengthen the governance links of the DFG 
services with wider Better Care Fund Management.  
Our emerging ICP’s have engaged in the refresh of our housing strategy for 2022 to 2027, 
and Older Person Housing Needs Assessment modelling future needs to 2030.  Partners 
working across North Somerset working together across several workstreams to ensure that 
people are supported to live in their own home and that the importance to health and 
wellbeing of that home being safe warm and appropriate is supported. Meeting people’s 
needs through appropriate housing, whether specifically designed, or adapted, including 
provision with care and support is part of our generic approach to housing and not seen as 
an additional and separate area of concern.  
Our vision has three strategic aims: 
Deliver affordable homes in sustainable neighbourhoods 
Improve and sustain existing houses 
Provides solution, support and choice to those in housing needs.  
The two North Somerset ICP’S have established a joint housing forum in recognition of the 
consequential impact on health and social care outcomes from housing and the need to 
influence the growth in housing required as part of the Council’s Local Plan.  
Our DFG programme is administered through the Housing Adaptation and Improvement 
Team who also operate an in-house agency for bathing adaptations and lift installation and 
maintenance. This has proved particularly beneficial having secured enhanced delivery, 
local contractors, lifetime warranty for stairlifts and fully serviced and maintained. A detailed 
process has been designed to prioritise cases in line with best practice and guidance; 
working closely with Occupational Therapy Team on recommendations. The significant 
impact from the cost-of-living pressures particularly affecting the construction sector has 
required a collaborative approach working with contractors to respond to inflationary 
increases.  
We have piloted pod buildings for provision of ground floor facilities during 2022/23 but in 
each case, they have proved more expensive than traditional construction although in some 
instances could be a solution e.g., urgency, ground conditions. Funding (outside of the BCF) 
has been secured to recruit a new OT working with commissioning team to support new 
initiatives in housing and support an accreditation and regulation of supported housing 
projects in North Somerset with a partnership agreement and accreditation scheme 
to be established. 
The Winter discharge grant was used to commission a Wellbeing Flat, with Curo  

it will deliver a service which will support customers experiencing mental health or 
emotional distress, but not those in crisis. The service will provide a minimum of 4 units 
of accommodation and a package of support delivered by a Senior Wellbeing Officer and 
2 x Wellbeing Support Workers. This service is aimed at providing short term support to 

Page 73



34 
 

avoid homelessness from hospital discharge or crisis avoidance to prevent admission.  
DFG slippage in 2021/22 was also used to support our investment in TEC to support 
people to remain in their own homes, these initiatives have been described elsewhere.  
 
 

 
14. Additional information (not assured) 

Yes 

 
 
The discretionary powers available through the RRO has been extensively used in the form 
of a Housing Renewals Assistance Policy which provides:  

• Funding for feasibility work including plans for major schemes  
• Top-up funding (up to £20,000) above the maximum DFG 
• Hospital discharge funding to facilitate safe return home  
• Move-on assistance to support a move to more suitable accommodation 
• Dementia Care Assistance – enhance comfort, safety and security of a home  
• Emergency Work – imminent risk to safety or health   

The budget for discretionary funding has increased to £200,000 in 2023/24; subject to further 
review linked to ongoing inflationary pressures.   
Joint work recognises the importance of homes being warm and safe to maintain health.  
Initiatives to address this include: 
- Low interest loans funded by the Council for home repairs that make a property warmer, 

safer, healthier of more suitable for the occupiers.  
- Senior housing OT co-located with Private Sector Housing Team.  
- Warmer Homes, Advice and Money scheme - partnership providing practical expertise to 

improve home energy efficiency, involves Handyvan Service, Citizens Advice and Centre 
for Sustainable Energy.   

 
Structural changes have given the opportunity to strengthen ties between housing and adult 
care particularly commissioning, and the BCF has been used to develop specialist homeless 
provision for people with Mental Health, delivered by Curo for up to 14 days of support 
particularly to prevent admissions and support hospital discharge. Similarly in addition to the 
dedicated Occupational therapist working with the Private sector team an additional 
Occupational therapist is being recruited to work alongside commissioning and housing 
colleagues to look at initiatives to reduce housing barriers. On average our housing teams 
deal with about 4 hospital discharge housing related cases and with the Home from Hospital 
service involved in MDM meetings early identification issues is critical to resolution and LOS 
relating to housing related issues are low despite the housing challenges.  
 

15. Equality and health inequalities 
 

Page 74



35 
 

We will establish an Inequalities Oversight Group to review and support the work of the 
Health and Care Improvement Groups and other work in this area.  This will incorporate 
supporting BCF activities to best meet the needs of people living in the 20% most deprived 
areas in BNSSG, in line with Core20PLUS5.  The following information from the Joint 
Forward Plan applies to the use of the better care fund: 
  
Our approach to reducing inequalities in access to, experience of and outcomes from 
services and other types of support includes: 

1. Addressing the structural nature of inequalities - thinking about how decisions are 
made and who is involved in making those decisions. 

2. Providing resources according to need – improving the way that we spend money so 
that we provide funding in a way that supports people who experience health 
inequalities to get what they need so that they can achieve what matters to them. 

3. Exploring how we will achieve health equity in all policies and then implementing that 
approach. 

4. Further actions developed and implemented over the course of the five years of this 
Joint Forward Plan. 

  
The Integrated Care Board has agreed to fund a reserve of £3.2m for health inequalities. A 
plan will be developed and brought back to the Board for approval by the Chief Medical 
Officer who has executive responsibility for Health Inequalities. 
 
 
Homeless populations are known to experience multiple health disadvantages, poorer health 
outcomes and barriers to receiving healthcare. An initial gap analysis of medical provision to 
the homeless population of Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire has identified 
inequity in the accessibility and delivery of services required to meet the clinical needs of 
homeless people. The re-commissioning of the Alternative Provider of Medical Services 
(APMS) contract for provision of Primary Medical Services to the homeless population offers 
an opportunity to work collaboratively with system partners to co-commission Medical and 
Local Authority services at a system level, supporting the provision of equitable, joined up, 
cohesive service provision to the homeless population of our system.  
We will collaboratively commission services for the homeless population, facilitating; 

o Equal service offer for the homeless population across our system 

o Improved health outcomes 

o Improved life expectancy 

o Improved access to tailored services 

o Streamlined, easily accessible pathways i.e. accommodation 

o Reduced hospital length of stay 

o Supported transition to receiving healthcare through mainstream services 
 
Our six locality partnerships are embedding a population health management approach, 
helping them to identify specific groups of the population that are experiencing poorer than 
average health access, experience and/or outcomes.  Supported by engagement and co-
production, locality partnerships are determining more effective approaches to engage and 
support these population groups to improve their outcomes and reduce inequalities. 

Page 75



36 
 

 
Please refer to Appendix 15 for further insight: 
 
 

Appendix 15. 
Population demographic.pptx 
 
 
 
NSC’s Corporate Plan vision is to be open, fair and green: 

• Open: we will provide strong community leadership and work transparently with our 
residents, businesses and partners to deliver our ambition for North Somerset. 

• Fair: we aim to reduce inequalities and promote fairness and opportunity for 
everyone. 

• Green: we will lead our communities to protect and enhance our environment, tackle 
the climate emergency and drive sustainable development. 

 
To help achieve this vision we have a number of aims and priorities including a priority to 
empower and care about people and within that to have: 

• a commitment to protect the most vulnerable people in our communities. 
• an approach which enables young people and adults to lead independent and 

fulfilling lives. 
• a focus on tackling inequalities and improving outcomes. 

 
Workstreams are identified to support these priorities, such as the Better Care Fund, and we 
monitor projects and key performance indicators aligned to these workstreams. Our current 
KCPI basket has over 180 live indicators and a number of these consider health inequalities 
including: 

• healthy life expectancy an inequality in life expectancy at birth. 
• mortality rates from causes considered preventable. 
• positive outcomes for employment and stable accommodation for vulnerable cohorts. 
• a number of measures from the Adult Social Care Outcomes Framework such as 

quality of life scores.  
 
As part of our Medium-term Financial Planning we also undertake Equality Impact 
Assessments for any workstreams which will impact on our residents to ensure that there is 
no direct or indirect discrimination against individuals with one or more protected 
characteristics and advance equality of opportunity and foster relationships between one 
group and another where possible, as outlined in the Equality Act 2020. 
 
Supporting the Corporate Plan are a number of other strategies including our Joint Health 
and Wellbeing Strategy and our Empowering Communities Strategy. These too identify 
workstreams which seek to improve outcomes across North Somerset and reduce gaps in 
inequalities to ensure that all our residents have the same life chances and positive 
outcomes.  
 
Areas of focus in the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy: 

Page 76

https://n-somerset.gov.uk/council-democracy/equality-diversity-inclusion/equality-impact-assessments
https://n-somerset.gov.uk/council-democracy/equality-diversity-inclusion/equality-impact-assessments
https://n-somerset.gov.uk/council-democracy/priorities-strategies/health-wellbeing-strategy-2021-24


37 
 

• prevention - prevent people from becoming unwell or experiencing poor health and 
wellbeing 

• early intervention - support people to identify and manage health and wellbeing 
problems as early as possible. Ensure sure support is in the right place to address 
those problems 

• thriving communities - focus on the wider factors and influences on health, and work 
with partners to support communities to thrive 

 
Areas of focus in our Empowering Communities Strategy: 

• tackling inequalities and improving outcomes 
• engage with and empower our communities 
• collaborate with partners to deliver the best outcomes 

 
We report regularly on the outcomes against our commitments.  
 
Please refer to Appendix 16: 

Appendix 16. Areas 
of focus.docx  

 
 
Aging well: geographical inequalities 
The Indices of Multiple Deprivation measures 
deprivation across a number of ‘domains’ including ‘income deprivation affecting older people 
(IDAOPI)’ –the proportion of all those aged 60 or over who experience income deprivation. 
There are well researched links between income deprivation and poor health outcomes. 

The map on this page shows this domain and the deciles of deprivation for 
North Somerset at Lower Super Output Area (LSOA*). 

Decile 1 is the most deprived and decile 10 the least deprived. 

The most deprived areas where outcomes are generally poorer for income 
deprivation affecting older people are within the South and East areas of 
Weston-super-Mare. Areas within Worle also show higher levels of deprivation 
and poorer outcomes. 

Outside of Weston-super-Mare, Portishead East shows a high level of income 
deprivation affecting older people. 
 
A key development in North Somerset to address our areas challenges is the formation of 
the North Somerset Together Virtual Hub building on the communities' response to the 
challenges of COVID.  
 
Its purpose is to support residents and front-line workers to navigate the support systems, 
community assets and access social welfare support quickly with the aim of improving 
wellbeing and health.  

• Help to reduce health inequalities by addressing the wider determinants of health, 
such as debt, poor housing, employment and physical inactivity.  

Page 77

https://n-somerset.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-03/31135%20Empowering%20Communities%20Strategy%20v2%20and%20Action%20Plan%20LR.pdf
https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiOGYyYzVjODAtNDFjNy00ZGUzLTljOWMtODYyNTkwYjI4OTk2IiwidCI6ImNjODFhYjIwLTNjMzYtNDUyZS1hZWE1LWI3N2IyZmRlNmZmMyJ9


38 
 

• Increase people’s active involvement with their local communities.  
• Support the multi-professional team to provide access to the right service at the 

right time for their clients/patients.  
 
North Somerset Together is a collaborative partnership between Citizens Advice North 
Somerset, North Somerset Together, Curo Housing Association, Alliance Homes, North 
Somerset Wellbeing Collective, North Somerset Council, Woodspring Locality 
Partnership, One Weston Locality Partnership and Sirona with Citizens Advice North 
Somerset acting as lead agency 
• The service will take direct referrals from front line staff within health and community 

settings.  
• The service will provide a one-stop connector service for a wide range of community 

related support with an emphasis on loneliness and isolation, and on the wider 
determinants of health, particularly low income, employment, learning, support, 
housing, debt, financial management and domestic abuse.    

• NSC and LP’’s are funding a two year pilot which is at the proof of concept stage with 
a phased roll out across PCN’s in North Somerset. 

 
Please refer to Appendix 17 for more information: 

Appendix 17. North 
Somerset Together.pptx 
 

 

Page 78



BCF Planning Template 2023-25
1. Guidance

Overview
Note on entering information into this template
Throughout the template, cells which are open for input have a yellow background and those that are pre-populated have a blue background, as below:
Data needs inputting in the cell
Pre-populated cells
2. Cover
1. The cover sheet provides essential information on the area for which the template is being completed, contacts and sign off.
2. Question completion tracks the number of questions that have been completed; when all the questions in each section of the template have been 
completed the cell will turn green. Only when all cells are green should the template be sent to the Better Care Fund Team: 
england.bettercarefundteam@nhs.net (please also copy in your Better Care Manager).
3. The checklist helps identify the sheets that have not been completed. All fields that appear highlighted in red with the word 'no', should be completed 
before sending to the Better Care Fund Team.
4. The checker column, which can be found on each individual sheet, updates automatically as questions are completed. It will appear 'Red' and contain the 
word 'No' if the information has not been completed. Once completed the checker column will change to 'Green' and contain the word 'Yes'.

5. The 'sheet completed' cell will update when all 'checker' values for the sheet are green containing the word 'Yes'.
6. Once the checker column contains all cells marked 'Yes' the 'Incomplete Template' cell (below the title) will change to 'Template Complete'.
7. Please ensure that all boxes on the checklist are green before submission.

8. Sign off - HWB sign off will be subject to your own governance arrangements which may include delegated authority.

4. Capacity and Demand

Please see the guidance on the Capacity&Demand tab for further information on how to complete this section.

5. Income
1. This sheet should be used to specify all funding contributions to the Health and Wellbeing Board's (HWB) Better Care Fund (BCF) plan and pooled budget for 
2023-25. It will be pre-populated with the minimum NHS contributions to the BCF, iBCF grant allocations and allocations of ASC Discharge Fund grant to local 
authorities for 2023-24. The iBCF grant in 2024-25 is expected to remain at the same value nationally as in 2023-24, but local allocations are not published. 
You should enter the 2023-24 value into the income field for the iBCF in 2024-25 and agree provisional plans for its use as part of your BCF plan

2. The grant determination for the Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) for 2023-24 will be issued in May. Allocations have not been published so are not pre 
populated in the template. You will need to manually enter these allocations. Further advice will be provided by the BCF Team. 

3.  Areas will need to input the amount of ASC Discharge Fund paid to ICBs that will be allocated to the HWB's BCF pool. These will be checked against a 
separate ICB return to ensure they reconcile. Allocations of  the ASC discharge funding grant to local authority will need to be inputted manually for Year 2 as 
allocations at local level are not confirmed. Areas should input an expected allocation based on the published national allocation (£500m in 2024-25, 
increased from £300m in 2023-24) and agree provisional plans for 2024-25 based on this. 

4. Please select whether any additional contributions to the BCF pool are being made from local authorities or ICBs and enter the amounts in the fields 
highlighted in ‘yellow’. These will appear as funding sources in sheet 5a when you planning expenditure. 

5. Please use the comment boxes alongside to add any specific detail around this additional contribution.

6. If you are pooling any funding carried over from 2022-23 (i.e. underspends from BCF mandatory contributions) you should show these as additional 
contributions, but on a separate line to any other additional contributions.  Use the comments field to identify that these are underspends that have been 
rolled forward. All allocations are rounded to the nearest pound. 

7.  Allocations of the NHS minimum contribution are shown as allocations from each ICB to the HWB area in question. Where more than one ICB contributes to 
the area's BCF plan, the minimum contribution from each ICB to the local BCF plan will be displayed.

8. For any questions regarding the BCF funding allocations, please contact england.bettercarefundteam@nhs.net (please also copy in your Better Care 
Manager).

6. Expenditure
This sheet should be used to set out the detail of schemes that are funded via the BCF plan for the HWB, including amounts, units, type of activity and funding 
source. This information is then aggregated and used to analyse the BCF plans nationally and sets the basis for future reporting.

The information in the sheet is also used to calculate total contributions under National Condition 4 and is used by assurers to ensure that these are met.

The table is set out to capture a range of information about how schemes are being funded and the types of services they are providing. There may be 
scenarios when several lines need to be completed in order to fully describe a single scheme or where a scheme is funded by multiple funding streams (eg: 
iBCF and NHS minimum). In this case please use a consistent scheme ID for each line to ensure integrity of aggregating and analysing schemes.

On this sheet please enter the following information:
1. Scheme ID:
- This field only permits numbers. Please enter a number to represent the Scheme ID for the scheme being entered. Please enter the same Scheme ID in this 
column for any schemes that are described across multiple rows.
2. Scheme Name: 
- This is a free text field to aid identification during the planning process. Please use the scheme name consistently if the scheme is described across multiple 
lines in line with the scheme ID described above.

Page 79

mailto:england.bettercarefundteam@nhs.net
mailto:england.bettercarefundteam@nhs.net


3. Brief Description of Scheme
- This is a free text field to include a brief headline description of the scheme being planned. The information in this field assists assurers in understanding how 
funding in the local BCF plan is supporting the objectives of the fund nationally and aims in your local plan.

4. Scheme Type and Sub Type: 
- Please select the Scheme Type from the drop-down list that best represents the type of scheme being planned. A description of each scheme is available in 
tab 6b. 
- Where the Scheme Types has further options to choose from, the Sub Type column alongside will be editable and turn "yellow". Please select the Sub Type 
from the drop down list that best describes the scheme being planned.
- Please note that the drop down list has a scroll bar to scroll through the list and all the options may not appear in one view.
- If the scheme is not adequately described by the available options, please choose ‘Other’ and add a free field description for the scheme type in the column 
alongside. Please try to use pre-populated scheme types and sub types where possible, as this data is important in assurance and to our understanding of how 
BCF funding is being used nationally.
- The template includes a field that will inform you when more than 5% of mandatory spend is classed as other.  

5. Expected outputs
- You will need to set out the expected number of outputs you expect to be delivered in 2023-24 and 2024-25 for some scheme types. If you select a relevant 
scheme type, the 'expected outputs' column will unlock and the unit column will pre populate with the unit for that scheme type. 
- You will not be able to change the unit and should use an estimate where necessary. The outputs field will only accept numeric characters. 
- A table showing the scheme types that require an estimate of outputs and the units that will prepopulate can be found in tab 6b. Expenditure Guidance. 

 You do not need to fill out these columns for certain scheme types. Where this is the case, the cells will turn blue and the column will remain empty.

6. Area of Spend:
- Please select the area of spend from the drop-down list by considering the area of the health and social care system which is most supported by investing in 
the scheme. 
- Please note that where ‘Social Care’ is selected and the source of funding is “NHS minimum” then the planned spend would count towards eligible 
expenditure on social care under National Condition 4.
- If the scheme is not adequately described by the available options, please choose ‘Other’ and add a free field description for the scheme type in the column 
alongside. 
- We encourage areas to try to use the standard scheme types where possible.

7. Commissioner:
- Identify the commissioning body for the scheme based on who is responsible for commissioning the scheme from the provider.
- Please note this field is utilised in the calculations for meeting National Condition 3. Any spend that is from the funding source 'NHS minimum contribution', 
is commissioned by the ICB, and where the spend area is not 'acute care', will contribute to the total spend on NHS commissioned out of hospital services 
under National Condition 4. This will include expenditure that is ICB commissioned and classed as 'social care'. 
- If the scheme is commissioned jointly, please select ‘Joint’. Please estimate the proportion of the scheme being commissioned by the local authority and NHS 
and enter the respective percentages on the two columns.

8. Provider:
- Please select the type of provider commissioned to provide the scheme from the drop-down list.
- If the scheme is being provided by multiple providers, please split the scheme across multiple lines.
9. Source of Funding:
- Based on the funding sources for the BCF pool for the HWB, please select the source of funding for the scheme from the drop down list. This includes 
additional, voluntarily pooled contributions from either the ICB or Local authority
- If a scheme is funded from multiple sources of funding, please split the scheme across multiple lines, reflecting the financial contribution from each.

10. Expenditure (£) 2023-24 & 2024-25:
- Please enter the planned spend for the scheme (or the scheme line, if the scheme is expressed across multiple lines)
11. New/Existing Scheme
- Please indicate whether the planned scheme is a new scheme for this year or an existing scheme being carried forward.
12. Percentage of overall spend. This new requirement asks for the percentage of overall spend in the HWB on that scheme type. This is a new collection for 
2023-25. This information will help better identify and articulate the contribution of BCF funding to delivering capacity.

You should estimate the overall spend on the activity type in question across the system (both local authority and ICB commissioned where both organisations 
commission this type of service). Where the total spend in the system is not clear, you should include an estimate. The figure will not be subject to assurance. 
This estimate should be based on expected spend  in that category in the BCF over both years of the programme divided by both years total spend in that 
same category in the system.

7. Metrics
This sheet should be used to set out the HWB's ambitions (i.e. numerical trajectories) and performance plans for each of the BCF metrics in 2023-25. The BCF 
policy  requires trajectories and plans agreed for the fund's metrics. Systems should review current performance and set realistic, but stretching ambitions for 
2023-24.

A data pack showing more up to date breakdowns of data for the discharge to usual place of residence  and unplanned admissions for ambulatory care 
sensitive conditions is available on the Better Care Exchange.

For each metric, areas should include narratives that describe:
- a rationale for the ambition set, based on current and recent data, planned activity and expected demand
- the local plan for improving performance on this metric and meeting the ambitions through the year. This should include changes to commissioned services, 
joint working and how BCF funded services will support this.

Page 80

https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-outcomes-framework/february-2021/domain-2-enhancing-quality-of-life-for-people-with-long-term-conditions-nof/2.3.i-unplanned-hospitalisation-for-chronic-ambulatory-care-sensitive-conditions
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-outcomes-framework/february-2021/domain-2-enhancing-quality-of-life-for-people-with-long-term-conditions-nof/2.3.i-unplanned-hospitalisation-for-chronic-ambulatory-care-sensitive-conditions
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-outcomes-framework/february-2021/domain-2-enhancing-quality-of-life-for-people-with-long-term-conditions-nof/2.3.i-unplanned-hospitalisation-for-chronic-ambulatory-care-sensitive-conditions
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-outcomes-framework/february-2021/domain-2-enhancing-quality-of-life-for-people-with-long-term-conditions-nof/2.3.i-unplanned-hospitalisation-for-chronic-ambulatory-care-sensitive-conditions
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-outcomes-framework/february-2021/domain-2-enhancing-quality-of-life-for-people-with-long-term-conditions-nof/2.3.i-unplanned-hospitalisation-for-chronic-ambulatory-care-sensitive-conditions
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-outcomes-framework/february-2021/domain-2-enhancing-quality-of-life-for-people-with-long-term-conditions-nof/2.3.i-unplanned-hospitalisation-for-chronic-ambulatory-care-sensitive-conditions


1. Unplanned admissions for chronic ambulatory care sensitive conditions:
- This section requires the  area to input  indirectly standardised rate (ISR) of admissions per 100,000 population by quarter in 2023-24. This will be based on 
NHS Outcomes Framework indicator 2.3i but using latest available population data.
- The indicator value is calculated using the indirectly standardised rate of admission per 100,000, standardised by age and gender to the national figures in 
reference year 2011. This is calculated by working out the SAR (observed admission/expected admissions*100) and multiplying by the crude rate for the 
reference year. The expected value is the observed rate during the reference year multiplied by the population of the breakdown of the year in question.
- The population data used is the latest available at the time of writing (2021)
- Actual performance for each quarter of 2022-23 are pre-populated in the template and will display once the local authority has been selected in the drop 
down box on the Cover sheet.
- Please use the ISR Tool published on the BCX where you can input your assumptions and simply copy  the output ISR:
https://future.nhs.uk/bettercareexchange/view?objectId=143133861
- Technical definitions for the guidance can be found here:
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-outcomes-framework/march-2022/domain-2---enhancing-quality-of-life-for-people-
with-long-term-conditions-nof/2.3.i-unplanned-hospitalisation-for-chronic-ambulatory-care-sensitive-conditions

2. Falls
- This is a new metric for the BCF and areas should agree ambitions for reducing the rate of emergency admissions to hospital for people aged 65 or over 
following a fall.
 - This is a measure in the Public Health Outcome Framework. 
- This requires input for an Indicator value which is  directly age standardised rate per 100,000. Emergency hospital admissions due to falls in people aged 65 
and over.
- Please enter provisional outturns for 2022-23 based on local data for admissions for falls from April 2022-March 2023.
- For 2023-24 input planned levels of emergency admissions
- In both cases this should consist of:
       - emergency admissions due to falls for the year for people aged 65 and over (count)
       - estimated local population (people aged 65 and over)
       - rate per 100,000 (indicator value) (Count/population x 100,000) 

- The latest available data is for 2021-22 which will be refreshed around Q4.
Further information about this measure and methodolgy used can be found here:
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-
framework/data#page/6/gid/1000042/pat/6/par/E12000004/ati/102/are/E06000015/iid/22401/age/27/sex/4

3. Discharge to normal place of residence.
- Areas should agree ambitions for the percentage of people who are discharged to their normal place of residence following an inpatient stay. In 2022-23, 
areas were asked to set a planned percentage of discharge to the person's usual place of residence for the year as a whole. In 2023-24 areas should agree a 
rate for each quarter.
- The  ambition should be set for the health and wellbeing board area. The data for this metric is obtained from the Secondary Uses Service (SUS) database and 
is collected at hospital trust. A breakdown of data from SUS by local authority of residence has been made available on the Better Care Exchange to assist 
areas to set ambitions. 
- Ambitions should be set as the percentage of all discharges where the destination of discharge is the person's usual place of residence.
- Actual performance for each quarter of 2022-23 are pre-populated in the template and will display once the local authority has been selected in the drop 
down box on the Cover sheet.

4. Residential Admissions: 
- This section requires inputting the expected  numerator of the measure only.
- Please enter the planned number of council-supported older people (aged 65 and over) whose long-term support needs will be met by a change of setting to 
residential and nursing care during the year (excluding transfers between residential and nursing care)
- Column H asks for an estimated actual performance against this metric in 2022-23. Data for this metric is not published until October, but local authorities 
will collect and submit this data as part of their salt returns in July. You should use this data to populate the estimated data in column H.
- The prepopulated denominator of the measure is the size of the older people population in the area (aged 65 and over) taken from Office for National 
Statistics (ONS) subnational population projections.
- The annual rate is then calculated and populated based on the entered information.

5. Reablement:
- This section requires inputting the information for the numerator and denominator of the measure.
- Please enter the planned denominator figure, which is the planned number of older people discharged from hospital to their own home for rehabilitation (or 
from hospital to a residential or nursing care home or extra care housing for rehabilitation, with a clear intention that they will move on/back to their own 
home).
- Please then enter the planned numerator figure, which is the expected number of older people discharged from hospital to their own home for rehabilitation 
(from within the denominator) that will still be at home 91 days after discharge.
- Column H asks for an estimated actual performance against this metric in 2022-23. Data for this metric is not published until October, but local authorities 
will collect and submit this data as part of their salt returns in July. You should use this data to populate the estimated data in column H.
- The annual proportion (%) Reablement measure will then be calculated and populated based on this information.

8. Planning Requirements
This sheet requires the Health and Wellbeing Board to confirm whether the National Conditions and other Planning Requirements detailed in the BCF Policy 
Framework and the BCF Planning Requirements document are met. Please refer to the BCF Policy Framework and BCF Planning Requirements documents for 
2023-2025 for further details.
The sheet also sets out where evidence for each Key Line of Enquiry (KLOE) will be taken from.
The KLOEs underpinning the Planning Requirements are also provided for reference as they will be utilised to assure plans by the regional assurance panel.

1. For each Planning Requirement please select ‘Yes’ or ‘No’ to confirm whether the requirement is met for the BCF Plan.

Page 81

https://files.digital.nhs.uk/A0/76B7F6/NHSOF_Domain_2_S.pdf
https://files.digital.nhs.uk/A0/76B7F6/NHSOF_Domain_2_S.pdf
https://files.digital.nhs.uk/A0/76B7F6/NHSOF_Domain_2_S.pdf
https://files.digital.nhs.uk/A0/76B7F6/NHSOF_Domain_2_S.pdf
https://files.digital.nhs.uk/A0/76B7F6/NHSOF_Domain_2_S.pdf
https://files.digital.nhs.uk/A0/76B7F6/NHSOF_Domain_2_S.pdf
https://files.digital.nhs.uk/A0/76B7F6/NHSOF_Domain_2_S.pdf
https://files.digital.nhs.uk/A0/76B7F6/NHSOF_Domain_2_S.pdf
https://files.digital.nhs.uk/A0/76B7F6/NHSOF_Domain_2_S.pdf
https://files.digital.nhs.uk/A0/76B7F6/NHSOF_Domain_2_S.pdf
https://files.digital.nhs.uk/A0/76B7F6/NHSOF_Domain_2_S.pdf
https://files.digital.nhs.uk/A0/76B7F6/NHSOF_Domain_2_S.pdf
https://files.digital.nhs.uk/A0/76B7F6/NHSOF_Domain_2_S.pdf
https://files.digital.nhs.uk/A0/76B7F6/NHSOF_Domain_2_S.pdf


2. Where the confirmation selected is ‘No’, please use the comments boxes to include the actions in place towards meeting the requirement and the target 
timeframes.

Page 82



Version 1.1.3

Professional 
Title (e.g. Dr, 
Cllr, Prof) First-name: Surname: E-mail:

*Area Assurance Contact Details:
Jenna Ho Marris jenna.homarris@n-

somerset.gov.uk
David Jarrett david.jarrett2@nhs.net

Zanette Pytel zanettepytel@nhs.net

Jo Walker jo.walker@n-
somerset.gov.uk

Hayley Verrico hayley.verrico@n-
somerset.gov.uk

Andy Newton anewton1@nhs.net

Amy Webb amy.webb@n-
somerset.gov.uk

Complete:
2. Cover Yes
4. Capacity&Demand Yes
5. Income Yes
6a. Expenditure No
7. Metrics Yes
8. Planning Requirements Yes

^^ Link back to top

Has this report been signed off by (or on behalf of) the HWB at the time of 
submission?

If no please indicate when the HWB is expected to sign off the plan:

Yes

Please add further area contacts that 
you would wish to be included in 
official correspondence e.g. housing 
or trusts that have been part of the 
process -->

<< Link to the Guidance sheet

Role:
Health and Wellbeing Board Chair

Integrated Care Board Chief Executive or person to whom they 
have delegated sign-off
Additional ICB(s) contacts if relevant

Local Authority Chief Executive

Local Authority Director of Adult Social Services (or equivalent)

Better Care Fund Lead Official

LA Section 151 Officer

Question Completion - When all questions have been answered and the validation boxes below have turned green, please send the template to 
the Better Care Fund Team england.bettercarefundteam@nhs.net saving the file as 'Name HWB' for example 'County Durham HWB'. Please also 

copy in your Better Care Manager.

Please see the Checklist below for further details on incomplete fields

Better Care Fund 2023-25 Template
2. Cover

Gerald Hunt, Andy Newton
gerald.hunt@n-somerset.gov.uk, anewton1@nhs.net

North Somerset

Please Note:
- The BCF planning template is categorised as 'Management Information' and data from them will published in an aggregated form on the NHSE website and gov.uk. This will include any narrative section. Also a reminder that as is usually the case with public body information, all BCF 
information collected here is subject to Freedom of Information requests.
- At a local level it is for the HWB to decide what information it needs to publish as part of wider local government reporting and transparency requirements. Until BCF information is published, recipients of BCF reporting information (including recipients who access any information 
placed on the BCE) are prohibited from making this information available on any public domain or providing this information for the purposes of journalism or research without prior consent from the HWB (where it concerns a single HWB) or the BCF national partners for the 
aggregated information.
- All information will be supplied to BCF partners to inform policy development.
- This template is password protected to ensure data integrity and accurate aggregation of collected information. A resubmission may be required if this is breached.

01934634803, 07919558633

Health and Wellbeing Board:
Completed by:
E-mail:
Contact number:

Page 83

mailto:england.bettercarefundteam@nhs.net
mailto:england.bettercarefundteam@nhs.net
mailto:england.bettercarefundteam@nhs.net
mailto:england.bettercarefundteam@nhs.net
mailto:england.bettercarefundteam@nhs.net
mailto:england.bettercarefundteam@nhs.net
mailto:england.bettercarefundteam@nhs.net
mailto:england.bettercarefundteam@nhs.net
mailto:england.bettercarefundteam@nhs.net


Funding Sources Income Yr 1 Income Yr 2 Expenditure Yr 1 Expenditure Yr 2 Difference
DFG £2,361,483 £2,361,483 £2,361,483 £2,361,483 £0
Minimum NHS Contribution £18,475,154 £19,520,848 £18,475,154 £19,520,848 £0
iBCF £6,985,854 £6,985,854 £6,985,854 £6,985,854 £0
Additional LA Contribution £5,390,916 £5,390,916 £5,390,916 £5,390,916 £0
Additional ICB Contribution £1,399,860 £1,425,057 £1,399,860 £1,425,057 £0
Local Authority Discharge Funding £979,406 £1,625,810 £979,406 £1,625,810 £0
ICB Discharge Funding £1,735,000 £2,058,500 £1,735,000 £2,058,500 £0

Total £37,327,673 £39,368,468 £37,327,673 £39,368,468 £0

NHS Commissioned Out of Hospital spend from the minimum ICB allocation
Yr 1 Yr 2

Minimum required spend £4,854,654 £5,129,428

Planned spend £9,651,145 £10,197,400

Adult Social Care services spend from the minimum ICB allocations
Yr 1 Yr 2

Minimum required spend £8,094,784 £8,552,949

Planned spend £8,095,626 £8,553,838

2023-24 Q1
Plan

2023-24 Q2
Plan

2023-24 Q3
Plan

2023-24 Q4
Plan

134.3 137.5 154.6 146.8

2022-23 estimated 2023-24 Plan

Indicator value
1,827.9 1,380.5

Count
1009 762

Population
52198 52198

2023-24 Q1
Plan

2023-24 Q2
Plan

2023-24 Q3
Plan

2023-24 Q4
Plan

94.8% 95.0% 94.9% 94.8%

2021-22 Actual 2023-24 Plan

Annual Rate 475 571

Percentage of people, resident in the HWB, who are discharged from acute 
hospital to their normal place of residence

(SUS data - available on the Better Care Exchange)

North Somerset

Falls

Emergency hospital admissions due to falls in people 
aged 65 and over directly age standardised rate per 
100,000.

Expenditure >>

Metrics >>

Avoidable admissions

Unplanned hospitalisation for chronic ambulatory care sensitive conditions
(Rate per 100,000 population)

Discharge to normal place of residence

Better Care Fund 2023-25 Template

Residential Admissions

3. Summary

Long-term support needs of older people (age 65 and 
over) met by admission to residential and nursing care 
homes, per 100,000 population

Income & Expenditure

Selected Health and Wellbeing Board:

Income >>

Page 84



2023-24 Plan

Annual (%) 80.0%

Theme Code Response

PR1 Yes

PR2 Yes

PR3 Yes

PR4 Yes

PR5 Yes

PR6 Yes

PR7 Yes

PR8 YesMetrics

Planning Requirements >>

Reablement

NC2: Social Care Maintenance

NC3: NHS commissioned Out of Hospital Services

NC4: Implementing the BCF policy objectives

NC1: Jointly agreed plan

Agreed expenditure plan for all elements of the BCF

Proportion of older people (65 and over) who were still 
at home 91 days after discharge from hospital into 
reablement / rehabilitation services

Page 85



3. Capacity & Demand

Selected Health and Wellbeing Board: North Somerset

Guidance on completing this sheet is set out below, but should be read in conjunction with the guidance in the BCF planning requirements
3.1 Demand - Hospital Discharge

3.2 Demand - Community

The units can simply be the number of referrals.

3.3 Capacity - Hospital Discharge

 -  Short term domiciliary care
 -  Reablement in a bedded setting
 -  Rehabilitation in a bedded setting 

3.4 Capacity - Community 

 -  Rehabilitation at home

 -  Reablement in a bedded setting
 -  Rehabilitation in a bedded setting 

2023-24 2024-25
Complete:

3.1 Yes

3.2 Yes

3.3 Yes

3.4 Yes

!!Click on the filter box below to select Trust first!! Demand - Hospital Discharge
Trust Referral Source                                         (Select as many as you 
need) Pathway Apr-23 May-23 Jun-23 Jul-23 Aug-23 Sep-23 Oct-23 Nov-23 Dec-23 Jan-24 Feb-24 Mar-24
NORTH BRISTOL NHS TRUST 53 53 53 54 54 54 54 54 54 53 53 53
UNIVERSITY HOSPITALS BRISTOL AND WESTON NHS FOUNDATION TRUST 125 125 125 127 127 127 127 127 127 124 124 124
NORTH BRISTOL NHS TRUST 10 10 11 17 18 18 19 19 21 21 22 22
UNIVERSITY HOSPITALS BRISTOL AND WESTON NHS FOUNDATION TRUST 22 22 25 37 40 40 43 43 46 46 49 49
NORTH BRISTOL NHS TRUST 40 42 40 40 40 39 39 38 39 39 37 39
UNIVERSITY HOSPITALS BRISTOL AND WESTON NHS FOUNDATION TRUST 89 92 89 90 90 87 87 85 87 87 82 87
NORTH BRISTOL NHS TRUST
UNIVERSITY HOSPITALS BRISTOL AND WESTON NHS FOUNDATION TRUST
NORTH BRISTOL NHS TRUST 1 1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
UNIVERSITY HOSPITALS BRISTOL AND WESTON NHS FOUNDATION TRUST 4 4 5 5 5 5 6 6 6 6 7 7
NORTH BRISTOL NHS TRUST 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 8 9
UNIVERSITY HOSPITALS BRISTOL AND WESTON NHS FOUNDATION TRUST 25 26 25 26 26 25 26 25 26 26 24 26
NORTH BRISTOL NHS TRUST 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 5 6 6 5 6
UNIVERSITY HOSPITALS BRISTOL AND WESTON NHS FOUNDATION TRUST 31 32 31 30 30 29 28 27 28 28 26 28
Totals Total: 415 422 421 443 447 441 446 440 451 447 439 452

Demand - Intermediate Care
Service Type Apr-23 May-23 Jun-23 Jul-23 Aug-23 Sep-23 Oct-23 Nov-23 Dec-23 Jan-24 Feb-24 Mar-24
Social support (including VCS) 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10
Urgent Community Response 457 465 457 465 465 457 476 467 476 487 469 487
Reablement at home 17 17 17 17 69 69 69 69 69 69 69 69
Rehabilitation at home
Reablement in a bedded setting
Rehabilitation in a bedded setting 
Other short-term social care 13 14 13 14 14 13 14 13 14 14 13 14

Service Area Metric Apr-23 May-23 Jun-23 Jul-23 Aug-23 Sep-23 Oct-23 Nov-23 Dec-23 Jan-24 Feb-24 Mar-24 ICB LA Joint
Social support (including VCS)  Monthly capacity. Number of new clients. 175 175 175 175 175 175 175 175 175 171 171 171 20% 80%
Reablement at Home  Monthly capacity. Number of new clients. 31 31 36 53 57 57 61 61 65 65 70 70 100%
Rehabilitation at home Monthly capacity. Number of new clients. 122 126 122 126 126 122 126 122 126 126 118 126 100%
Short term domiciliary care Monthly capacity. Number of new clients.
Reablement in a bedded setting Monthly capacity. Number of new clients. 5 5 6 6 7 7 8 8 8 8 9 9 100%
Rehabilitation in a bedded setting Monthly capacity. Number of new clients. 28 29 28 29 29 28 32 31 32 38 36 38 100%
Short-term residential/nursing care for someone likely to require a longer-
term care home placement

Monthly capacity. Number of new clients. 18 19 18 19 19 18
19 18 19 19 18 19 100%

Service Area Metric Apr-23 May-23 Jun-23 Jul-23 Aug-23 Sep-23 Oct-23 Nov-23 Dec-23 Jan-24 Feb-24 Mar-24 ICB LA Joint
Social support (including VCS) Monthly capacity. Number of new clients. 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 100%
Urgent Community Response Monthly capacity. Number of new clients. 437 446 437 446 446 437 455 447 455 465 447 465 90% 10%
Reablement at Home Monthly capacity. Number of new clients. 17 17 17 17 69 69 69 69 69 69 69 69 100%
Rehabilitation at home Monthly capacity. Number of new clients.
Reablement in a bedded setting Monthly capacity. Number of new clients.
Rehabilitation in a bedded setting Monthly capacity. Number of new clients.
Other short-term social care Monthly capacity. Number of new clients. 13 14 13 14 14 13 14 13 14 14 13 14 100%

Short term domiciliary care (pathway 1)

Commissioning responsibility (% of each service type 
commissioned by LA/ICB or jointly

Commissioning responsibility (% of each service type 
commissioned by LA/ICB or jointly

At the end of each row, you should enter estimates for the percentage of the service in question that is commissioned by the local authority, the ICB and jointly. 

At the end of each row, you should enter estimates for the percentage of the service in question that is commissioned by the local authority, the ICB and jointly. 

BCF related spend

Reablement in a bedded setting (pathway 2)

Rehabilitation in a bedded setting (pathway 2)

Short-term residential/nursing care for someone likely to require a longer-term care home placement 
(pathway 3)

This section collects expected capacity for community services. You should input the expected available capacity across the different service types.
You should include expected available capacity across these service types for eligible referrals from community sources. This should cover all service intermediate care services to support recovery, including Urgent Community Response and VCS support. The template is split into 7 
types of service:

 -  Social support (including VCS)
 -  Urgent Community Response
 -  Reablement at home 

 -  Other short-term social care

Rehabilitation at home (pathway 1)

 -  Data from the NHSE Discharge Pathways Model.
 - Management information from discharge hubs and local authority data on requests for care and assessment.

You should enter the estimated number of discharges requiring each type of support for each month.

3.4 Capacity - Community

Capacity - Community

Average stay (days) - The average length of time that a service is provided to people, or average length of stay in a bedded facility
Please consider using median or mode for LoS where there are significant outliers
Peak Occupancy (percentage) - What was the highest levels of occupany expressed as a percentage? This will usually apply to residential units, rather than care in a person's own home.  For services in a person's own home then this would need to
take into account how many people, on average, that can be provided with services.

Capacity - Hospital Discharge

3.3 Capacity - Hospital Discharge

3.2 Demand - Community

Any assumptions made. 
Please include your considerations and assumptions for Length of Stay and 

average numbers of hours committed to a homecare package that have been 
used to derive the number of expected packages.

Hospital demand was calculated using demand for P1-P3 has been calculated using last years hospital 
discharges. The LGA review identified that 58% of P3 patients were more appropriate for P2, 61% P2 
would have been better on a P1 pathway and 40% of P1s should have been P0. The demand profile next 
year includes a shift towards these more ideal patient outcomes achieving 20% of the shift by the end of 
the year and will ensure that all patients are receiving the correct care by the end of 24/25. P0 Demand 
includes the patients who would previously have received P1 support as well as demand for Red Cross, 
Home from Hospital, Link Workers and DSGs.

Overall Spend (BCF & Non BCF)

3.1 Demand - Hospital Discharge

Please consider the below factors in determining the capacity calculation. Typically this will be (Caseload*days in month*max occupancy percentage)/average duration of service or length of stay
Caseload (No. of people who can be looked after at any given time) 

Reablement at home  (pathway 1)

The table at the top of the screen will display total expected demand for the area by discharge pathway and by month. 
Estimated levels of discharge should draw on:
 -  Estimated numbers of discharges by pathway at ICB level from NHS plans for 2023-24

Virtual wards should not form part of capacity and demand plans because they represent acute, rather than intermediate, care. Where recording a virtual ward as a referral source, pease select the relevant trust from the list. Further guidance on all sections is available in Appendix 2 
of the BCF Planning Requirements.

Social support (including VCS) (pathway 0)

This section collects expected demand for intermediate care services from community sources, such as multi-disciplinary teams, single points of access or 111. The template does not collect referrals by source, and you should input an overall estimate each month for the number of 
people requiring intermediate care or short term care (non-discharge) each month, split by different type of intermediate care. 

Further detail on definitions is provided in Appendix 2 of the Planning Requirements. 

Peak Occupancy (percentage) - What was the highest levels of occupany expressed as a percentage? This will usually apply to residential units, rather than care in a person's own home.  For services in a person's own home then this would need to take into account how many 
people, on average, that can be provided with services.

This section collects expected capacity for services to support people being discharged from acute hospital. You should input the expected available capacity to support discharge across these different service types:

 -  Short-term residential/nursing care for someone likely to require a longer-term care home placement

Please consider the below factors in determining the capacity calculation. Typically this will be (Caseload*days in month*max occupancy percentage)/average duration of service or length of stay

 -  Social support (including VCS) 

Better Care Fund 2023-24 Capacity & Demand Template

This section requires the Health & Wellbeing Board to record expected monthly demand for supported discharge by discharge pathway. 
Data can be entered for individual hospital trusts that care for inpatients from the area. Multiple Trusts can be selected from the drop down list in column F. You will then be able to enter the number of expected discharges from each trust by Pathway for each month. The template 
aligns tothe pathways in the hospital discharge policy, but separates Pathway 1 (discharge home with new or additional support) into separate estimates of reablement, rehabiitation and short term domiciliary care)

If there are any trusts taking a small percentage of local residents who are admitted to hospital, then please consider aggregating these trusts under a single line using the 'Other' Trust option.

 -  Reablement at Home
 -  Rehabilitation at home

Caseload (No. of people who can be looked after at any given time) 
Average stay (days) - The average length of time that a service is provided to people, or average length of stay in a bedded facility
Please consider using median or mode for LoS where there are significant outliers

Page 86



Selected Health and Wellbeing Board:

Local Authority Contribution

Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG)
Gross Contribution 

Yr 1
Gross Contribution 

Yr 2
North Somerset £2,361,483 £2,361,483

DFG breakdown for two-tier areas only (where applicable)
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10
11
12

Total Minimum LA Contribution (exc iBCF) £2,361,483 £2,361,483

Local Authority Discharge Funding Contribution Yr 1 Contribution Yr 2
North Somerset £979,406 £1,625,810

ICB Discharge Funding Contribution Yr 1 Contribution Yr 2
NHS Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire ICB £1,735,000 £2,058,500

Total ICB Discharge Fund Contribution £1,735,000 £2,058,500

iBCF Contribution Contribution Yr 1 Contribution Yr 2
North Somerset £6,985,854 £6,985,854

Total iBCF Contribution £6,985,854 £6,985,854

Are any additional LA Contributions being made in 2023-25? If yes, 
please detail below Yes

Local Authority Additional Contribution Contribution Yr 1 Contribution Yr 2
North Somerset £5,390,916 £5,390,916

Total Additional Local Authority Contribution £5,390,916 £5,390,916

NHS Minimum Contribution Contribution Yr 1 Contribution Yr 2
1 NHS Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire ICB £18,475,154 £19,520,848
2
3
4
5
6
7

Total NHS Minimum Contribution £18,475,154 £19,520,848

Are any additional ICB Contributions being made in 2023-25? If 
yes, please detail below Yes

Additional ICB Contribution Contribution Yr 1 Contribution Yr 2
NHS Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire ICB £1,399,860 £1,425,057

Total Additional NHS Contribution £1,399,860 £1,425,057

Better Care Fund 2023-25 Template

North Somerset

4. Income

total budget allocation covering s117, SPA and Aids & 

Comments - Please use this box to clarify any specific 
uses or sources of funding

Comments - Please use this box clarify any specific uses 
or sources of funding
Additional Discharge Capacity

Page 87



Total NHS Contribution £19,875,014 £20,945,905

2023-24 2024-25
Total BCF Pooled Budget £37,327,673 £39,368,468

Funding Contributions Comments
Optional for any useful detail e.g. Carry over

Page 88



Running Balances Balance Balance
DFG £0 £0
Minimum NHS Contribution £0 £0
iBCF £0 £0
Additional LA Contribution £0 £0
Additional NHS Contribution £0 £0
Local Authority Discharge Funding £0 £0
ICB Discharge Funding £0

Total £0 £0

Required Spend
This is in relation to National Conditions 2 and 3 only. It does NOT make up the total Minimum ICB Contribution (on row 33 above).

Under Spend Under Spend

£0 £0

£0 £0

Checklist

Column complete:
Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes No

>> Incomplete fields on row number(s):  
60, 61, 
62, 63, 
64, 65, 
66, 67, 
68, 69, 
70, 71, 
72, 73, 
74, 75, 
76, 77, 
78, 79, 
80, 81, 
82, 83, 
84, 85, 
86, 87, 
88, 89, 
90, 91, 

Planned Expenditure
Scheme 
ID

Scheme Name Brief Description of Scheme Scheme Type Sub Types Please specify if 
'Scheme Type' is 
'Other'

Expected 
outputs 2023-24

Expected 
outputs 2024-25

Units Area of Spend Please specify if 
'Area of Spend' is 
'other'

Commissioner % NHS (if Joint 
Commissioner)

% LA (if Joint 
Commissioner)

Provider Source of 
Funding

1 Integrated Teams 
(running costs)

Enablers for Integration Enablers for Integration Workforce development Community 
Health

LA Local Authority Minimum 
NHS 
Contribution

2 Connecting Care 
System

Enablers for Integration Enablers for Integration Data Integration Community 
Health

LA NHS Minimum 
NHS 
Contribution

3 Project Manager 
Resource

Enablers for Integration Enablers for Integration Workforce development Social Care LA Local Authority Minimum 
NHS 
Contribution

4 NSC - Single Point 
of Access

Integrated Care Planning and 
Navigation

Integrated Care 
Planning and 
Navigation

Care navigation and planning Social Care LA Local Authority Minimum 
NHS 
Contribution

Minimum Required Spend

2024-25

2023-24 2024-25

Expenditure

£2,058,500

£2,361,483
£19,520,848

£6,985,854
£5,390,916
£1,425,057
£1,625,810
£2,058,500

£39,368,468

£979,406
£1,735,000

£1,399,860

£37,327,673

NHS Commissioned Out of Hospital spend from the 
minimum ICB allocation £4,854,654

Minimum Required Spend

£9,651,145

Planned Spend Planned Spend

IncomeIncome
£2,361,483

£19,520,848

£1,399,860

£37,327,673

£1,425,057

£39,368,468

£5,390,916
£6,985,854£6,985,854

£1,625,810£979,406
£1,735,000

£2,361,483

Better Care Fund 2023-25 Template
5. Expenditure

<< Link to summary sheet

Selected Health and Wellbeing Board:

£5,390,916

£2,361,483

North Somerset

£18,475,154

2023-24
Expenditure

£18,475,154
£6,985,854
£5,390,916

£10,197,400

£8,553,838

£5,129,428

£8,552,949
Adult Social Care services spend from the minimum 
ICB allocations £8,094,784 £8,095,626

P
age 89



5 Frailty Service Integrated Care Planning and 
Navigation

Integrated Care 
Planning and 
Navigation

Assessment teams/joint 
assessment

Community 
Health

NHS NHS Community 
Provider

Minimum 
NHS 
Contribution

6 NSC - Impact of 
Social Care 
Reforms

Care Act Implementation 
Related Duties

Care Act 
Implementation 
Related Duties

Other Transformation Social Care LA Local Authority Minimum 
NHS 
Contribution

7 AWP - Care Home 
Liaison

Community Based Schemes Community Based 
Schemes

Low level support for simple 
hospital discharges 
(Discharge to Assess 

 

Mental Health NHS NHS Mental 
Health Provider

Minimum 
NHS 
Contribution

8 Training for Care 
Home providers

Prevention / Early 
Intervention

Prevention / Early 
Intervention

Other Training Community 
Health

LA Local Authority Minimum 
NHS 
Contribution

9 Brokerage 
Resource

Enablers for Integration Enablers for Integration Workforce development Community 
Health

LA Local Authority Minimum 
NHS 
Contribution

10 Care co-ordination 
posts (x2)

Enablers for Integration Enablers for Integration Workforce development Community 
Health

LA Local Authority Minimum 
NHS 
Contribution

11 Assistive 
technology co-
ordinator post

Assistive Technologies and 
Equipment

Assistive Technologies 
and Equipment

Assistive technologies 
including telecare

10 10 Number of 
beneficiaries 

Social Care LA Local Authority Minimum 
NHS 
Contribution

12 Care Home 
Assistive 
Technology

Assistive Technologies and 
Equipment

Assistive Technologies 
and Equipment

Community based 
equipment

5 5 Number of 
beneficiaries 

Community 
Health

LA Local Authority Minimum 
NHS 
Contribution

13 Care Planning 
Capacity

Integrated Care Planning and 
Navigation

Integrated Care 
Planning and 
Navigation

Care navigation and planning Community 
Health

LA Local Authority Minimum 
NHS 
Contribution

14 Case management 
for high cost 
packages 

Integrated Care Planning and 
Navigation

Integrated Care 
Planning and 
Navigation

Assessment teams/joint 
assessment

Community 
Health

LA Local Authority Minimum 
NHS 
Contribution

15 NSC - Impact of 
Social Care 
Reforms

Care Act Implementation 
Related Duties

Care Act 
Implementation 
Related Duties

Other Transformation Social Care LA Local Authority Minimum 
NHS 
Contribution

16 Community 
Provider - 
Admission prevent 

Community Based Schemes Community Based 
Schemes

Multidisciplinary teams that 
are supporting 
independence, such as 

 

Community 
Health

NHS NHS Community 
Provider

Minimum 
NHS 
Contribution

17 NSC - Care 
Navigators & 
admin support

Integrated Care Planning and 
Navigation

Integrated Care 
Planning and 
Navigation

Care navigation and planning Social Care LA Local Authority Minimum 
NHS 
Contribution

18 Age UK - Somerset Prevention / Early 
Intervention

Prevention / Early 
Intervention

Social Prescribing Social Care LA Charity / 
Voluntary Sector

Minimum 
NHS 
Contribution

19 Voluntary Action 
North Somerset 
(VANS)

Prevention / Early 
Intervention

Prevention / Early 
Intervention

Risk Stratification Social Care LA Charity / 
Voluntary Sector

Minimum 
NHS 
Contribution

20 Response 24 (Out 
of Hours 
response)

Assistive Technologies and 
Equipment

Community Based 
Schemes

Integrated neighbourhood 
services

Social Care LA Local Authority Minimum 
NHS 
Contribution

21 Community Meals 
Weekend Offer

Personalised Care at Home Personalised Care at 
Home

Physical health/wellbeing Social Care LA Local Authority Minimum 
NHS 
Contribution

22 Carers Breaks 
Contribution

Carers Services Carers Services Respite services 50 50 Beneficiaries Social Care LA Local Authority Minimum 
NHS 
Contribution

23 Proud to Care 
retention bonus 
for domiciliary 

  

Home Care or Domiciliary 
Care

Home Care or 
Domiciliary Care

Domiciliary care workforce 
development

100 100 Hours of care Social Care LA Local Authority Minimum 
NHS 
Contribution

24 Carers support - 
Mental Health 
(AWP)

Carers Services Carers Services Respite services 100 100 Beneficiaries Mental Health NHS NHS Mental 
Health Provider

Minimum 
NHS 
Contribution

25 NSC - Reablement Intermediate Care Services Other Social Care LA Local Authority Minimum 
NHS 
Contribution

P
age 90



26 Community 
Provider - 
Reablement

Community Based Schemes Community Based 
Schemes

Integrated neighbourhood 
services

Community 
Health

NHS NHS Community 
Provider

Minimum 
NHS 
Contribution

27 Community 
Equipment (posts)

Integrated Care Planning and 
Navigation

Integrated Care 
Planning and 
Navigation

Care navigation and planning Social Care LA Local Authority Minimum 
NHS 
Contribution

28 Community 
Equipment

Prevention / Early 
Intervention

Prevention / Early 
Intervention

Other Community 
Equipment

Social Care LA Local Authority Minimum 
NHS 
Contribution

29 Disabled 
Facilitaties Grant 
(DFG)

DFG Related Schemes DFG Related Schemes Adaptations, including 
statutory DFG grants

250 250 Number of 
adaptations 
funded/people 

Social Care LA Local Authority DFG

30 Impact to social 
care reforms

Care Act Implementation 
Related Duties

Care Act 
Implementation 
Related Duties

Other Transformation Social Care LA Local Authority Minimum 
NHS 
Contribution

31 Dementia Day 
Services

Community Based Schemes Community Based 
Schemes

Integrated neighbourhood 
services

Social Care LA Local Authority Minimum 
NHS 
Contribution

32 Investment in 
services for 
Asperger's/Autism 

  

Community Based Schemes Community Based 
Schemes

Integrated neighbourhood 
services

Social Care LA Local Authority Minimum 
NHS 
Contribution

33 Contract 
Compliance Posts 
(core service)

Enablers for Integration Enablers for Integration Workforce development Social Care LA Local Authority Minimum 
NHS 
Contribution

34 Personality Post 
contribution

Enablers for Integration Enablers for Integration Workforce development Community 
Health

NHS NHS Minimum 
NHS 
Contribution

35 North Somerset 
Wellbeing 
Therapies (ex-1 in 

Enablers for Integration Enablers for Integration Workforce development Community 
Health

NHS Private Sector Minimum 
NHS 
Contribution

36 Long term care 
including mental 
illness (s117)

Personalised Budgeting and 
Commissioning

Personalised Budgeting 
and Commissioning

Mental Health NHS Local Authority Minimum 
NHS 
Contribution

37 Community 
Provider - 
Rehabilitation

Community Based Schemes Community Based 
Schemes

Multidisciplinary teams that 
are supporting 
independence, such as 

 

Community 
Health

NHS NHS Community 
Provider

Minimum 
NHS 
Contribution

38 British Red Cross - 
Assisted Discharge 
Service

Community Based Schemes Community Based 
Schemes

Low level support for simple 
hospital discharges 
(Discharge to Assess 

 

Social Care LA Charity / 
Voluntary Sector

Minimum 
NHS 
Contribution

39 Discharge to 
Assess

HICM for Managing Transfer 
of Care

High Impact Change 
Model for Managing 
Transfer of Care

Home First/Discharge to 
Assess - process 
support/core costs

Community 
Health

NHS Private Sector Minimum 
NHS 
Contribution

40 NSC - Access and 
Hospital Support 
Team

Integrated Care Planning and 
Navigation

Integrated Care 
Planning and 
Navigation

Care navigation and planning Social Care LA NHS Acute 
Provider

Minimum 
NHS 
Contribution

41 Hospital Discharge 
Co-ordinators and 
admin

Integrated Care Planning and 
Navigation

Integrated Care 
Planning and 
Navigation

Care navigation and planning Social Care LA NHS Acute 
Provider

Minimum 
NHS 
Contribution

42 Hospital Discharge 
Manager

Integrated Care Planning and 
Navigation

Integrated Care 
Planning and 
Navigation

Care navigation and planning Social Care LA NHS Acute 
Provider

Minimum 
NHS 
Contribution

43 Residential and 
nursing beds at 
Sycamore home, 

Residential Placements Residential Placements Care home 10 15 Number of 
beds/Placements

Social Care LA Local Authority Minimum 
NHS 
Contribution

44 Funding for new 
schemes to meet 
system pressures

HICM for Managing Transfer 
of Care

High Impact Change 
Model for Managing 
Transfer of Care

Home First/Discharge to 
Assess - process 
support/core costs

Social Care LA Local Authority Minimum 
NHS 
Contribution

45 Sirona Adult 
Community 
Services

Community Based Schemes Community Based 
Schemes

Multidisciplinary teams that 
are supporting 
independence, such as 

 

Community 
Health

NHS NHS Community 
Provider

Minimum 
NHS 
Contribution

46 NSC - Impact of 
Social Care 
Reforms

Care Act Implementation 
Related Duties

Care Act 
Implementation 
Related Duties

Other Transformation Community 
Health

LA Local Authority Minimum 
NHS 
Contribution

P
age 91



47 Proud to Care 
Retention 
Payment 

Home Care or Domiciliary 
Care

Home Care or 
Domiciliary Care

Domiciliary care workforce 
development

100 100 Hours of care Social Care LA Local Authority iBCF

48 Domiciliary Care 
Strategic Providers 
Capacity Building  

Home Care or Domiciliary 
Care

Home Care or 
Domiciliary Care

Domiciliary care workforce 
development

100 100 Hours of care Social Care LA Local Authority iBCF

49 Care Home BCF 
Innovation Grant - 
top up existing 

    

Assistive Technologies and 
Equipment

Assistive Technologies 
and Equipment

Community based 
equipment

10 10 Number of 
beneficiaries 

Social Care LA Local Authority iBCF

50 Stabilising 
Capacity  - Care 
Home Sector  

HICM for Managing Transfer 
of Care

High Impact Change 
Model for Managing 
Transfer of Care

Improved discharge to Care 
Homes

Social Care LA Local Authority iBCF

51 Within 24 hour 
fast track delivery 
of Carelink 

 

HICM for Managing Transfer 
of Care

High Impact Change 
Model for Managing 
Transfer of Care

Home First/Discharge to 
Assess - process 
support/core costs

Social Care LA Local Authority iBCF

52 TEC - TO Support 
Care Sector

Assistive Technologies and 
Equipment

Assistive Technologies 
and Equipment

Assistive technologies 
including telecare

5 5 Number of 
beneficiaries 

Social Care LA Local Authority iBCF

53 Supply of 
emergency 
radiators via 

 

HICM for Managing Transfer 
of Care

High Impact Change 
Model for Managing 
Transfer of Care

Housing and related services Social Care LA Local Authority iBCF

54 Supply of furniture 
via Alliance, to 
support discharge

HICM for Managing Transfer 
of Care

High Impact Change 
Model for Managing 
Transfer of Care

Housing and related services Social Care LA Local Authority iBCF

55 Fund for 
Adaptations via 
Alliance, to suport 

  

HICM for Managing Transfer 
of Care

High Impact Change 
Model for Managing 
Transfer of Care

Housing and related services Social Care LA Local Authority iBCF

56 In conjunction 
with VAN's map 
local community 

  

Care Act Implementation 
Related Duties

Care Act 
Implementation 
Related Duties

Other Transformation Social Care LA Local Authority iBCF

57 Premium 
payments to Care 
Home sector to 

  

Residential Placements Residential Placements Care home 20 20 Number of 
beds/Placements

Social Care LA Local Authority iBCF

58 Agency Social 
Work  to address 
capacity issues

HICM for Managing Transfer 
of Care

High Impact Change 
Model for Managing 
Transfer of Care

Early Discharge Planning Social Care LA Local Authority iBCF

59 Expansion of 
Home from 
Hospital service 

   

HICM for Managing Transfer 
of Care

High Impact Change 
Model for Managing 
Transfer of Care

Home First/Discharge to 
Assess - process 
support/core costs

Social Care LA Local Authority iBCF

60 Proud to Care Home Care or Domiciliary 
Care

Home Care or 
Domiciliary Care

Domiciliary care workforce 
development

100 100 Hours of care Social Care LA Local Authority iBCF

61 Contribution to 
Care Home Fee 

Residential Placements Residential Placements Care home 100 100 Number of 
beds/Placements

Social Care LA Local Authority iBCF

62 Block purchase of 
capacity to 
support discharge

Residential Placements Residential Placements Care home 15 15 Number of 
beds/Placements

Social Care LA Local Authority iBCF

63 Out of Hours 
assessment, 
Quality 

HICM for Managing Transfer 
of Care

High Impact Change 
Model for Managing 
Transfer of Care

Early Discharge Planning Social Care LA Local Authority iBCF

64  Dom Care 
Capacity 
incentives - 

   

HICM for Managing Transfer 
of Care

High Impact Change 
Model for Managing 
Transfer of Care

Home First/Discharge to 
Assess - process 
support/core costs

Social Care LA Local Authority iBCF

65 Shared Lives Co-
ordinator 

HICM for Managing Transfer 
of Care

High Impact Change 
Model for Managing 
Transfer of Care

Early Discharge Planning Social Care LA Local Authority iBCF

66 Fifteen Minute 
Premuims for Dom 
Care Providers 

HICM for Managing Transfer 
of Care

High Impact Change 
Model for Managing 
Transfer of Care

Home First/Discharge to 
Assess - process 
support/core costs

Social Care LA Local Authority iBCF

67 Care Home Service 
Enhancements

HICM for Managing Transfer 
of Care

High Impact Change 
Model for Managing 
Transfer of Care

Improved discharge to Care 
Homes

Social Care LA Local Authority iBCF

P
age 92



68 Delivery of Extra 
Care and Housing 
Support

Residential Placements Housing Related 
Schemes

Social Care LA Local Authority iBCF

69 Common 
processess 
relating to adult 

  

Enablers for Integration Enablers for Integration Joint commissioning 
infrastructure

Social Care LA Local Authority iBCF

70 Increase take up 
of assistive 
technology

Assistive Technologies and 
Equipment

Assistive Technologies 
and Equipment

Assistive technologies 
including telecare

20 20 Number of 
beneficiaries 

Social Care LA Local Authority iBCF

71 Essential 
prevention and 
early intervention 

 

Community Based Schemes Community Based 
Schemes

Integrated neighbourhood 
services

Social Care LA Local Authority iBCF

72 Connecting Care 
developments/int
ereface with 

    

Enablers for Integration Enablers for Integration System IT Interoperability Social Care LA Local Authority iBCF

73 Stabilising the 
market

Residential Placements Residential Placements Care home 100 100 Number of 
beds/Placements

Social Care LA Local Authority iBCF

74 Section 117 Enablers for Integration Enablers for Integration Joint commissioning 
infrastructure

Social Care LA Local Authority iBCF

75 Discharge to 
Assess

Enhanced D2A pathways to 
support hospital discharge

Community Based 
Schemes

Multidisciplinary teams that 
are supporting 
independence, such as 

 

Social Care NHS Local Authority Additional 
NHS 
Contribution

75 Joint Funded 
Packages (s117)

Integrated Care Planning and 
Navigation

Integrated Care 
Planning and 
Navigation

Care navigation and planning Social Care LA Local Authority Additional LA 
Contribution

76 Single Point of 
Access

Integrated Care Planning and 
Navigation

Integrated Care 
Planning and 
Navigation

Care navigation and planning Social Care LA Local Authority Additional LA 
Contribution

77 Community 
Equipment  

Prevention / Early 
Intervention

Prevention / Early 
Intervention

Other Transformation Social Care LA Local Authority Additional LA 
Contribution

78 Link Workers/Care 
Navigators

Integrated Care Planning and 
Navigation

Integrated Care 
Planning and 
Navigation

Assessment teams/joint 
assessment

Social Care LA Local Authority Local 
Authority 
Discharge 

79 SW Assessment 
Capacity

Integrated Care Planning and 
Navigation

Workforce recruitment 
and retention

Social Care LA Local Authority Local 
Authority 
Discharge 

80 Dementia Support 
at Home

Prevention / Early 
Intervention

Home Care or 
Domiciliary Care

Domiciliary care to support 
hospital discharge (Discharge 
to Assess pathway 1)

20 20 Hours of care Social Care LA Local Authority Local 
Authority 
Discharge 

81 Reablement in-
reach

HICM for Managing Transfer 
of Care

Bed based 
intermediate Care 
Services (Reablement, 

  

Bed-based intermediate care 
with reablement (to support 
discharge)

25 25 Number of 
Placements

Social Care LA Local Authority Local 
Authority 
Discharge 

82 Falls 
Pathway/Rapid 
Response

Prevention / Early 
Intervention

Home Care or 
Domiciliary Care

Short term domiciliary care 
(without reablement input)

50 50 Packages Community 
Health

LA Local Authority Local 
Authority 
Discharge 

83 Night Sitting HICM for Managing Transfer 
of Care

Personalised Care at 
Home

Physical health/wellbeing Social Care LA Local Authority Local 
Authority 
Discharge 

84 Hospital Discharge Transfer of Care Hubs - NBT Prevention / Early 
Intervention

Risk Stratification Acute NHS NHS Acute 
Provider

ICB Discharge 
Funding

85 Hospital Discharge Transfer of Care Hubs - NBT Prevention / Early 
Intervention

Risk Stratification Acute NHS NHS Acute 
Provider

ICB Discharge 
Funding

86 Discharge Bed 
Capacity - 
Reablement

P2/P3 Bed Provision Bed based 
intermediate Care 
Services (Reablement, 

  

Bed-based intermediate care 
with reablement (to support 
admissions avoidance)

59 59 Number of 
Placements

Community 
Health

NHS Private Sector ICB Discharge 
Funding

87 Therapy Bed 
support

P2/P3 Bed Therapy Support Bed based 
intermediate Care 
Services (Reablement, 

  

Bed-based intermediate care 
with reablement (to support 
discharge)

25 25 Number of 
Placements

Community 
Health

NHS NHS Community 
Provider

ICB Discharge 
Funding

P
age 93



88 Rapid Response - 
Falls

NSC Rapid Response - Falls Urgent Community 
Response

Social Care LA Local Authority ICB Discharge 
Funding

89 Dementia Care 
Home Support

NSC Dementia Care home 
support

Urgent Community 
Response

Social Care LA Local Authority ICB Discharge 
Funding

90 Capaciity 
Contingency

Winter Capacity Contingency Urgent Community 
Response

Community 
Health

NHS NHS Community 
Provider

ICB Discharge 
Funding

91 Care Market 
Incentives

Care Market Incentives Urgent Community 
Response

Social Care Joint 50.0% 50.0% Private Sector ICB Discharge 
Funding

92 MH Discharge 
Investment

MH Discharge Investment Other Mental Health NHS NHS Mental 
Health Provider

ICB Discharge 
Funding

P
age 94



P
age 95



P
age 96



P
age 97



P
age 98



P
age 99



P
age 100



P
age 101



Further guidance for completing Expenditure sheet

2023-25 Revised Scheme types

Number Scheme type/ services Sub type Description
1 Assistive Technologies and Equipment 1. Assistive technologies including telecare

2. Digital participation services
3. Community based equipment
4. Other

Using technology in care processes to supportive self-management, 
maintenance of independence and more efficient and effective delivery of 
care. (eg. Telecare, Wellness services, Community based equipment, Digital 
participation services).

2 Care Act Implementation Related Duties 1. Independent Mental Health Advocacy
2. Safeguarding
3. Other

Funding planned towards the implementation of Care Act related duties. 
The specific scheme sub types reflect specific duties that are funded via the 
NHS minimum contribution to the BCF.

3 Carers Services 1. Respite Services
2. Carer advice and support related to Care Act duties
3. Other

Supporting people to sustain their role as carers and reduce the likelihood of 
crisis. 

This might include respite care/carers breaks, information, assessment, 
emotional and physical support, training, access to services to support 
wellbeing and improve independence.

4 Community Based Schemes 1. Integrated neighbourhood services
2. Multidisciplinary teams that are supporting independence, such as anticipatory care
3. Low level social support for simple hospital discharges (Discharge to Assess pathway 0)
4. Other

Schemes that are based in the community and constitute a range of cross 
sector practitioners delivering collaborative services in the community 
typically at a neighbourhood/PCN level (eg: Integrated Neighbourhood 
Teams)

Reablement services should be recorded under the specific scheme type 
'Reablement in a person's own home'

5 DFG Related Schemes 1. Adaptations, including statutory DFG grants
2. Discretionary use of DFG
3. Handyperson services
4. Other

The DFG is a means-tested capital grant to help meet the costs of adapting a 
property; supporting people to stay independent in their own homes.

The grant can also be used to fund discretionary, capital spend to support 
people to remain independent in their own homes under a Regulatory 
Reform Order, if a published policy on doing so is in place. Schemes using 
this flexibility can be recorded under 'discretionary use of DFG' or 
'handyperson services' as appropriate

6 Enablers for Integration 1. Data Integration
2. System IT Interoperability
3. Programme management
4. Research and evaluation
5. Workforce development
6. New governance arrangements
7. Voluntary Sector Business Development
8. Joint commissioning infrastructure
9. Integrated models of provision
10. Other

Schemes that build and develop the enabling foundations of health, social 
care and housing integration, encompassing a wide range of potential areas 
including technology, workforce, market development (Voluntary Sector 
Business Development: Funding the business development and 
preparedness of local voluntary sector into provider Alliances/ 
Collaboratives) and programme management related schemes.

Joint commissioning infrastructure includes any personnel or teams that 
enable joint commissioning. Schemes could be focused on Data Integration, 
System IT Interoperability, Programme management, Research and 
evaluation, Supporting the Care Market, Workforce development, 
Community asset mapping, New governance arrangements, Voluntary 
Sector Development, Employment services, Joint commissioning 
infrastructure amongst others.

7 High Impact Change Model for Managing Transfer of Care 1. Early Discharge Planning
2. Monitoring and responding to system demand and capacity
3. Multi-Disciplinary/Multi-Agency Discharge Teams supporting discharge
4. Home First/Discharge to Assess - process support/core costs
5. Flexible working patterns (including 7 day working)
6. Trusted Assessment
7. Engagement and Choice
8. Improved discharge to Care Homes
9. Housing and related services
10. Red Bag scheme
11. Other

The eight changes or approaches identified as having a high impact on 
supporting timely and effective discharge through joint working across the 
social and health system. The Hospital to Home Transfer Protocol or the 
'Red Bag' scheme, while not in the HICM, is included in this section.

8 Home Care or Domiciliary Care 1. Domiciliary care packages
2. Domiciliary care to support hospital discharge (Discharge to Assess pathway 1)
3. Short term domiciliary care (without reablement input)
4. Domiciliary care workforce development
5. Other

A range of services that aim to help people live in their own homes through 
the provision of domiciliary care including personal care, domestic tasks, 
shopping, home maintenance and social activities. Home care can link with 
other services in the community, such as supported housing, community 
health services and voluntary sector services.

9 Housing Related Schemes This covers expenditure on housing and housing-related services other than 
adaptations; eg: supported housing units.

10 Integrated Care Planning and Navigation 1. Care navigation and planning
2. Assessment teams/joint assessment
3. Support for implementation of anticipatory care
4. Other

Care navigation services help people find their way to appropriate services 
and support and consequently support self-management. Also, the 
assistance offered to people in navigating through the complex health and 
social care systems (across primary care, community and voluntary services 
and social care) to overcome barriers in accessing the most appropriate care 
and support. Multi-agency teams typically provide these services which can 
be online or face to face care navigators for frail elderly, or dementia 
navigators etc. This includes approaches such as Anticipatory Care, which 
aims to provide holistic, co-ordinated care for complex individuals.

Integrated care planning constitutes a co-ordinated, person centred and 
proactive case management approach to conduct joint assessments of care 
needs and develop integrated care plans typically carried out by 
professionals as part of a multi-disciplinary, multi-agency teams.

Note: For Multi-Disciplinary Discharge Teams related specifically to 
discharge, please select HICM as scheme type and the relevant sub-type. 
Where the planned unit of care delivery and funding is in the form of 
Integrated care packages and needs to be expressed in such a manner, 
please select the appropriate sub-type alongside.

11 Bed based intermediate Care Services (Reablement, 
rehabilitation in a bedded setting, wider short-term services 
supporting recovery)

1. Bed-based intermediate care with rehabilitation (to support discharge)
2. Bed-based intermediate care with reablement (to support discharge)
3. Bed-based intermediate care with rehabilitation (to support admission avoidance)
4. Bed-based intermediate care with reablement (to support admissions avoidance)
5. Bed-based intermediate care with rehabilitation accepting step up and step down users
6. Bed-based intermediate care with reablement accepting step up and step down users
7. Other

Short-term intervention to preserve the independence of people who might 
otherwise face unnecessarily prolonged hospital stays or avoidable 
admission to hospital or residential care. The care is person-centred and 
often delivered by a combination of professional groups. 

Schemes tagged with the following will count towards the planned Adult Social Care services spend from the NHS min:
• Area of spend selected as ‘Social Care’
• Source of funding selected as ‘Minimum NHS Contribution’

Schemes tagged with the below will count towards the planned Out of Hospital spend from the NHS min:
• Area of spend selected with anything except ‘Acute’
• Commissioner selected as ‘ICB’ (if ‘Joint’ is selected, only the NHS % will contribute)
• Source of funding selected as ‘Minimum NHS Contribution’

Page 102



12 Home-based intermediate care services 1. Reablement at home (to support discharge) 
2. Reablement at home (to prevent admission to hospital or residential care)
3. Reablement at home (accepting step up and step down users)
4. Rehabilitation at home (to support discharge)
5. Rehabilitation at home (to prevent admission to hospital or residential care)
6. Rehabilitation at home (accepting step up and step down users)
7. Joint reablement and rehabilitation service (to support discharge) 
8. Joint reablement and rehabilitation service (to prevent admission to hospital or residential care)
9. Joint reablement and rehabilitation service (accepting step up and step down users)
10. Other

Provides support in your own home to improve your confidence and ability 
to live as independently as possible

13 Urgent Community Response Urgent community response teams provide urgent care to people in their 
homes which helps to avoid hospital admissions and enable people to live 
independently for longer. Through these teams, older people and adults 
with complex health needs who urgently need care, can get fast access to a 
range of health and social care professionals within two hours.

14 Personalised Budgeting and Commissioning Various person centred approaches to commissioning and budgeting, 
including direct payments.

15 Personalised Care at Home 1. Mental health /wellbeing
2. Physical health/wellbeing
3. Other

Schemes specifically designed to ensure that a person can continue to live at 
home, through the provision of health related support at home often 
complemented with support for home care needs or mental health needs. 
This could include promoting self-management/expert patient, 
establishment of ‘home ward’ for intensive period or to deliver support over 
the longer term to maintain independence or offer end of life care for 
people. Intermediate care services provide shorter term support and care 
interventions as opposed to the ongoing support provided in this scheme 
type.

16 Prevention / Early Intervention 1. Social Prescribing
2. Risk Stratification
3. Choice Policy
4. Other

Services or schemes where the population or identified high-risk groups are 
empowered and activated to live well in the holistic sense thereby helping 
prevent people from entering the care system in the first place. These are 
essentially upstream prevention initiatives to promote independence and 
well being.

17 Residential Placements 1. Supported housing
2. Learning disability
3. Extra care
4. Care home
5. Nursing home
6. Short-term residential/nursing care for someone likely to require a longer-term care home replacement
7. Short term residential care (without rehabilitation or reablement input)
8. Other

Residential placements provide accommodation for people with learning or 
physical disabilities, mental health difficulties or with sight or hearing loss, 
who need more intensive or specialised support than can be provided at 
home.

18 Workforce recruitment and retention 1. Improve retention of existing workforce
2. Local recruitment initiatives
3. Increase hours worked by existing workforce
4. Additional or redeployed capacity from current care workers
5. Other

These scheme types were introduced in planning for the 22-23 AS Discharge 
Fund. Use these scheme decriptors where funding is used to for incentives 
or activity to recruit and retain staff or to incentivise staff to increase the 
number of hours they work.

19 Other Where the scheme is not adequately represented by the above scheme 
types, please outline the objectives and services planned for the scheme in a 
short description in the comments column.

Scheme type Units
Assistive Technologies and Equipment Number of beneficiaries
Home Care and Domiciliary Care Hours of care (Unless short-term in which case it is packages)
Bed Based Intermediate Care Services Number of placements
Home Based Intermeditate Care Services Packages
Residential Placements Number of beds/placements
DFG Related Schemes Number of adaptations funded/people supported
Workforce Recruitment and Retention WTE's gained
Carers Services Beneficiaries

Page 103



*Q4 Actual not available at time of publication

2022-23 Q1
Actual

2022-23 Q2
Actual

2022-23 Q3
Actual

2022-23 Q4
Plan

Indicator value 147.1 151.4 166.3 120.0

Number of 
Admissions 414 426 468 -

Population 215,574 215,574 215,574 215,574

2023-24 Q1
Plan

2023-24 Q2
Plan

2023-24 Q3
Plan

2023-24 Q4
Plan

Indicator value 134.31 137.51 154.57 146.75

2021-22 
Actual

2022-23 
estimated

2023-24 
Plan

Indicator value 1,752.0 1,827.9 1,380.5

Count 965 1009 762

Population 52,198 52198 52198
Public Health Outcomes Framework - Data - OHID (phe.org.uk)

*Q4 Actual not available at time of publication

2022-23 Q1
Actual

2022-23 Q2
Actual

2022-23 Q3
Actual

2021-22 Q4
Plan

Better Care Fund 2023-25 Template
6. Metrics for 2023-24

Rationale for how ambition was set Local plan to meet ambition
The estimated impact of all admission 
avoidance schemes relating to ACS 
conditions has been calculated and applied 
to last years actuals to reflect the planned 
levels anticipated. This has been applied to 
each quarter to reflect seasonality.

BNSSG ICS is committed to ensuring that 
patients are not admitted to hospital 
unnecessarily and that effective 
community care is in place to ensure that 
patients can remain healthy at home. 
Schemes include Ageing Well Enhanced 
care home Pilots, Diabetes programme as 
well as enhancing the community Urgent 
care responce, enhancing virtual ward 
capacity and enhanced SDEC

A shared priority across our two localities 
evidenced by population health 
management, was to improve the 
response to falls, enhance outcomes and 
experience for individuals who fall, and 
increase system efficiency. Currently, 
residents with care link pendants who fall 
receive a timely response from Access Your 
Care (AYC)  an independent care provider 

Local plan to meet ambitionRationale for ambition

>> link to NHS Digital webpage (for more detailed guidance)

North Somerset

Rationale for how ambition was set

Selected Health and Wellbeing Board:

8.1 Avoidable admissions

Local plan to meet ambition

8.2 Falls

The estimated impact of North Somerset 
falls scheme has been calculated and 
applied to last years actuals to reflect the 
planned levels anticipated.

8.3 Discharge to usual place of residence

Emergency hospital admissions due to falls in 
people aged 65 and over directly age standardised 
rate per 100,000.

Indirectly standardised rate (ISR) of admissions per 
100,000 population

(See Guidance)P
age 104

https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-outcomes-framework/february-2021/domain-2-enhancing-quality-of-life-for-people-with-long-term-conditions-nof/2.3.i-unplanned-hospitalisation-for-chronic-ambulatory-care-sensitive-conditions
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-outcomes-framework/february-2021/domain-2-enhancing-quality-of-life-for-people-with-long-term-conditions-nof/2.3.i-unplanned-hospitalisation-for-chronic-ambulatory-care-sensitive-conditions
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-outcomes-framework/february-2021/domain-2-enhancing-quality-of-life-for-people-with-long-term-conditions-nof/2.3.i-unplanned-hospitalisation-for-chronic-ambulatory-care-sensitive-conditions
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-outcomes-framework/february-2021/domain-2-enhancing-quality-of-life-for-people-with-long-term-conditions-nof/2.3.i-unplanned-hospitalisation-for-chronic-ambulatory-care-sensitive-conditions
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-outcomes-framework/february-2021/domain-2-enhancing-quality-of-life-for-people-with-long-term-conditions-nof/2.3.i-unplanned-hospitalisation-for-chronic-ambulatory-care-sensitive-conditions
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-outcomes-framework/february-2021/domain-2-enhancing-quality-of-life-for-people-with-long-term-conditions-nof/2.3.i-unplanned-hospitalisation-for-chronic-ambulatory-care-sensitive-conditions
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-outcomes-framework/february-2021/domain-2-enhancing-quality-of-life-for-people-with-long-term-conditions-nof/2.3.i-unplanned-hospitalisation-for-chronic-ambulatory-care-sensitive-conditions
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework/data#page/3/gid/1000042/pat/6/par/E12000004/ati/102/are/E06000015/iid/22401/age/27/sex/4/cat/-1/ctp/-1/yrr/1/cid/4/tbm/1
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-outcomes-framework/february-2021/domain-2-enhancing-quality-of-life-for-people-with-long-term-conditions-nof/2.3.i-unplanned-hospitalisation-for-chronic-ambulatory-care-sensitive-conditions


Quarter (%) 93.6% 94.2% 93.8% 91.3%

Numerator 4,099 4,287 4,284 3,623

Denominator 4,379 4,553 4,565 3,970

2023-24 Q1
Plan

2023-24 Q2
Plan

2023-24 Q3
Plan

2023-24 Q4
Plan

Quarter (%) 94.8% 95.0% 94.9% 94.8%

Numerator 3,878 3,950 3,828 3,697

Denominator 4,092 4,160 4,032 3,899

2021-22 
Actual

2022-23 
Plan

2022-23 
estimated

2023-24 
Plan

Annual Rate 475.0 504.6 644.7 571.3

Numerator 247 270 345 310

Denominator 52,003 53,512 53,512 54,266

2021-22 
Actual

2022-23 
Plan

2022-23 
estimated

2023-24 
Plan

Annual (%) 78.8% 81.3% 73.9% 80.0%

Numerator 26 130 34 48

Denominator 33 160 46 60

Rationale for how ambition was set Local plan to meet ambition

Percentage of people, resident in the HWB, who are 
discharged from acute hospital to their normal 
place of residence

(SUS data - available on the Better Care Exchange)

8.4 Residential Admissions

8.5 Reablement

Proportion of older people (65 and over) who were 
still at home 91 days after discharge from hospital 
into reablement / rehabilitation services

Long-term support needs of older people (age 65 
and over) met by admission to residential and 
nursing care homes, per 100,000 population

The target is based on making siginificant 
progress on the Home First priorities. 
22/23 has seen a continued recovery in 
care home activity, following the dramatic 
drop in activity during COVID and 
estimates are well below pre COVID stats. 

h  i i ibl  ill fl  h   

Primarily the Local Plan's action to enhance 
capacity in domicilary care and related 
prevention interventions relating to TEC, 
VCSE and accommodation shift ie Extra 
Care to deliver robust alternatives to 
bedded care. 

Rationale for how ambition was set Local plan to meet ambition
Despite the additional reablement capacity 
in place, the plan overestimated the 
capacity in the timeline and strict criteria of 
the count, this is adjusted for in this 
estimate which reflects a continued 
stretch. The lower estimate may have 

fl d h  diffi l  i h fl  i  h  

The Local Plan outlines the additional 
reablement/bridging service capacity and 
investment in services aimed at maximising 
independence. 

Long-term support needs of older people (age 65 and over) met by admission to residential and nursing care homes, per 100,000 population (aged 65+) population projections are based on a calendar year using the 
2018 based Sub-National Population Projections for Local Authorities in England:
https://www.ons.gov.uk/releases/subnationalpopulationprojectionsforengland2018based

The denominator was calculated using the 
acute bed modelled admission profile for 
the year and includes a reduction for 
planned admission avoidance activity. The 
numerator was calculated using the 
modelled profile for discharge to bedded 
intermediate care including reductions 
planned as outlined in opposite box, 
enabling to determine the planned 
numbers discharged home.

The BNSSG ICS is committed to ensuring 
our combined health and care resources 
are used to promote a Homefirst ethos, 
and has a suite of programmes from  
anticipatory care planning in the 
community, through to crisis response and 
facilitated discharge from Hospital. 
Following system wide research as part of 
the Better Care Fund support Programme 
in 2022, we know there is opportunity to 
reduce the number of times an interim bed 

P
age 105

https://www.ons.gov.uk/releases/subnationalpopulationprojectionsforengland2018based
https://www.ons.gov.uk/releases/subnationalpopulationprojectionsforengland2018based
https://www.ons.gov.uk/releases/subnationalpopulationprojectionsforengland2018based
https://www.ons.gov.uk/releases/subnationalpopulationprojectionsforengland2018based
https://www.ons.gov.uk/releases/subnationalpopulationprojectionsforengland2018based
https://www.ons.gov.uk/releases/subnationalpopulationprojectionsforengland2018based
https://www.ons.gov.uk/releases/subnationalpopulationprojectionsforengland2018based
https://www.ons.gov.uk/releases/subnationalpopulationprojectionsforengland2018based
https://www.ons.gov.uk/releases/subnationalpopulationprojectionsforengland2018based
https://www.ons.gov.uk/releases/subnationalpopulationprojectionsforengland2018based
https://www.ons.gov.uk/releases/subnationalpopulationprojectionsforengland2018based
https://www.ons.gov.uk/releases/subnationalpopulationprojectionsforengland2018based
https://www.ons.gov.uk/releases/subnationalpopulationprojectionsforengland2018based
https://www.ons.gov.uk/releases/subnationalpopulationprojectionsforengland2018based
https://www.ons.gov.uk/releases/subnationalpopulationprojectionsforengland2018based
https://www.ons.gov.uk/releases/subnationalpopulationprojectionsforengland2018based


Please note that due to the demerging of  Cumbria information from previous years will not reflect the present geographies.

As such, the following adjustments have been made for the pre-populated figures above:
 - Actuals and plans for Cumberland and Westmorland and Furness are using the Cumbria combined figure for all metrics since a split was not available; Please use comments box to advise.
 - 2022-23 and 2023-24 population projections (i.e. the denominator for Residential Admissions) have been calculated from a ratio based on the 2021-22 estimates.

P
age 106



Code

Planning Requirement Key considerations for meeting the planning requirement
These are the Key Lines of Enquiry (KLOEs) underpinning the Planning Requirements (PR)

Confirmed through 

PR1 A jointly developed and agreed plan 
that all parties sign up to

Has a plan; jointly developed and agreed between all partners from ICB(s) in accordance with ICB governance rules, and the LA; been 
submitted? Paragraph 11

Has the HWB approved the plan/delegated approval? Paragraph 11

Have local partners, including providers, VCS representatives and local authority service leads (including housing and DFG leads) been 
involved in the development of the plan? Paragraph 11

Where the narrative section of the plan has been agreed across more than one HWB, have individual income, expenditure and metric 
sections of the plan been submitted for each HWB concerned?

Have all elements of the Planning template been completed? Paragraph 12

Expenditure plan

Expenditure plan

Narrative plan

Validation of submitted plans

Expenditure plan, narrative plan

PR2 A clear narrative for the integration of 
health, social care and housing

Is there a narrative plan for the HWB that describes the approach to delivering integrated health and social care that describes:

 • How the area will continue to implement a joined-up approach to integration of health, social care and housing services including DFG 
to support further improvement of outcomes for people with care and support needs Paragraph 13

 • The approach to joint commissioning Paragraph 13

 • How the plan will contribute to reducing health inequalities and disparities for the local population, taking account of people with 
protected characteristics? This should include
   - How equality impacts of the local BCF plan have been considered Paragraph 14

   - Changes to local priorities related to health inequality and equality and how activities in the document will address these. Paragraph 14

The area will need to also take into account Priorities and Operational Guidelines regarding health inequalities, as well as local authorities' 
priorities under the Equality Act and NHS actions in line with Core20PLUS5. Paragraph 15

Narrative plan 

PR3 A strategic, joined up plan for Disabled 
Facilities Grant (DFG) spending

Is there confirmation that use of DFG has been agreed with housing authorities? Paragraph 33

 • Does the narrative set out a strategic approach to using housing support, including DFG funding that supports independence at home? 
Paragraph 33

 • In two tier areas, has:
   - Agreement been reached on the amount of DFG funding to be passed to district councils to cover statutory DFG? or
   - The funding been passed in its entirety to district councils? Paragraph 34

Expenditure plan

Narrative plan

Expenditure plan

NC1: Jointly agreed plan

P
age 107



NC2: Implementing BCF 
Policy Objective 1: 
Enabling people to stay 
well, safe and 
independent at home for 
longer

PR4 A demonstration of how the services 
the area commissions will support 
people to remain independent for 
longer, and where possible support 
them to remain in their own home 

Does the plan include an approach to support improvement against BCF objective 1? Paragraph 16

Does the expenditure plan detail how expenditure from BCF sources supports prevention and improvement against this objective? 
Paragraph 19

Does the narrative plan provide an overview of how overall spend supports improvement against this objective? Paragraph 19 

Has the intermediate care capacity and demand planning section of the plan been used to ensure improved performance against this 
objctive and has the narrative plan incorporated learnings from this exercise? Paragraph 66

Narrative plan

Expenditure plan

Narrative plan

Expenditure plan, narrative plan

Additional discharge 
funding

PR5 An agreement between ICBs and 
relevant Local Authorities on how the 
additional funding to support 
discharge will be allocated for ASC and 
community-based reablement 
capacity to reduce delayed discharges 
and improve outcomes. 

Have all partners agreed on how all of the additional discharge funding will be allocated to achieve the greatest impact in terms of 
reducing delayed discharges? Paragraph 41

Does the plan indicate how the area has used the discharge funding, particularly in the relation to National Condition 3 (see below), and in 
conjunction with wider funding to build additional social care and community-based reablement capacity, maximise the number of 
hospital beds freed up and deliver sustainable improvement for patients? Paragraph 41

Does the plan take account of the area's capacity and demand work to identify likely variation in levels of demand over the course of the 
year and build the workforce capacity needed for additional services? Paragraph 44

Has the area been identified as an area of concern in relation to discharge performance, relating to the 'Delivery plan for recovering urgent 
and emergency services'?
     If so, have their plans adhered to the additional conditions placed on them relating to performance improvement? Paragraph 51

Is the plan for spending the additonal discharge grant in line with grant conditions?

Expenditure plan

Narrative and Expenditure plans

Narrative plan

Narrative and Expenditure plans

NC3: Implementing BCF 
Policy Objective 2: 
Providing the right care 
in the right place at the 
right time

PR6 A demonstration of how the services 
the area commissions will support 
provision of the right care in the right 
place at the right time

Does the plan include an approach to how services the area commissions will support people to receive the right care in the right place at 
the right time? Paragraph 21

Does the expenditure plan detail how expenditure from BCF sources supports improvement against this objective? Paragraph 22 

Does the narrative plan provide an overview of how overall spend supports improvement against this metric and how estimates of 
capacity and demand have been taken on board (including gaps) and reflected in the wider BCF plans? Paragraph 24

Has the intermediate care capacity and demand planning section of the plan been used to ensure improved performance against this 
objective and has the narrative plan incorporated learnings from this exercise? Paragraph 66

Has the area reviewed their assessment of progress against the High Impact Change Model for Managing Transfers of care and 
summarised progress against areas for improvement identified in 2022-23? Paragraph 23

Narrative plan

Expenditure plan

Narrative plan

Expenditure plan, narrative plan

Expenditure plan

Narrative plan

NC4: Maintaining NHS's 
contribution to adult 
social care and 
investment in NHS 
commissioned out of 
hospital services

PR7 A demonstration of how the area will 
maintain the level of spending on 
social care services from the NHS 
minimum contribution to the fund in 
line with the uplift to the overall 
contribution

Does the total spend from the NHS minimum contribution on social care match or exceed the minimum required contribution? 
Paragraphs 52-55

Auto-validated on the expenditure plan

P
age 108



Agreed expenditure plan 
for all elements of the 
BCF

PR8 Is there a confirmation that the 
components of the Better Care Fund 
pool that are earmarked for a purpose 
are being planned to be used for that 
purpose?

Do expenditure plans for each element of the BCF pool match the funding inputs? Paragraph 12

Has the area included estimated amounts of activity that will be delivered, funded through BCF funded schemes, and outlined the metrics 
that these schemes support? Paragraph 12

Has the area indicated the percentage of overall spend, where appropriate, that constitutes BCF spend? Paragraph 73

Is there confirmation that the use of grant funding is in line with the relevant grant conditions? Paragraphs 25 – 51

Has an agreed amount from the ICB allocation(s) of discharge funding been agreed and entered into the income sheet? Paragraph 41

Has the area included a description of how they will work with services and use BCF funding to support unpaid carers? Paragraph 13

Has funding for the following from the NHS contribution been identified for the area:
   - Implementation of Care Act duties?
   - Funding dedicated to carer-specific support?
   - Reablement? Paragraph 12

Auto-validated in the expenditure plan
Expenditure plan

Expenditure plan

Expenditure plan

Expenditure plan

Narrative plans, expenditure plan

Expenditure plan

Metrics

PR9 Does the plan set stretching metrics 
and are there clear and ambitious 
plans for delivering these?

Have stretching ambitions been agreed locally for all BCF metrics based on:

- current performance (from locally derived and published data)
- local priorities, expected demand and capacity
- planned (particularly BCF funded) services and changes to locally delivered services based on performance to date? Paragraph 59

Is there a clear narrative for each metric setting out: 
        - supporting rationales for the ambition set, 
        - plans for achieving these ambitions, and 
        - how BCF funded services will support this? Paragraph 57

Expenditure plan

Expenditure plan

P
age 109



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Better Care Fund Plan 

2023 -25

North Somerset Council

Gerald Hunt

Principal Head of Commissioning, Partnerships 

and Housing Solutions

24th August 2023

Health & Wellbeing Board 

P
age 111



BCF Purpose

The BCF Programme underpins key priorities in the NHS Long-Term Plan by 

joining up services in the community and the government’s Plan for 

Recovering Urgent and Emergency Care (UEC) Services, as well as 

supporting the delivery of Next Steps to Put People at the Heart of Care.

The BCF facilitates the smooth transition of people out of hospital, reduces the 

chances of re-admission and supports people to avoid long-term residential 

care.

The BCF is also a vehicle for wider joining-up of services across health and 

local government, such as support for unpaid carers, housing support and 

Public Health.

P
age 112



BCF Context

Since 2015, the BCF has been crucial in supporting people to live health, 
independent and dignified lies, through joining up health, social care and 
housing services seamlessly around the person. This vision is 
underpinned by two core objectives, to:

• Enable people to stay well, safe and independent at home for 
longer;

• Provide people with the right care, at the right place, at the right 
time.

The BCF achieves this by requiring Integrated Care Boards (ICBs) and 
local government to agree a joint plan, owned by the Health and 
Wellbeing Board (HWB), governed by an agreement under Section 75 of 
the NHS Act (2006). This continues to provide an important framework 
in bringing local NHS services and local government together to tackle 
pressures faced across the health and social care system and drive 
better outcomes for people.

P
age 113



BCF - Objectives 

BCF Objectives and Priorities for 2023 to 2025

Objective 1: to enable people to stay well, safe and home for longer

The priorities for health and social care are to improve quality of life and reduce pressure on UEC, 
acute and social care services.

This will be achieved through various mechanisms, including:

• Collaborative working with the voluntary, housing and independent provider sectors;

• Investment in a range of preventative, community health and housing services;

• Supporting unpaid carers.

Objective 2: to provide people with the right care, at the right place, at the right time

The priorities for health and social care are to tackle immediate pressures in delayed discharges 
and demand for hospital attendances and admissions, bringing about sustained improvements in 
outcomes for people discharged from hospital, and wider system flow.

This will be achieved by embedding strong joint working between the NHS, local government and 
the voluntary, housing and independent provider sectors.

P
age 114



BCF National 

Conditions 

BCF National Conditions 

The Local Authority and ICB must agree a Plan for the HWB area that agrees:

• Agreement on use of mandatory BCF funding streams

• An assessment of capacity and demand for intermediate care services

•  Ambitions on making progress against the national metrics. 

The Plan must be signed off by the HWB.

 BCF Plans should set a joined-up approach to integrated person-centred services including unpaid carers, 

across local health, care, housing and wider public services. They should contain  arrangements for joint 

commissioning and an agreed approach towards the 2 policy objectives as part of the HWB’s area 

response to the two national policy conditions 2 and 3. This should confirm how the BCF will support this 

work, and how this will improve performance on  the national metrics

P
age 115



Finance : Better Care Fund (BCF) 2023/24

BCF 2023/24 Allocation £'000

DFG £2,361

Minimum NHS Contribution £18,475

iBCF £6,986

Additional LA Contribution £5,391

Additional NHS Contribution £1,400

Local Authority Discharge Funding £979

ICB Discharge Funding £1,735

Total £37,328

Included in Minimum NHS contribution £'000
Adult Social Care services spend from the 
minimum ICB allocations £8,095

P
age 116



Discharge Fund Breakdowns 2023/24

• Adult Social Care services spend from the minimum ICB allocations £8,095 LA Discharge Grant £'000
Link Workers / Care Navigators 259
Dom care and reablement capacity 610
NSC Dementia care home support 110
Total 979

ICB Discharge allocation £'000
Transfer of Care Hubs - NBT/NSC 120
Transfer of Care Hubs - UHBW/NSC 277
P2/P3 beds - Re-procurement 862
Procurement saving - spot vs Block (490)
Capacity contingency (if procurement saving made) 250
Care market incentives (if procurement saving made) 240
P2/P3 beds - therapy support 156
NSC rapid falls response 230
NSC Dementia care home support 90
Total 1,735

P
age 117



Other discharge related spend

D2A Risk Pool - non-recurring £'000
P1 bridging 448
P2/P3 beds - ongoing until Sept then stepped down 579
Transformation programme 240
TEC project - FYE 70
Discharge Support Grants 120
Total 1,457

Anticipatory Care (NHS) £'000
NSC Dementia care home support 200
NSC rapid falls response 225
Total 425

P
age 118



BCF Plan : Headlines 

• Performance - A Winter of two halves 

• System v Locality 

• LGA evaluation for BNSSG area – reduce LOS by 40%, reduce bed base by 40%

• Discharge Grant financial challenges , missed opportunity?

• Transfer of Care Hubs emerge 

• Local Innovation – First Response service, Dementia Care ,  Advanced payment of pay 
awards, TEC  

• Monitoring and governance 

 

P
age 119



BCF Plan 2023/25 

Questions?

P
age 120



 

North Somerset Council 
 
Report to the Health Overview and Scrutiny Panel 
 
Date of Meeting: 12 October 2023 
 
Subject of Report: Health Protection update  
 
Town or Parish: All 
 
Officer/Member Presenting: Matt Lenny, Director of Public Health and 
Regulatory Services 
 
Key Decision: No 
 
Reason: National policy 
 
Recommendations 
The Health Overview and Scrutiny Panel note the content of the report.  
 
1. Summary of Report 
The winter season is always challenging for health and care services because of the 
additional demand for services. This is often driven by an increased prevalence of 
communicable disease which impacts on previously well individuals but particularly those 
with existing conditions and vulnerability. Effective prevention of this harm is based on 
vaccination and infection prevention and control strategies implemented across our health 
and care system. Plans are in place to implement these approaches and effectively monitor 
trends and impacts of the winter period.  
 
2. Policy 
Health Protection is a shared responsibility across our health and care system. Under the 
Health and Social Care Act (2012) the local authority (through the Director of Public Health) 
has a role in being assured that all appropriate action to protect the health of the local 
population is being taken.  
 
3. Details 
Vaccines remain our best defence against severe disease and hospitalisation from flu and 
COVID-19. That is why over-65s, anyone in a clinical risk group, and anyone living in a 
household with someone who is in a clinical risk group is being asked to come forward for 
their vaccination. Their protection since their last vaccination will have waned and they 
remain at increased risk from a respiratory infection this winter. COVID-19 is not a special 
case; respiratory infections can be unpredictable, and we’re asking similar groups to get 
vaccinated against flu. 
 
The government decided to bring forward the COVID-19 autumn vaccination campaign, as 
a precautionary measure to ensure those people who are most vulnerable and at higher 
risk of severe disease have the best available protection. It can take a few weeks for 
protection to build after a vaccine, so getting vaccinated ahead of the winter season, when 
respiratory viruses tend to peak, is important. 

Page 121

Agenda Item 8



 
The UKHSA data dashboard shows public health data across England. It builds on the 
success and is an iteration of the COVID-19 in the UK dashboard. Initially, the dashboard 
presents data on respiratory viruses. In the future, it will grow to present a wider range of 
data on public health topics in line with the remit of the UKHSA.  
 
Vital data continues to be collated from those who are admitted to hospital with symptoms, 
and scientists are utilising genome sequencing to understand which variants people are 
most vulnerable to. There are also specific surveillance programmes in place, where small 
sample groups are tested regularly. These allow us to monitor trends in the wider 
community. 
 
Hospital is where we will see the more severe cases, and scientists will be monitoring the 
numbers of people attending with COVID-19 symptoms very carefully. This will help us 
understand the growth rate and transmission potential of the new variant. 
 
There continues to be collaboration with health organisations in other countries, the World 
Health Organisation and initiatives such as the Global Influenza Surveillance & Response 
System (GISAID) to share access to the most current data. 
 
At the time of writing (02/10/23) the level of infection – Covid-19 and influenza – is relatively 
low both nationally and locally but this will be kept under control. Coverage of the 
vaccination programmes will build over time and reported on with any gaps for localities or 
population groups monitored and responded to through local multi-agency forums.  
 
Sources of data: Interactive map of cases | Coronavirus in the UK (data.gov.uk)   
UKHSA data dashboard 
 
4. Consultation 
Not applicable. For information item only.  
 
5. Financial Implications 
Not applicable. For information item only.  
 
Costs 
Not applicable. For information item only.  
 
Funding 
Not applicable. For information item only.  
 
6. Legal Powers and Implications 
No legal powers required as assurance role around health protection activities.  
 
7. Climate Change and Environmental Implications 
None identified through this report.  
 
8. Risk Management 
The actions described in this report relate to managing risk for our local population and 
service delivery.  
 

Page 122

https://coronavirus.data.gov.uk/details/interactive-map/cases
https://ukhsa-dashboard.data.gov.uk/


9. Equality Implications 
The vaccination programme includes workstreams to meet the needs of different population 
groups taking account of barriers to access.  
 
10. Corporate Implications 
Protecting the health of the local population supports the health and wellbeing aims of the 
Council’s Corporate Plan.  
 
11. Options Considered 
National vaccination programmes and infection monitoring are provided by the government 
with local health and care commissioners and providers following national guidance as 
needed.   
 
Author: 
Matt Lenny, Director of Public Health and Regulatory Services  
 
Appendices: 
None 
 
Background Papers: 
None 
 
 
 

Page 123



This page is intentionally left blank



North Somerset Council 
 
Report to the Health Overview and Scrutiny Panel 
 
Date of Meeting: 12 October 2023 
 
Subject of Report: Healthwatch Annual Report 
 
Town or Parish: All 
 
Officer/Member Presenting: Georgie Bigg, Chairman Healthwatch  
 
Key Decision: No 
 
Reason: It does not meet the criteria for a key decision. 
 
Recommendations 
That the Panel review and feedback on the Healthwatch Annual Report 2022/23.  
 
1. Summary of Report 
That the Panel review and feedback on the Healthwatch Annual Report which sets out its 
activities and how these have made a difference during 2022/23. 
 
2. Policy 
Draft Guidance from the Local Government Association to accompany new Local Authority 
Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny regulations (which came 
into force on 1st April 2013) emphasises the importance of closer working between local 
authority scrutiny committees and HealthWatch.  
 
Healthwatch is the independent national champion for people who use health and social 
care services.  There is a local Healthwatch in each area of England looking to find out 
what people like about services and what could be improved.  Nationally and locally, 
Healthwatch has the power to ensure that those in charge of health and social care “hear 
people’s voices” as well as seeking the public’s views and encouraging health and social 
care services to involve people in decisions that affect them. 
 
3. Details 
The Healthwatch Annual Report is attached as Appendix 1 to this report.  
 
4. Consultation 
N/A 
 
5. Financial Implications 
The Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC) fund funds the work of Healthwatch. 
DHSC gives money to local councils so they can commission an effective local Healthwatch 
service.  This ensures local Healthwatch have the resources they need to run a high-quality 
service for their community.  
 

Page 125

Agenda Item 9



To enable tracking what is happening to its investment, the Government requires local 
Healthwatch to report every year how much funding they expect to receive and publish this 
information.  
 
6. Legal Powers and Implications 
N/A 
 
7. Climate Change and Environmental Implications 
N/A 
 
8. Risk Management 
N/A 
 
9. Equality Implications 
N/A 
 
10. Corporate Implications 
N/A 
 
11. Options Considered 
N/A 
 
 
Author: 
Leo Taylor, Policy and Scrutiny Manager 
Tel: 01934 634621 
 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1  Healthwatch Annual Report 2022/23 
 
 
 
 

Page 126



Healthwatch Bristol, North 
Somerset and South 
Gloucestershire
Annual Report 2022–23

Together 
we can

Page 127



Message from our Chair

About us

Highlights from our year

Listening to your experiences

Hearing from all communities

Advice and information

Volunteers

Finances and future priorities

Statutory statements

“With NHS and social care services 
facing such big challenges, your 
feedback is more critical than ever. By 
sharing your experiences, you can help 
the professionals that commission and 
run services put themselves in your 
shoes, understand your reality, and 
make improvements where there are 
issues that need tackling.”

- Vicky Marriott, Chief Officer

Contents

Healthwatch Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire Annual Report 2022-232

3

4

5

10

16

18

20

22

23

Page 128



Message from our Chair

Healthwatch Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire Annual Report 2022-233

2022-23 has been a year of recovery from the
pandemic and for important changes in the
organisational structure of health and care
systems nationally.

The new Integrated Care System (ICS) is led by 
the Integrated Care Board which has partners 
From across health and care, including NHS trusts, 
local authorities and Healthwatch representing 
the three areas. With health and care working 
formally together at a strategic level, the ambition
is to have services integrated together, which is 
better for our local population.

The year has seen the system commission more
services locally based on a greater understanding
of local needs, and there are opportunities for
providers to work together, ‘joining up’ services for 
the benefit of all.

Healthwatch has worked across Bristol, North Somerset and South 
Gloucestershire to listen and act on people’s experiences – especially those 
whose voices are least heard. We have further developed our coproduction 
toolkit and improved our data and insights reporting, encouraging providers 
and commissioners of services to ensure voices are listened to, from design to 
delivery, and in ongoing reviews of services.

Our staff team, supported by our volunteers, are keen to reach out and hear 
from people in a variety of ways appropriate to them. This has helped us 
focus on some key areas and facilitate change. Topics we have worked to 
highlight this year have included patient and family experiences of discharge 
from hospital, carers from minority groups, dignity in hospital, and maternity 
services. These and other pieces of more detailed work have enabled 
Healthwatch to make recommendations for change and to continue to 
follow through to actions.

During the year, with our aim to be more accessible to the public, we moved 
our base to The Galleries in Bristol. This is offering opportunities for us to work 
more closely with our colleagues in the voluntary sector and bring partners 
and the public together in a central space. Please call in or contact us via our 
websites or social media to meet our talented and enthusiastic team and 
share your health and care experiences.

Georgie Bigg
Chair of Trustees for 
Healthwatch Bristol, North 
Somerset and South 
Gloucestershire

Page 129



About us

Healthwatch Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire Annual Report 2022-234

Healthwatch Bristol, North 
Somerset and South 
Gloucestershire is your local 
health and social care 
champion.

Our representatives, carrying out our work in a 
voluntary or paid capacity, perform their 
duties to the highest standards and treat the 
public with dignity and respect, being honest 
and impartial, supporting our values.

Our vision
Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire is a 
place where people’s experiences help improve health 
and care.

Our mission
By offering all people of Bristol, North Somerset and South 
Gloucestershire a strong voice, we will improve the quality 
of local health and social care.

Our values are:
In everything we do, we uphold our values. These are about 
being transparent, non-judgemental, and independent.

We are inclusive, dedicated to co-production, and strive 
for continual improvement.

We adhere to the Nolan Principles, also known as the Seven 
Principles of Public Life. This means that we carry out our 
work with selflessness, integrity, objectivity, accountability, 
openness, honesty, and leadership.

Page 130



Year in review - Bristol

Healthwatch Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire Annual Report 2022-235

Reaching out

586 people
shared their experiences of health and social care services 
with us, helping to raise awareness of issues and improve 
care.

78,533 people
reached out for our advice and information about issues 
such as digital access, dental care, mental health and the 
cost-of-living crisis.

Making a difference to care
We published

2 reports
Our most popular report was ‘Charting the experiences 
on a Pathway 3 care route from hospital’ which 
highlighted the barriers faced by people and their families at 
the time of discharge from hospital into a care or nursing home. Our 
second report heard what 'Dignified care’ in hospital should and does 
look like to people with protected characteristics.

Health and care that works for you
We’re lucky to have

27
outstanding volunteers who gave up 75 days to make care 
better for our community.

We’re funded by our local authority. In 2022-23 we received

£119,155
which is the same as the previous year.

We employed

3.5 full time equivalent staff
who help us carry out our work.

Page 131

https://www.healthwatchbristol.co.uk/report/2022-05-25/report-hospital-discharge-ongoing-care
https://www.healthwatchbristol.co.uk/report/2022-05-25/report-hospital-discharge-ongoing-care
https://www.healthwatchbristol.co.uk/report/2022-07-05/report-dignity-hospital-care


Year in review – North Somerset

Healthwatch Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire Annual Report 2022-236

Reaching out

131 people
shared their experiences of health and social care services 
with us, helping to raise awareness of issues and improve 
care.

1033 people
came to us for clear advice and information and many 
received signposting so that they could make informed 
choices.

Making a difference to care
We published

1 report
Our ‘Unheard carers from minority groups in 
North Somerset’ report highlighted the experiences of 
carers from the local Traveller community, Asian carers, 
Syrian refugee carers, and carers who have a disability 
themselves.

Health and care that works for you
We’re lucky to have

8
outstanding volunteers who gave up 39 days to make care 
better for our community.

We’re funded by our local authority. In 2022-23 we received

£54,284
which is the same as the previous year.

We employed

2 full time equivalent staff
who help us carry out our work.

Page 132

https://www.healthwatchnorthsomerset.co.uk/report/2022-09-20/report-unheard-carers-minority-groups-north-somerset
https://www.healthwatchnorthsomerset.co.uk/report/2022-09-20/report-unheard-carers-minority-groups-north-somerset


Year in review – South Glos

Healthwatch Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire Annual Report 2022-237

Reaching out

76 people
shared their experiences of health and social care services 
with us, helping to raise awareness of issues and improve 
care.

866 people
came to us for clear advice, information and signposting to 
help them with issues such as GP access, mental health and 
the cost-of-living crisis.

Making a difference to care
We published

1 report
Our ’Lessons from health visiting during 
COVID-19: the experiences of South 
Gloucestershire residents’ report highlighted the 
impact of the national redeployment of staff and impact 
on mothers in areas of higher need, and their access to mental 
health support from maternity and health visiting services.

Health and care that works for you
We’re lucky to have

2
outstanding volunteers who gave up 10 days to make care 
better for our community.

We’re funded by our local authority. In 2022-23 we received

£54,936
which is the same as the previous year.

We employed

2 full time equivalent staff
who help us carry out our work.

Page 133

https://www.healthwatchsouthglos.co.uk/report/2022-06-16/report-lessons-health-visiting-during-covid-19
https://www.healthwatchsouthglos.co.uk/report/2022-06-16/report-lessons-health-visiting-during-covid-19
https://www.healthwatchsouthglos.co.uk/report/2022-06-16/report-lessons-health-visiting-during-covid-19


Conducted Enter and View visits 
at two GP surgeries in 

Weston-super-Mare to follow up 
on patient feedback and to 

evaluate progress and learning 
from a visit in 2020.

Prompted South Gloucestershire 
Council to provide information 
reassuring new mothers after 

concerns were raised about the 
future of local breastfeeding 

groups providing peer support.

W
inter

How we’ve made
a difference this year

Healthwatch Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire Annual Report 2022-238

Shared local information on how 
to find warm and welcoming 
spaces. Gave out information 

packs related to health and care 
during the cost-of-living crisis.

Contributed to a national local 
government association taskforce 
looking at hospital discharges. Our 

work was described as an important 
missing piece of the jigsaw.

Spoke to older people from 
minority ethnic groups about 
the quality of care in hospital 
and how their dignity needs

could be better met.

Shared public feedback about Special 
Education Needs and Disabilities 

(SEND) provision with the Care Quality 
Commission, informing an inspection 

and identifying areas for improvement.

Helped our local Integrated 
Care System promote a nine-week 

public engagement exercise, 
which asked residents: 'what 

keeps you happy, healthy 
and well?'

Created a public ‘how-to’ guide 
with step-by-step advice on how 

to register and access online 
GP services through services such 

as the NHS app, Patient Access, 
and askmyGP and E-consult.

Spring
Sum

m
er

A
utum

n

Page 134



10 years of improving care

Healthwatch Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire Annual Report 2022-239

In 2023, Healthwatch celebrated 10 years of listening to the public, 
gathering their feedback, and sharing it with local services. Change 
for the better can take time and despite incremental improvements, 
some issues continue to persist.

Increasing mental health support for young people
As early as 2014, through our workshops and focus groups, children and young people in North 
Somerset told us about the limited mental health support available to them. They wanted more 
information and help to maintain good mental health.

In 2019, our qualitative research with young students led to a recommendation that the Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG, replaced in 2022 by the Integrated Care Board) apply for national 
funding for Mental Health Support Teams (MHSTs) in schools. North Somerset was the only part of 
the CCG that had not bid for this ‘Trailblazer’ funding.

After bidding and winning the funding, which included money to train practitioners, MHSTs began 
working with local schools. Their role is to offer support for young people who have mild to 
moderate mental health concerns. Nationally, MHSTs have been evaluated and are being 
strengthened. The BNSSG Integrated Care Board’s (ICB) ‘Long Term Plan’ for children and young 
people aims to provide an MHST service to 25% of all school-aged children by 2023.

Addressing the NHS dental crisis
The COVID-19 pandemic exacerbated existing issues around access to NHS dentistry, causing a 
collapse in capacity and a subsequent fallout for millions who could no longer get an NHS 
appointment. Since 2021, we have been raising the issue by representing patients at South West 
(SW) Local Dental Network meetings, and raising concerns with NHS England SW. We joined 
Healthwatch England in calling for dentists to update their profiles on the NHS ‘Find a dentist’ 
website and be transparent about NHS service availability. In July 2022, it became a requirement for 
practices to do this at least every 90 days, so patients can find practices accepting new patients.

In March 2023, we submitted public evidence to the Parliamentary Health and Social Care 
Committee’s inquiry into dentistry, along with 33 other local Healthwatch. We continue to push for 
fairness by sharing data with the local ICS as it commissions dental care from April 2023. Our 
biggest concerns are for access in areas of deprivation where health outcomes are already low 
and for access for our young people.

Ensuring pharmacies services are accessible for everyone
Each area conducted a Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA) in 2022 looking at whether 
pharmacy and chemist services meet the needs of local people. Our anonymised patient feedback 
and data formed a key part of local PNAs, highlighting the impact of pharmacy closures and 
identifying where improvements are needed. As pharmacies will now be able to offer additional 
services to reduce pressure on GPs, regular monitoring of provision is essential. We continue to 
collect feedback around pharmacy service access and work with local commissioners to make 
sure the public can use the services of a pharmacy in their community, when they need one.

“We researched what support is available for young 
people and were surprised to find out how little there is.”

- Student who created a display about depression for our 2015 event 
at Weston College.

Page 135

https://committees.parliament.uk/committee/81/health-and-social-care-committee/
https://committees.parliament.uk/committee/81/health-and-social-care-committee/


"Services can’t make informed improvements without hearing 
your views. That’s why over the last year we have expanded 
our team to focus on producing clearer and easier-to-share
data and insights. This allows us combine themes with experiences,
collate rich pictures about local issues, and understand who from 
our population groups are facing significant gaps that services 
and commissioners should know about."

Vicky Marriott, Chief Officer for Healthwatch Bristol,
North Somerset and South Gloucestershire

Listening to your 
experiences

Healthwatch Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire Annual Report 2022-2310 Page 136



Lessons from health visiting 
during COVID-19

Healthwatch Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire Annual Report 2022-2311

New mothers told us that there were issues with the transition from 
maternity care in hospital to the health visiting service in the community.
Parents told us they didn’t know what to expect, there was limited information and 
reported that the service wasn’t responsive to them. Particularly during the COVID-19 
pandemic, some mums had no contact with a health visitor at all.

Parents who had been seen by a health visitor said they wanted to spend more time 
discussing their mental health and the types of support available. Thanks to 118 people 
who shared their feedback with us, we raised the issue of mental health support for new 
parents with Sirona care & health, and with their partners in the Community Children’s 
Health Partnership.

What difference have these findings made?
The employment of three health visitors for perinatal and infant mental health across BNSSG in 2022 
has brought in specialists who have acted on our insights. They provided training to public health 
nursing staff, supported the parent-infant relationship, and helped staff with their holistic 
assessments and support skills, patient referrals, patient signposting and record keeping.

This team undertook scoping and audits of two areas that our report had pinpointed.

✓ improving the pathways for patients into mental health support. The Sirona team audited the 
standard of the assessment questions, and an updated pathway has now been introduced. There 
is now renewed importance given to asking mental health assessment questions, to fully support 
families experiencing challenges with their emotional wellbeing or mental health.

✓ Improving health visitor practice with families and other professionals. This has led to better 
training opportunities, better referrals and a more joined-up approach with midwifery and the 
third sector.

Our report findings aim to influence the mental health workstream for the new family hubs and ’Start 
for Life’ programme, and work on a BNSSG-wide perinatal and infant mental health multi-agency 
pathway.

“The Healthwatch report for South Gloucestershire contributed a 
valuable insight which has informed approaches to staff training 
and liaison pathways.”
- Dr Jo Webb, Lead for Perinatal and Infant Mental Health, Public 
Health Nursing, Sirona care & health

Key recommendations
• Ensure that there is mandatory training in mental health for health visitors so 

that they feel confident discussing mental health conditions.

• Take steps to standardise and normalise the signposting and recording of 
support for women with existing mental health conditions.

• Have a process to check mother’s engagement with support for mental 
health.

• Health visitors help to build awareness of the local Maternity Voices 
Partnership.

• Make postnatal handovers from the maternity staff to the health visiting 
service effective and supportive.

Page 137

https://www.healthwatchsouthglos.co.uk/report/2022-06-16/report-lessons-health-visiting-during-covid-19
https://www.healthwatchsouthglos.co.uk/report/2022-06-16/report-lessons-health-visiting-during-covid-19


Improving maternal mental 
health support

Healthwatch Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire Annual Report 2022-2312

Delays accessing mental health support can have a devastating impact 
on new parents. We reached out to local women about issues around 
continuity of care, mental health support, and having agency and access 
to information.
As part of a wider piece of work by Healthwatch England, we spoke in-depth to five 
mothers who had given birth in the last two years and had experienced mental health 
issues before they gave birth. In addition, we helped distribute Healthwatch England’s 
national survey, asking new mothers and parents about their experiences of mental health 
before, during, and after birth. 69 people across Bristol, North Somerset and South 
Gloucestershire completed the survey.

Healthwatch England filed Freedom of information requests to explore uptake of post-
natal health checks, explored their use for checking mothers' mental health which helped 
to understand differences in the provision of mental health support across the country. 
This snapshot of how services and commissioners monitor and track postnatal 
consultations was published as a report called ‘Left unchecked: why maternal mental 
health matters’.

What difference will this make?
We have shared our findings and the experiences of the women we spoke to with 
key local organisations including:

• Our local Integrated Care Board

• the Perinatal Mental Health Board

• the System Quality Group

• the local Health Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees

• Health and Wellbeing Boards

“I cried every day while pregnant and felt trapped. Everything 
overwhelmed me once I gave birth. All I was told was to reach 
out to groups that allowed you to speak to other mums in the 
same boat. But I needed real counselling.”
- Tanya, from Bristol

Of 69 respondents from our area:
• 60 said they had the six-week check

• 44 of those said mental health and wellbeing were not mentioned or 

not enough time was spent talking about it

• 12 said mental health support in the postnatal check was 'just right'

• Family Hub teams

• Avon and Wiltshire Mental Health NHS Partnership

• University Hospitals Bristol and Weston NHS 
Foundation Trust

• North Bristol NHS Trust

• Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprise (VCSE) 
organisations

Page 138

https://www.healthwatchbristol.co.uk/news/2023-03-22/six-week-postnatal-checks-are-failing-many-new-mothers-healthwatch-england-warns
https://www.healthwatchbristol.co.uk/news/2023-03-22/six-week-postnatal-checks-are-failing-many-new-mothers-healthwatch-england-warns


Commissioned work to improve 
planned and emergency care

Healthwatch Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire Annual Report 2022-2313

As communities change, services must adapt to meet people’s needs. In North 
Somerset, the census shows an increase in the number of older adults – with 
many of those people living with multiple health conditions.
In 2022, plans were drawn up to bring about the next stage of the development of Weston 
General Hospital, and we were asked to facilitate the inclusion of local views and experiences to 
ensure any changes would benefit people of all ages and levels of need.

We set up and supported over three months a patient and public reference group, which met to 
look at the proposed improvements of the Healthy Weston 2 programme. A public engagement 
exercise was then held and over 5,000 members of the public took part.

1. Becoming a centre of surgical excellence. Aims to provide thousands more 
planned operations for adults of all ages at the site in Weston-super-Mare.

2. Becoming a centre of excellence for older people’s care. Aims for Weston 
Hospital to provide specialised older peoples care, and a range of services 
for people of all ages.

3. Helping people who come to hospital in an emergency get an 
assessment and be treated more quickly. Pathways straight into wards for 
older people.

“It’s essential for new services to be designed and 
shaped by taking both clinical expertise and 
personal experiences into account.”
- Annabel Plaister, Healthy Weston 2 Patient and 
Public Reference Group participant

The improvement programme focused on 
three key areas:

What difference will this make?
The Healthy Weston 2 programme adopted a whole-system approach, and both clinical 
and non-clinical colleagues across BNSSG helped design the model. Outcomes are:

• Hospital and community teams will improve pre-discharge planning in the hospital 
through an 'integrated discharge team'. It is in the best interest of patients to be in 
hospital for as short a time as possible. Management therefore starts at admission.

• Increase the amount and type of planned operations and procedures at Weston General 
Hospital.

• Make Weston General Hospital a more dynamic and attractive place to work, help build a 
diverse workforce, provide training and career opportunities to help retain staff there.

Page 139



What difference has this made?
The project has helped to reduce the time and money used on calls to GP surgeries and has helped 
people from diverse communities, many with reduced financial circumstances, receive care and 
advice when they need it.

Our free HealthClick ‘how-to’ guides explaining how to set up the NHS app, askmyGP, Patient Access, 
Accurx, and E-consult are now highly prized and were valued by attendees who made notes on the 
pages and could save passwords and tips. The guide has been translated into Chinese and Somali, 
and can be downloaded for free on our websites. A recorded presentation is also available.

People attending pulmonary rehabilitation groups were given HealthClick sessions on using lung 
health apps and the NHS website to give them the skills to look up and potentially help understand 
and better manage their own conditions. Wider impacts are likely to be a reduced reliance on 
services, and higher levels of resilience and self-care.

We taught staff in 14 GP practices and seven care homes how to support patients and residents to 
use online health resources. Community groups provided up to 50 volunteers during the project who 
continue to support people's digital skills with ongoing sessions in their communities.

Connecting older adults to online 
health services and guides

Healthwatch Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire Annual Report 2022-2314

Over a period of a year and across three local authorities, we offered older 
adults opportunities to learn and develop digital skills. We connected them to 
digital resources such as the NHS app and other online appointment booking 
services. We created ‘HealthClick’ workshops, teaching over 1000 people 
including staff in healthcare settings.
We’d heard over many years running up to the pandemic how older people felt locked out from 
the digital options available in GP surgeries. We highlighted this digital exclusion in a report in 2018 
and created a simple set of ‘how to’ guides. During the lockdowns in 2020, digital skills became 
more essential than ever, and exclusion deepened. We won funding in 2022 to provide group 
sessions for local people and staff to help them to make use of digital health opportunities.

1. Download and use the NHS app
2. Book GP appointments
3. Order prescriptions
4. Access consultations by phone or video
5. View medical records
6. Receive test results
7. Find trusted advice for managing their health conditions
8. Be confident online

People learnt how to:

Supported 1023 
people and held 147 

learning sessions

“Having the NHS online makes me more confident. It stops 
me having to wait on the telephone for ages for a response 
from someone. I have found it very helpful.”

- HealthClick session attendee, aged 75

Page 140

https://www.healthwatchnorthsomerset.co.uk/digital-guide
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=lrEHmXg1AJw&t=383s


Three ways we have made a 
difference for the community

Healthwatch Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire Annual Report 2022-2315

Our work targets people whose experiences aren’t often heard.

Improving the hospital discharge process
Last year we spoke to 141 patients, family members, carers, and NHS 
staff about the hospital discharge process More than 75% said they 
felt delays in admission or discharge had a negative effect on them.

Following our recommendations, local hospital trusts and providers of 
community care have committed to ensuring staff, patients and their 
loved ones know what discharge pathway a patient is on, and what 
this means for their care. New communication resources, including 
new leaflets explaining the discharge pathways and new systems like 
'Tablets to Take away' have been designed to speed up the process.

Supporting carers from disadvantaged 
communities
Many people who look after a loved one don’t see themselves as a 
carer and may not be receiving the help they're entitled to.

Our work with carers including Syrian refugees, Asian carers, carers 
from the Traveller community, and carers with a disability themselves, 
has informed North Somerset Council’s Carer’s Strategy. The council 
told us the report ‘highlighted a need to ensure we are proactive in 
engaging with seldom heard groups and communities and that 
actions are co-produced to remove barriers and reduce inequalities.’ 
They also said the report had informed their anti-racist action plan.

Making annual health checks easier and more 
accessible for people with a learning disability
Our checklist has increased the number of people with a learning 
disability who are attending their annual health check (AHC).

The easy read checklist is available and used by many GPs who can 
access the resource via computer systems linked to every 
surgery. GPs send the checklist out to people with a learning disability 
or their carer before the AHC. The aim of the AHC is to promote good 
health and ensure better and longer lives. In 2023, our area boasted 
an 83% completion rate of AHCs – the highest rate in the South West. 
98% leave AHCs with a health action plan, compared to 53% previously

Page 141

https://bnssghealthiertogether.org.uk/health-wellbeing/home-first/your-pathway-home/


Healthwatch Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire Annual Report 2022-2316

Over the past year we have worked hard to make sure we 
hear from as many people as possible across our local 
area. We have made it our business to reach out to 
communities and go to where they are. We aim to build 
trust, listen with empathy, and then share experiences 
anonymously. That way services can hear about everyone's 
needs.

This year we have reached different communities by:

• Meeting people face-to-face, in the community at places of their choosing
• Translating materials into languages including Polish, Somali, Cantonese, 

Hindi, Urdu, and Gujarati
• Providing resources in formats such as Easy Read and British Sign Language
• Working alongside community link workers inside settings and local places
• Hosting community organisations out of our new engagement hub 
• in the heart of Bristol

Hearing from
all communities

Page 142



Healthwatch Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire Annual Report 2022-2317

Increasing opportunities for 
face-to-face engagement
Our new 'Healthwatch hub' in Bristol offers a space 
for the public to come in and share their 
experiences with us face to face.

During the COVID-19 pandemic, we had to adapt to 
collecting feedback and engaging with the local 
community online. But we found it hard making 
connections with more disadvantaged 
communities, especially those who are digitally 
excluded.

This year, we opened our engagement hub in The 
Galleries shopping centre. Volunteers and staff are 
available from 9:30am to 4:30pm, Monday to Friday, 
to talk to the public and provide information about 
local services.

“The new space has helped us reach people from across the area, 
including those previously unaware of our work or who may struggle to 
be heard. As well as welcoming local guest organisations, it’s wonderful 
to sit down and get to the heart of people’s stories and concerns.” 

- Julie Bird, Engagement Programme Manager for Healthwatch BNSSG

Breaking down barriers to 
sexual health care
Sex workers are a highly marginalised and 
stigmatised group who may not seek or receive 
the healthcare they need.

We made contact with a local charity to hear 
from sex workers about their use of health and 
care services. Some said they struggled to get 
support, and that judgements about their 
occupation was affecting access to certain 
treatments such as PrEP (a preventative 
medication which greatly reduces the risk of 
acquiring HIV infection). They told us healthcare 
questionnaires could be insensitive, 
asking uncomfortable and intrusive questions. 
They felt that more information or education for 
professionals around how to work with people 
in their occupation would help reduce the 
trauma some of these appointments had 
caused.

We shared this feedback with Unity Sexual Health, the provider of sexual health services in our area 
and with University Hospitals Bristol and Weston Trust. Unity reached out to the sex workers providing 
a better explanation of the process for providing PrEP and why a full history is needed to start 
treatment.

Unity also addressed concerns which were raised around the practice of asking people to queue 
outside the sexual health clinic, in full view of the public. The service has begun offering an 
appointment-only service. Vulnerable people and those without use of a telephone are invited for an 
assessment face-to-face with a clinician and a care plan is created to address their needs.

Page 143



Advice and 
information

Healthwatch Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire Annual Report 2022-23

People can feel lost in the system, and don’t know where to
turn. Healthwatch has been giving confidential support and
free information to help people understand their options and 
get the help they need.

This year we’ve helped people by:

• Providing information about local schemes designed to help people manage 
their health, including free blood pressure and diabetes checks, stop smoking 
advice, and information available in languages other than English

• Offering summaries in accessible language of key sources of information 
such as Care Quality Commission reports

• Sharing resources to help people cope with the cost-of-living crisis, 
such as ‘warm’ and ‘welcoming’ spaces

• Helping people navigate the NHS ‘Find a dentist’ website
• Signposting to advocacy services and official complaint processes

18 Page 144



Healthwatch Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire Annual Report 2022-2319

Improving the comfort of patients awaiting surgery
When a patient contacted us to say she’d been uncomfortable waiting for a planned 
operation because her hospital gown was too small, we raised this the local Integrated 
Care Board.

Barbara told us that the doctors and nurses looking after her ahead of her operation were 
fabulous, but she found that the hospital gown she was given was too small.

“The indignity of being on a mixed ward in a gown too short while 
waiting five hours for a procedure to happen was demeaning and 
embarrassing.”
- Barbara, local resident

“Both North Bristol Trust and University Hospitals Bristol and Weston 
are committing to internal communications updates to ensure 
people are aware of the gowns available.”
- Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire ICB

We queried this this with the Integrated Care Board (ICB), who contacted the local hospital 
trusts in our area. Both trusts said they will ensure staff and patients know that there are 
different sizes of gowns available, and that staff should tell patients that they can ask for an 
alternative gown.

Good communication promotes dignity and is central to 
the patient experience

“Hospital staff did not, despite all our 
efforts make reasonable adjustments, 
add a note to our files, or communicate 
with us via our preferred methods.”
- Patient who stayed at Southmead Hospital

Following public feedback, we investigated 
experiences around dignity for inpatients in our two 
local hospital trusts. People told us that some 
experiences were very good, while others had issues 
around reasonable adjustments, access to British Sign 
Language and interpreters. Some had had to rely on 
family or friends to translate private medical 
information. 

Our ‘Dignity in Hospital’ Care’ report recommended 
that professionals have better training and use digital 
systems to flag patients’ communication needs, such 
as a visual or sensory impairment or language barrier. 
Both hospitals said they will ensure all patients are 
told about services for interpreting or BSL and provide 
better learning opportunities for staff.

“I was in ICU, they phoned my husband regularly, and when I came home, gave me a care 
diary so I could read what they had done, when they had turned me over, every couple of 
hours, that type of thing....fantastic”.
- Patient who stayed at the Bristol Royal Infirmary

Page 145

https://www.healthwatchbristol.co.uk/report/2022-07-05/report-dignity-hospital-care


Healthwatch Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire Annual Report 2022-2320

We’re supported by a team of amazing volunteers
who are at the heart of what we do. Thanks to their 
efforts, experience, and knowledge we are able 
to expand our capacity and carry out our 
wide Healthwatch remit to the best of our ability.

This year our volunteers:

• Attended and contributed to our priority setting meetings
• Provided information and guidance to the public
• Worked with disadvantaged and marginalised communities, 

ensuring their experiences and feedback were heard
• Took part in our first Enter and View visits since before the 

COVID-19 pandemic to observe care and talk to patients
• Supported us with data inputting and given NHS communications help 

with patient-friendly language
• Helped us achieve ‘Investing in Volunteers’ accreditation

Volunteering

Page 146



Raquel (South Gloucestershire)
“Volunteering allows me to develop new skills and resilience, 
which has a huge impact on my wellbeing and mental 
health. Contributing to the improvement of health and social 
care services motivates me and builds my confidence. Being 
a Trustee able to make decisions at strategic level is a huge 
responsibility that I feel proud to undertake. My main role is 
Champion for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion (EDI), currently 
looking at how Healthwatch develops engagement skills 
to hear from people who have the worst health outcomes.”

Suzanne (North Somerset)
“As a former nurse, I have always been very interested in 
listening and understanding the needs of individuals 
who access health care. I have also had experience from
a patient perspective, so can understand the frustrations that 
people face at what can be a very difficult time in their lives. 
Healthwatch helps to give patients a voice, to make sure
that they feel they are being listened to; this is why I
wanted to volunteer my time as it is an ethos that really 
resonates with me.”

Melanie (Bristol)
“When I retired 15 months ago, I missed the team I worked with 
(Adult Social Care Occupational Therapy). I also missed 
interacting with the public, so my role in Healthwatch has ticked 
both boxes. I take statements from people who stop by the hub 
in The Galleries and I go to consultation events when I’m 
free. I’m interested in how priorities are set for projects & have 
taken Enter and View training. It’s so important to listen to 
people’s experiences. It’s a win-win situation when the person 
can offload, and we can collect evidence. Words direct from a 
patient or service user are very powerful.”

Healthwatch Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire Annual Report 2022-2321

Do you feel inspired?
We are always on the lookout for new 
volunteers, so please get in touch today.

The Galleries, BS1 3DX (9:30am – 4:30pm)

03300 553251

Jacqui@healthwatchbnssg.co.uk

Page 147



Finance and future priorities

Healthwatch Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire Annual Report 2022-2322

To help us carry out our work we receive funding from our local 
authorities under the Health and Social Care Act 2012.

Our income and expenditure

Income Expenditure

Annual grant 
from Government

£229,070 Expenditure on all pay £269,110

Additional income £105,843 Non-pay expenditure £50,200

Interest £441.00 Office accommodation £12,242

Total income £335,354 Total expenditure £331,552

Additional funding is broken down by:

• ~ £4,018 funding received from Healthwatch England for a project to understand maternal 
mental health experiences.

• ~ £73,750 funding received from Ageing Well Programme (ICB) for HealthClick. Support 
digital skills in older adults and increase use of health apps and online health services.

• ~ £11,270 funding received to involve patients in the plans to improve Weston Hospital 
General Hospital.

• ~ £14,700 funding received to support a Bristol Health Partners’ staff role working with 
service users on redesigning stroke services.

• ~ £2,105 funding for A&E work at North Bristol Trust.

Next steps
In the ten years since Healthwatch was launched, we’ve demonstrated the power of public feedback 
in helping the health and care system understand what is working, monitor issues and think about 
how things can be better in the future.

Services are currently facing unprecedented challenges from depleted workforces and a growing 
backlog. Over the next year we will continue our role in collecting feedback from people in our local 
community and giving them a voice to help shape improvements.

We will strive to tackle inequalities that we know exist structurally, and work to reduce the barriers you 
face when accessing care, whether that is because of where you live, your income, your race, 
education level, sexuality, faith or other factors.

Top priorities for 2023-24
1. Bristol: investigate the quality of and access to mental health services for adults.

2. North Somerset: understand the public experience of backlogs, waiting for appointments, 
consultations, and procedures in secondary care.

3. South Gloucestershire: understand issues people have relating to social care assessments.

4. BNSSG-wide: examples of GP access and communication with patients. Provide awareness 
about the positive developments of non-GP roles in surgeries, services in pharmacies and work 
with the third sector to deliver hyper-locally.

5. Carry out Enter and View observations.

Page 148



Healthwatch Bristol, North Somerset and South 
Gloucestershire, Unit 21, Union Gallery, The Galleries, 
Broadmead, Bristol BS1 3XD.

Healthwatch Bristol, North Somerset and South 
Gloucestershire uses the Healthwatch Trademark when 
undertaking our statutory activities as covered by the 
licence agreement.

Statutory 
statements

Healthwatch Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire Annual Report 2022-2323 Page 149



Our Healthwatch Board of Trustees are seven members from across the three local Healthwatch 
regions who work on a voluntary basis to provide direction, oversight and governance. They 
ensure that we have frameworks for managing finance, policy development and human 
resources. Throughout 2022-23 the Board met 12 times and discussed relocating our office, a staff 
restructure and recruitment drive, and overseeing business diversification. In 2022 a consultant 
carried out a strategic review and helped to develop an action plan.

How we ensure wider public involvement in deciding our work priorities:

• Our Prioritisation Panel is an assembly of volunteers, staff and Board members. They meet bi-
monthly to discuss public feedback, identify trends and log issues. They use a scoring matrix 
weighted towards people with protected characteristics or facing health inequalities. 

• When actions are recommended these may be escalations to regulators or to strategic 
partners, information gathering or targeted outreach. 

• The Panel may highlight risk or concern by sharing data with the Integrated Care System, 
services or commissioners, or logging the item for ongoing monitoring. 

• The Panel selects and helps to plan Enter and View visits based on local feedback. 
• An annual meeting for our workplan looks at sources of evidence including the JSNAs, and 

system priorities of the Health and Wellbeing Boards, Integrated Care and our Local Voices 
reports. The Panel sets region-specific or BNSSG-wide qualitative research topics.

• This decision-making policy is published on our websites.

The way we work

Methods and systems used across the year to obtain 
peoples experiences
During 2022-23 we have been available by phone, email, and webforms provided on our 
websites. We provide sealable leaflets for people who want to write about their care which 
they can post back to us free of charge. We go out into communities and meet people to 
gather feedback, and our office is a dedicated face-to-face engagement hub in a 
shopping centre in central Bristol. It is where volunteers and staff collect feedback and offer 
information and guidance. We attend meetings of local community groups and take part in 
wider activities such as Pride, and International Women’s Day. At all times we aim to collect 
demographic data about the people we hear from. We offer training to our engagement 
staff and volunteers to help them confidently explain the impact that demographic 
information can have once it is linked to feedback. We aim to empower people and 
communities who may otherwise feel invisible. 

We use QR codes on posters and SmartSurvey online to give people digital access to our 
research. We share upcoming activities in a newsletter, available to all, and our website has 
an events calendar. This annual report is made available to as many members of the 
public and partner organisations as possible. We publish it on our website and send details 
out via social media. We will also have printed copies available.

Responses to recommendations
We have received responses to requests for information or our report recommendations 
from the Integrated Care System, the Acute Hospital Trusts, Sirona Care & Health, 
VitaMinds, Local Authority Adult Social Care, and Public Health – in 2022 we made 
contact with the Patient Experience staff team at Avon and Wiltshire Mental Health 
Partnership Trust and look forward to building ties with them. Dental feedback was 
escalated to Healthwatch England which resulted in an inquiry being held by the House 
of Commons Health and Care Committee in April 2023. Bristol Special Educational Needs 
and Disabilities feedback and autism-related service feedback has been escalated to 
CQC in 2022.
Healthwatch Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire Annual Report 2022-2324 Page 150



Project / activity Changes made to services

Dignity in hospital care project – Accessible 
Information

North Bristol Trust in 2022-23 trained 100 staff in 
supporting patients with visual impairments and 
hosted several Deaf Awareness sessions with Sign 
Solutions. They launched an e-learning package on 
LEARN, the trust’s online training platform for 
accessibility which hosts NHS England’s Accessible 
Information Standard Introduction and Towards 
Excellence sessions. They have co-designed a 
Visual Impairment Awareness session and plan to 
add a deaf awareness and digital accessibility 
session.

Lessons from health visiting during COVID-
19 project

Sirona have updated perinatal mental health and 
infant pathways. They have also completed audits 
which have improved support and training for 
nurses, and led to better referrals to mental health 
services and liaison with midwives across BNSSG.

Unheard carers from minority groups 
project

Informed North Somerset Councils anti-racist 
action plan and contributed to their Carers 
Strategy.

Location Reason for visit What you did as a result

GP Practice
Graham Road 
Surgery (Pier Health 
Group PCN.) North 
Somerset.

In response to patient 
feedback around poor access, 
communication issues, 
appointment concerns and 
delays. Follow up on previous 
E&V visit in January 2020.

The recommendation report was shared 
with the Primary Care Development team 
at the Integrated Care System and Primary 
Care Strategy Board. The findings have 
been taken up by the Health Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee in North Somerset. The 
Care Quality Commission have revisited 
and the surgery is being supported to 
improve in several areas.

GP Practice
Horizon Health 
Centre (Pier Health 
Group PCN.) North 
Somerset.

These two surgeries are 
located in neighbourhoods of 
income deprivation.

As above.

Healthwatch Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire Annual Report 2022-2325

Enter and view
This year, we made 2 of Enter and View visits. We made 16 recommendations or actions as 
a result of this activity.

Health and Wellbeing Board
Healthwatch BNSSG is represented on the Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire Health 
and Wellbeing Boards and Health Overview Scrutiny Committees by our Chief Officer, and the Chair of 
the Board of Trustees. During 2022-23 our representatives have effectively carried out this role by 
providing common themes from public feedback and qualitative findings from research reports.

2022–2023 Outcomes

Page 151



Healthwatch Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire
Unit 21, Union Gallery, The Galleries
Broadmead
Bristol
BS1 3XD

healthwatchbristol.co.uk | healthwatchnorthsomerset.co.uk | healthwatchsouthglos.co.uk

t: 03300 553251

e: contact@healthwatchbristol.co.uk | contact@healthwatchnorthsomerset.co.uk | 
contact@healthwatchsouthglos

@HWBristol | @HealthwatchNS | @HWSouthGlos

bristolhealthwatch | HealthwatchNorthSomerset | HWSouthGlos

@healthwatchbnssg

Healthwatch Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire
Page 152



HOSP meeting
12th October 2023

P
age 153



We published 1 equality report ‘Unheard carers from 

minority ethnic groups in North Somerset

HOSP North Somerset Oct 2023 2

Annual Report 2022/23
Healthwatch North Somerset

131 people shared their experience of health and care 

services with us. We collated them into themed and 

sub-themed Local Voices reports and live via PowerBi.

1033 people came to us for information and guidance, 

and many received signposting so that they could 

make informed choices about their care

P
age 154



3

North Somerset 

equality project;

This research informed the 

NS Carers Strategy and the 

NSC anti-racism action plan

The engagement heard 

about the needs of carers 

from the Syrian refugee 

community, Asian Carers, 

carers from the Traveller 

community and carers 

coping with a disability 

themselves.

HOSP North Somerset Oct 2023

P
age 155



Health Scrutiny Committee  January 2022  South Gloucestershire 

4

8 outstanding volunteers gave up 39 days-worth of hours, to 
make care better for our community by their participation 
in;

our priority setting panel

providing Information and Guidance

representing us at meetings with acute providers, 
regional teams and with Patient Participation Group 
Chairs

Enter and View visits

Engagement/ data inputting

Helped us achieve ‘Investors in Volunteers’ accreditation

Funding; our funding comes from the Department of 

Health via the Local Authority.

In 22/23 this was £54,284.00

Capacity; 2 FTE staff

P
age 156



•A one-year project funded by the Ageing Well 
Programme ICB

•1023 Learners were reached at 47 events across 
BNSSG

•Held public events within For All Healthy Living Centre 
& 168 Medical Centre, Tyntesfield PCN at surgeries 
Brockway, Tower House, Long Ashton, Backwell

• It trained staff in GP practices and care homes

•We created and provided easy-to-follow guides

HOSP North Somerset Oct 2023 5

HealthClick - older adults 

supported to use health 

apps to improve access 

to GPs and build digital 

health knowledge

P
age 157



6

 North  

  Somerset      

  Enter and  
  Views

Our team of volunteers made 
sixteen recommendations on 
how to improve public, patient 
and carer services at 2 
practices in the Pier Health 
Group PCN including buying 
chairs with arms for the waiting 
areas, informing residents their 
askmyGP opening hours, and 
making it easier to make an 
appointment.

HOSP North Somerset Oct 2023

P
age 158



 NHS Dental feedback –Healthwatch Bristol, 

  North Somerset and South Gloucestershire 

  contributed to the national call for evidence 

 about NHS dental services in 2023. 

The government report of August 2023 reflects the issues 

Healthwatch have raised over the last three years.

https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/40901/docu

ments/199172

Last year many hundreds of people contacted us in the 

BNSSG area with harrowing feedback about access to care. 

There were 80,000 clicks on the digital Dental Information 

Guide we put up our social media sites

We are bringing public experiences of care to meetings 

where they will inform design of services at a local level

HOSP North Somerset Oct 2023 7

P
age 159

https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/40901/documents/199172
https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/40901/documents/199172


T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

          

   
 
Report to the Health Overview and Scrutiny Panel 
 
Date of Meeting: Thursday 12 October 2023  
 
Subject of Report: Graham Road Surgery and Horizon Health Centre Care 
Quality Commission Inspections  
 
Officers Presenting:  
Brandie Deignan, Chief Executive Officer, Pier Health Group Limited 
John Heather, Director, Pier Health Group Limited 
Susie McMullen, Head of Primary Care Contracts, BNSSG ICB  
Michael Richardson, Deputy Director of Nursing, BNSSG ICB  
 
 
Recommendations 
The HOSP is asked to note and comment upon the contents of this report.  
 
1. Summary of Report 
The purpose of this report is to; 

- Brief the HOSP with regards the most recent inspections of Graham Road Surgery 
(GRS) and Horizon Health Centre which have been conducted by the Care Quality 
Commission (CQC). 

- Brief the HOSP with regards to the actions which are being taken by Pier Health 
Group Limited (PHGL) in response to the findings and recommendations of the CQC 
inspections. 

- Invite comments on the above from HOSP members.  
 
2. Policy 
This report refers to the regulations within the Health and Social Care Act 2018 (Regulated 
Activities) Regulations 2014 as CQC assess compliance with these regulations during 
inspection activity.  
 
3. Details 
 
3.1 CQC Inspections May 2023  
GRS was inspected by CQC on 18/05/2023, this was an announced follow up 
comprehensive inspection.  
HHC was inspected by CQC on 25/05/2023, this was an announced follow up 
comprehensive inspection.  
 
Following the inspection on 18/05/2023 the GRS was issued with two warning notices. One 
for failing to comply with Regulation 17, Good governance, of The Health and Social Care 

Page 161

Agenda Item 10



 

2 
 

Act 2008 (Regulated Activities) Regulations 2014. And a second for failing to comply with 
Regulation 12, Safe care and treatment, of The Health and Social Care Act 2008 
(Regulated Activities) Regulations 2014. The CQC warning notices stated that the practice 
was required to become compliant with the regulations by 31/08/2023.  
 
Following the inspection on 25/05/2023 HHC was issued with one warning notice for failing 
to comply with Regulation 17, good governance, of The Health and 
Social Care Act 2008 (Regulated Activities) Regulations 2014. The CQC warning notice 
stated that the practice was required to become compliant with the regulation by 
31/08/2023. 
 
The overall outcome of the inspections in May 2023 further to publication of the full 
inspection report on 01/09/2023 is that the two practices were rated as inadequate overall 
with inadequate ratings in the domains of safe and well led. As a result of the inadequate 
ratings the two practices have been put into special measures.  
This means that the practices have been under close monitoring and would be reinspected 
by the CQC within six months.  
 
It was then subsequently announced by CQC that re-inspections would take place on 20 
September 2023. The inspection on 20 September was to review implementation of 
corrective actions in response to the warning notices, it was not an inspection to review all 
the findings of the inspections in May and the associated ratings given. CQC have stated 
that this reinspection of the ratings will take place within six months of the publication of the 
inspection reports on 01/09/2023.  
 
PHGL appreciate that the report may cause concerns for patients and want to reassure 
people that we are committed to making all necessary improvements and are confident that 
the outcome of the CQC inspections in September 2023 will reflect this. The practice has 
new clinical leadership and has recently completed recruitment to all our clinical positions. 
These successful recruitments have been taking place before the CQC inspections took 
place, however a couple of the GPs were still working their notices. We believe that we are 
in a stronger position to address the concerns raised by the CQC and deliver the necessary 
improvements, now that we have a full set of clinicians, something we have struggled to 
achieve in the past four years. 
 
Further to the issuing of the warning notices by CQC, BNSSG ICB placed GRS and HHC 
into enhanced surveillance, involving regular Quality Improvement Group (QIG) meetings 
under the national quality board framework. The QIG meetings involve the ICB, the 
practices and system partners including CQC, North Somerset Council, NHS England and 
Health Watch. The meetings were focussed on seeking assurance that the practices were 
implementing the required actions in order to become compliant with the regulations by 
31/08/2023 and most importantly ensuring that policies and processes are sustainable 
beyond 31/08/2023 and that meaningful change at a leadership level has been made and is 
maintained.  
 
The regular QIG meetings have resulted in the practices providing reassurance and 
evidence that they are fulfilling the actions required of the warning notices.  
 
A key concern highlighted by the CQC in May 2023 for both practices was a substantial 
backlog of electronic documents on the Docman platform, including letters from secondary 
care, prescription change requests from consultants and results. The QIG were regularly 
updated on progress on reducing the backlog and it was reported that this had been fully 

Page 162



 

3 
 

cleared at both sites. Of the several thousand identified documents that appeared not to 
have been processed it was determined that the vast majority had but had not been logged 
correctly due to a system error, which has now been corrected. A log has been kept of 
those patients whose documents appeared to have been missed to determine whether any 
harms or potential harms had occurred, to which to date none have been identified. As part 
of the CQC reinspection in September 2023, remote scrutiny will have been performed on 
the Docman system to confirm clearance of this backlog.  
 
In addition, PHGL have reviewed and revised practice processes and procedures to ensure 
they align with best practices and regulatory requirements. Changes have also been made 
in how PHGL manage patient records, prescribe medications, handle complaints, and 
implement safeguarding measures. Furthermore, PHGL have invested in additional training 
and development for the team. This has included training on documentation practices, 
safeguarding procedures, infection control, and other areas highlighted by the CQC 
inspections in May 2023.  
 
3.2 CQC Inspections 20 September 2023 
The CQC re-inspected GRS and HHC in September. The inspections on 20 September 
were to review implementation of corrective actions in response to the warning notices, they 
were not inspections to review all the findings of the inspections in May and the associated 
ratings given. CQC have stated that the reinspection of the ratings will take place within six 
months of the publication of the inspection reports on 01/09/2023.  
 
The inspections were positive. CQC noted that lots of improvements were seen, there were 
some actions identified which the practice has completed or is in the process of completing. 
The outcome of the inspections in respect of the warning notices is awaited at the time of 
writing.  
 
3.3 Next steps  
A focus going forward is for the Practices to ensure that the improvements that have been 
made are embedded into everyday business and that there is not a deterioration to the 
standards that were found earlier this year. In addition to the CQC reinspection (within six 
months of the publication of the May inspection report and ratings) the ICB will be 
undertaking an Insight Visit in order to triangulate evidence with the assurance provided by 
PHGL and the latest findings from CQC. The latest QIG meeting concentrated on 
leadership and culture where encouragingly the Practices were able to demonstrate how 
they would embed improvements by receiving support from the wider Pier Health Group. 
 
4. Consultation 
PHGL issued a statement following the inspection report publication on 01/09/2023. 
Frequently asked questions and answers are also available on the practice website and via 
the practice. 
 
The ICB also has information available to patients who contact the customer services team.  
 
As described above, PHGL has engaged with CQC, HealthWatch and the ICB via the QIG 
meetings to discuss the shortcomings found by the CQC in May 2023 and provide action 
plans to meet the regulatory requirements. 
 
5. Financial Implications 
None.  
 

Page 163



 

4 
 

 
Costs 
None.  
 
Funding 
None.  
 
6. Legal Powers and Implications 
The CQC has legal powers to suspend or remove the CQC registration of a practice should 
they continue to be rated inadequate overall or in any of the five CQC domains.  
 
7. Climate Change and Environmental Implications 
None.  
 
8. Risk Management 
Risks are monitored via the QIG meeting structure described above. As part of this the 
practices have a risks and issues register in place.  
 
9. Equality Implications 
The CQC findings apply to all patients and are being addressed accordingly.  
 
10. Corporate Implications 
None.  
 
11. Options Considered 
Not applicable.  
 
Authors: 
Brandie Deignan, Chief Executive Officer, Pier Health Group Limited 
John Heather, Director, Pier Health Group Limited 
Susie McMullen, Head of Primary Care Contracts, BNSSG ICB  
Michael Richardson, Deputy Director of Nursing, BNSSG ICB 
 
Background Papers: 
CQC inspection reports can be viewed here;  
Graham Road Surgery: Graham Road Surgery - Care Quality Commission (cqc.org.uk) 
Horizon Health Centre: Horizon Health Centre - Care Quality Commission (cqc.org.uk) 
 
Information for patients can be viewed on the practice websites here; 
Graham Road Surgery: News - Graham Road Surgery 
Horizon health Centre: News - Horizon Health Centre (horizonhc.nhs.uk) 
 
 

Page 164

https://www.cqc.org.uk/location/1-7627763965
https://www.cqc.org.uk/location/1-6119242864
https://grahamroadsurgery.nhs.uk/news/
https://www.horizonhc.nhs.uk/news/


1 
 

Health Overview Policy and Scrutiny Panel  
Work Plan October 2023  

(to be updated following each Panel meeting) 
 

The Panel will consider issues of significant public concern, areas of poor performance, and areas where Members think the 
Council could provide better value for money.  This is a “live” document and will evolve as priorities or circumstances change. 

 

SECTION 1 – key ongoing areas of current work   
Topic Reason for scrutiny  

 
Method of scrutiny and 
reporting process     

Timeline Lead 

Healthy 
Weston 
Phase 2 

Statutory: to consider proposed service 
changes; determine potential “Substantial 
Variation” in service; and consider 
options for further 
engagement/consultation if appropriate 

Preliminary briefings followed by 
formal Panel Review of proposals 

• Preliminary Briefing 25/03/22 
• Report to full Panel on 20/04/22. 
• engagement plans outlined at 23/06/22 

Panel 
• Informal update briefing to Panel in 

November 2023 

Paula Clarke, 
Executive Managing 
Director (WGH) 

Winter 
Plans 

To consider health and social care winter 
plans in autumn and review in Spring 

Updates to be brought to 
corresponding HOSP Panels 

 ICB/NSC Adult 
Services 

 

SECTION 2 – planned briefings, workshops, and informal Panel meetings.   Outcomes may, with Chairman’s agreement, 
generate Panel agenda items (for inclusion in S4 below) or, with Panel agreement, escalation to S1 above:-  
Topic Reason for Scrutiny engagement Date Outcome 
Dentistry in NS and CQC 
inspections of Horizon Health 
Centre and Graham Rd GP 
Surgery 

To review and feedback on NHS dentistry services  in North Somerset with 
particular focus on current plans to mitigate challenges around access to 
services.   
To review and feedback on recent CQC inspections  

14/0923 Both items to be brought to full Panel on 
12/10/23 for further scrutiny  

How the Integrated Care system All Councillor briefing to update Members on changes to the Health and Social 
Care system in the district 

18/09/23 Members updated 

Mental Health Services at 
Blackberry Hill 

To review LDA service changes TBA Written briefing to be circulated to Members 

Update on Recommissioning of 
the BNSSG Integrated Sexual 
Health Service 

For updates to be provided to the Panel as per development and implementation 
timeline 

TBA  

    

 

P
age 165

A
genda Item

 11



2 
 

SECTION 3 - agenda reports to the Panel meetings as agreed by the Chairman.   This section provides for the forward 
planning of agendas for the coming year and a record of recent panel meeting activity.   Item outcomes may include proposing 
further work such as additional briefings or potential projects for inclusion in Section 1 
 

Item Purpose  Outcome 
HOSP: 13 July 2023 

Co-option of Healthwatch Chair   
Role, HOSP remit and work plan Panel to consider the role and remit of the Panel and propose items for the work plan  Work Plan updated 
Integrated Care Strategy Report for Panel review and feedback Regular updates requested together 

with ICS data packs and reports from 
Health and Care improvement Groups 

Update on Weston General Hospital  For Panel scrutiny and feedback That Members receive a briefing on 
the Healthy Weston Development 
Plan 

Recommissioning of Sexual Health 
Services  

For Members review and feedback Members reviewed the report and 
sought clarification/assurance around 
timescales and implementation; and 
agreed future updates be brought to 
the Panel 

   

HOSP: 12 October 2024 
Dentistry in North Somerset Scrutiny of proposed plans to support better access to services   
Winter Plans - ICB For Panel review and feedback.  
Winter Plans – NSC Adult Services For Panel review and feedback  
Autumn/Winter Vaccination Programme For Panel review and feedback  
Health Watch – standing item To review the Healthwatch Annual Report 2022/23  
   

HOSP:  14 March 2024 
HW2 Development Plan For Panel scrutiny and feedback.  
Community Diagnostic unit For Panel review and feedback.  
ICS Locality Partnerships Under consideration as standing item to update Members on Locality Partnership 

activities and forward plans 
 

Healthwatch – Standing Item   
Winter Plans – retrospective review For Panel review and feedback.  
 

  

P
age 166



3 
 

SECTION 4 - Recommendations - Response from NHS Partner or NSC Executive Member 
Area for investigation/ 

Recommendations 
When were the recommendations to the NHS 

Partners or the NSC Executive agreed? 
Expect answer by (first panel 

meeting after recommendations 
were submitted) 

   
 

SECTION 5 - Progress and follow-up on implementing Panel recommendations 

Panel Recommendation Date of 
Response Actions – implementation progress 

   
 
 

P
age 167



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	5 Dental Access for Adults and Children in North Somerset
	1.	Summary of Report
	2.	Policy
	3.	Details
	Background
	Population of North Somerset
	Primary care (high street dentistry)

	Access rates to high street dentistry
	Commissioned Dental Activity
	Orthodontics
	Urgent Dental Care
	Stabilisation
	Workforce
	Improving access to primary care for people in North Somerset
	Secondary care provision
	Community Dental Service
	Dental Reform Strategy for the South-West
	Programme Commitments
	Access
	Workforce
	Oral Health Improvement


	4.	Consultation
	5.	Financial Implications
	6.	Equality Implications
	5b  Appendix 1 - ICB Dental Summary
	Slide 1: BNSSG ICB Dental Strategy Workshop Breakout Session Outputs - Overall Summary


	6 Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire Winter Plan
	1.	Summary of Report
	2.	Policy
	3.	Details
	4.	Consultation
	5.	Financial Implications
	6.	Equality Implications
	6b  Appendix - BNSSG Winter Plan presentation
	Slide 0
	Slide 1
	Slide 2: Forecasting pressures on the system: BNSSG acute hospital bed models – post-mitigation
	Slide 3: Winter planning began at the start of the year
	Slide 4: In July BNSSG self-assessed its maturity against the national 10 high impact interventions
	Slide 5: Summary of additional investment in winter schemes (1)
	Slide 6: Summary of additional investment in winter schemes (2)
	Slide 7: Summary of additional investment in winter schemes (3)
	Slide 8: Urgent & Emergency Mental Health Winter 2023/24
	Slide 9: Overseeing system performance
	Slide 10: BNSSG’s System Control Centre
	Slide 11: BNSSG Winter Vaccination Programme
	Slide 12


	7 Better Care Fund Plan 2023-25
	1.	Summary of Report
	2.	Policy
	Operational Service Development commitments
	3.	Details
	4.	Consultation
	5.	Financial Implications
	6.	Legal Powers and Implications
	7.	Climate Change and Environmental Implications
	8.	Risk Management
	9.	Equality Implications
	10.	Corporate Implications
	11.	Options Considered
	7b  BCF North Somerset Narrative - Appendix 1
	7c BCF 2023-25 Planning Template - Appendix 2
	1. Guidance
	2. Cover
	3. Summary
	4. Capacity&Demand
	5. Income
	6a. Expenditure
	6b. Expenditure guidance
	7. Metrics
	8. Planning Requirements

	7d  BCF Presentation - Appendix 3
	Slide 1: Better Care Fund Plan 2023 -25
	Slide 2: BCF Purpose
	Slide 3: BCF Context
	Slide 4: BCF - Objectives 
	Slide 5: BCF National Conditions 
	Slide 6: Finance : Better Care Fund (BCF) 2023/24
	Slide 7: Discharge Fund Breakdowns 2023/24
	Slide 8: Other discharge related spend
	Slide 9: BCF Plan : Headlines 
	Slide 10: BCF Plan 2023/25 


	8 Health Protection update
	1.	Summary of Report
	2.	Policy
	3.	Details
	4.	Consultation
	5.	Financial Implications
	6.	Legal Powers and Implications
	7.	Climate Change and Environmental Implications
	8.	Risk Management
	9.	Equality Implications
	10.	Corporate Implications
	11.	Options Considered

	9 Healthwatch Annual Report 2022-23
	1.	Summary of Report
	2.	Policy
	3.	Details
	4.	Consultation
	5.	Financial Implications
	6.	Legal Powers and Implications
	7.	Climate Change and Environmental Implications
	8.	Risk Management
	9.	Equality Implications
	10.	Corporate Implications
	11.	Options Considered
	9b  Appendix 1 Healthwatch BNSSG annual report 2022-23
	Slide 1: Together we can
	Slide 2: Contents
	Slide 3: Message from our Chair
	Slide 4: About us
	Slide 5: Year in review - Bristol
	Slide 6: Year in review – North Somerset
	Slide 7: Year in review – South Glos
	Slide 8: How we’ve made a difference this year
	Slide 9: 10 years of improving care
	Slide 10: Listening to your experiences
	Slide 11: Lessons from health visiting during COVID-19
	Slide 12: Improving maternal mental health support
	Slide 13: Commissioned work to improve planned and emergency care 
	Slide 14: Connecting older adults to online health services and guides
	Slide 15: Three ways we have made a difference for the community
	Slide 16: Hearing from all communities
	Slide 17
	Slide 18: Advice and information
	Slide 19
	Slide 20: Volunteering
	Slide 21
	Slide 22: Finance and future priorities
	Slide 23: Statutory statements
	Slide 24: The way we work
	Slide 25
	Slide 26

	9c  Appendix 2 - Healthwatch presentation
	Slide 1: HOSP meeting
	Slide 2: Annual Report 2022/23 Healthwatch North Somerset
	Slide 3
	Slide 4
	Slide 5
	Slide 6
	Slide 7


	10 Graham Road Surgery and Horizon Health Centre Care Quality Commission Inspections
	1.	Summary of Report
	2.	Policy
	3.	Details
	4.	Consultation
	5.	Financial Implications
	6.	Legal Powers and Implications
	7.	Climate Change and Environmental Implications
	8.	Risk Management
	9.	Equality Implications
	10.	Corporate Implications
	11.	Options Considered

	11 The Panel's Work Plan
	SECTION 5 - Progress and follow-up on implementing Panel recommendations


